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To our shareholders

In 2024, we reported a loss attributable to owners 
of the Company of HK$416 million, a 51% increase 
compared to last year. This increase in loss attributable 
to owners of the Company was mainly attributable to (i) 
a HK$137 million increase in impairment loss in respect 
of goodwill; (ii) a HK$12 million decrease in gain on 
disposals of residential serviced apartments under long-
term lease agreements treated as finance leases, (iii) a 
HK$49 million increase in the loss arising on change in 
fair value of investment properties, (iv) which were partly 
offset by (i) a HK$95 million decrease in allowance for 
expected credit losses (“ECL”) on loan receivables, and 
(ii) the recognition of a one-off loss of HK$23 million on 
the modification of the terms of the guaranteed secured 
notes due 2025.

We reported a segment loss (before taxation) of HK$25 
million for our sale of financial assets business in 2024, 
a 281% increase compared to last year. The increase 
in segment loss (before taxation) was mainly due to 
the recognition of the trading loss of HK$8 mill ion 
in the year ended 31 December 2024, in contrast to 
the trading gain of HK$4 million in the year ended 31 
December 2023, and a HK$6 million increase in the 
loss arising on change in fair value of financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss. As we expect the 
global macroeconomic environment to remain uncertain 
in 2025, we will cautiously monitor the equity market, 
adjust our equity securities portfolio from time to time, 
and realise our equity securities into cash as and when 
appropriate.

416 51%
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Our money lending business reported a segment loss 
(before taxation) of HK$20 mil l ion in 2024, a 84% 
improvement from HK$124 million last year. This 84% 
improvement in segment results was mainly due to 
a HK$95 mill ion decrease in allowance for ECL on 
loan receivables, which was partly offset by a HK$10 
million decrease in interest income on loans. Given the 
global macroeconomic environment is expected to be 
uncertain, we intend to maintain the size of the Group’s 
loan portfolio in 2025. Nevertheless, we will closely 
monitor the performance of the Group’s loan portfolio, 
especially in each customer’s repayment and financial 
condition, and make every effort to recover the overdue 
loan receivables.

Our sale of jewelry products business reported a 
segment profit (before taxation) of HK$1 million in 2024, 
a 67% decrease from HK$3 million last year. Due to 
the significant increase in gold price since the second 
half of 2023, the sales orders for jewelry accessories, 
which generally have a high volume with a slim profit 
margin, has dropped significantly resulting an increase 
in gross profit margin. However, the gross profit for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 was slightly deteriorated 
from the previous year due to the decrease of revenue 
from sale of jewelry products. To cope with the sluggish 
market condition and the surge in gold price, we are 
expanding our product categor ies by developing 
budgeted jewelry products to meet the shrinking budget 
of the consumer public. Starting from the fourth quarter 
of 2023, we launched our other stone-type jewelry 
products and received more substantial orders in the 
forth quarter of 2024. In addition, we will cultivate new 
markets for its jewelry products, such as Japan and 
other Southeast Asian countries, in 2025 by attending 
trade shows and organizing sales trips.

20 124
84% 84%

95
10

1 3
67%
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Our property investment business reported a segment 
loss (before taxation) of HK$278 mill ion in 2024, a 
430% increase from HK$52 mi l l ion last year.  The 
deterioration in segment results was mainly attributable 
to (i) the HK$12 million decrease in gain on disposals 
of  resident ia l  serv iced apartments result ing f rom 
a decrease in the number of  resident ia l  serv iced 
apartments delivered for vacant possession under long-
term lease agreements, (ii) the HK$137 million increase 
in impairment loss in respect of goodwill, (iii) the HK$49 
million increase in the loss arising on the change in the 
fair value of investment properties, and (iv) the absence 
of rental income of HK$23 million generated from the 
assets of the Club which were partly offset by a HK$2 
million decrease in imputed interest income on other 
receivables for leasing of residential serviced apartments 
under long-term lease agreements due to the ful l-
year effect on interest income recognition. Although 
there is a sign that the Mainland Chinese economy is 
slowing down, we will put more effort and resources 
into marketing and leasing activities to achieve a high 
occupancy rate to build up the continuous income 
stream derived from rental income of the properties 
erected on the Subject Land. In addition, we will put 
more effort and resources into completing the remaining 
four blocks of residential serviced apartments and two 
blocks of office buildings as planned.

Since October 2023, we expanded into the golf club 
operation business following the termination of the 
club lease agreement relating to the assets of our 
membership golf club and resort in Beijing, Mainland 
China, adjacent to the Subject Land (the “Club”) by 
the lessee. Our newly expanded golf club operation 
business reported a segment profit (before taxation) of 
HK$14 million whereas a segment loss (before taxation) 
of HK$7 million for the period from 5 October 2023 to 
31 December 2023. The turnaround from segment loss 
to segment profit mainly resulted from the golf course 
of the Club being closed for winter from November to 
February each year. As such, the directors considered 
that the golf club operation business could generate a 
steady revenue and segment profit to the Group. The 
directors are cautiously monitor the revenue and the 
operation cost of the Club from time to time in order to 
create a continuous income stream.

278 52
430%
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Due to the global macroeconomic environment remaining 
uncertain in 2025, we remain cautious and watchful over 
the key risks for 2025 and their impact. We commit to 
leading the Group to weather the challenges, monitor 
the business environment cautiously, and strengthen the 
Group’s business foundation by focusing on its existing 
businesses.

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to extend 
our appreciation to all fellow directors and employees 
for their invaluable efforts, dedication, and commitment 
to the Group and to thank all shareholders and business 
associates for their continuous support.

Lei Hong Wai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Results of operations

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group 
recorded a revenue of HK$223,973,000, a 14% increase 
from HK$196,694,000 for the previous year. The increase 
in revenue was mainly attributable to the increase in 
revenue from HK$29,428,000 for the previous year to 
HK$132,176,000 during the year ended 31 December 
2024 generated from the newly expanded golf club 
operation since October 2023. This increase was partly 
offset by (i) a HK$22,585,000 decrease in the rental 
income generated from the assets of the Club as the 
club lease agreement was terminated by the lessee on 5 
October 2024; (ii) a HK$14,137,000 decrease in revenue 
generated from the sale of jewelry products as a result 
of the sluggish market condition; (iii) the recognition of 
trading loss of HK$7,637,000 for the sale of financial 
assets, in contrast with a trading gain of HK$4,165,000 
for the previous year; and (iv) a HK$10,428,000 decrease 
in interest income on loans due to the non-recognition 
of interest income for loans classified under stage 3 
(credit-impaired). Of the total revenue, HK$132,176,000 
was generated from golf club operation, HK$69,284,000 
was generated from the sale of jewelry products, 
HK$21,046,000 was generated from money lending, 
HK$9,104,000 was generated from property investment, 
and the trading loss of HK$7,637,000 was generated 
from the sale of financial assets.

L o s s  f o r  t h e  y e a r  e n d e d  3 1  D e c e m b e r  2 0 2 4 
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to 
HK$415,699,000, a 51% increase from HK$275,152,000 
for the year ended 31 December 2023. This increase 
was main ly  at t r ibutable  to  ( i )  a  HK$137,250,000 
increase in impairment loss in respect of goodwill; 
( i i ) a HK$12,016,000 decrease in gain on disposals 
of residential serviced apartments under long-term 
lease agreements treated as f inance leases, ( i i i )  a 
HK$48,885,000 increase in the loss arising on change in 
fair value of investment properties, (iv) which were partly 
offset by (i) a HK$95,118,000 decrease in allowance for 
expected credit losses (“ECL”) on loan receivables, and 
(ii) the recognition of a one-off loss of HK$22,885,000 on 
the modification of the terms of the Guaranteed Secured 
Notes due 2025 (as defined below).

223,973,000
196,694,000 14%

29,428,000

132,176,000
(i)

22,585,000 (ii)

14,137,000 (iii)
7,637,000

4,165,000 (iv)
10,428,000 3

132,176,000
69,284,000

21,046,000 9,104,000
7,637,000

415,699,000

275,152,000 51%
(i) 137,250,000

(ii)
12,016,000 (iii)

48,885,000 (iv) (i)

95,118,000 (ii)

22,885,000
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Results of operations (Continued)

The gross profit of the sale of jewelry products business 
decreased by 4% from HK$13,712,000 in the year ended 
31 December 2023 to HK$13,169,000 in the year ended 
31 December 2024. In addition, the gross profit margin 
for the sale of jewelry products business increased from 
16% in the year ended 31 December 2023 to 19% in the 
year ended 31 December 2024. These slight decrease 
in gross profit and increase in the gross profit margin 
are discussed in the “Sale of jewelry products business” 
section under “Operations Review” below.

The gross profit for the property investment business 
decreased by 74% from HK$35,246,000 in the year 
ended 31 December 2023 to HK$9,104,000 in the year 
ended 31 December 2024. The gross profit margin for 
the property investment business increased from 73% 
in the year ended 31 December 2023 to 100% in the 
year ended 31 December 2024. The decrease in gross 
profit and increase in gross profit margin are discussed 
in the “Property investment business ” section under 
“Operations Review” below.

The gross profit for the golf club operation business 
increased by 471% from HK$13,306,000 in the year 
ended 31 December 2023 to HK$75,945,000 in the year 
ended 31 December 2024. The gross profit margin for 
the golf club operation business increased from 45% in 
the year ended 31 December 2023 to 57% in the year 
ended 31 December 2024. The increases in gross profit 
and gross profit margin of the golf course business are 
discussed in the “Golf club operation business” section 
under “Operations Review” below.

Significant items of other gains and losses recorded by 
the Group are as follows:

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the 
vacant possession of two residential serviced 
apartments was delivered to lessees under long-
term lease agreements. In accordance with the 
applicable accounting standards, the residential 
serviced apartments delivered under the long-term 
lease agreement were treated as disposals instead 
of recognising their rental income over the lease 
term. As a result, the Group recognised a gain 
on disposals of residential serviced apartments 
of HK$6,395,000. Please refer to the “Property 
investment business ” section under “Operations 
Review” below for accounting treatment for leasing 
of the properties erected on the Subject Land (as 
defined below) under long-term lease agreements.

13,712,000
4%

13,169,000

16%
19%

35,246,000 74%

9,104,000
73%

100%

13,306,000
471%

75,945,000

45%
57%

(a) 

6,395,000



Management Discussion and Analysis
管理層討論及分析

10 ETERNITY INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

(b) 

22,885,000

(c) 

16,904,000

(d) 
Smart Title 

Limited Smart Title 
Limited

189,029,000

(e) 

50,911,000

12,659,000

4,578,000 12%
5,132,000

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Results of operations (Continued)

(b) At the end of the reporting period, the Group 
measured the fair value of the Guaranteed Secured 
Notes due 2025 (as defined below) with reference 
to  a  va lua t ion  p repared  by  an  independent 
professional valuer and recognised the loss on 
modification of the terms of guaranteed secured 
notes of HK$22,885,000.

(c) At the end of the reporting period, the Group 
measured its Hong Kong-listed equity securities 
at fair value based on the closing prices quoted 
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
( the  “Exchange” )  and  recogn ised  a  loss  o f 
HK$16,904,000 arising on change in fair value of 
financial assets at FVTPL.

(d) At the end of the reporting period, the directors 
performed an impairment test for the goodwill 
arising from the acquisition of the entire issued 
shares in and the shareholder’s loan due by Smart 
Tit le Limited with reference to the valuations 
prepared by an independent professional valuer 
and recognised an impairment loss in respect of 
goodwill of HK$189,029,000. Please refer to the 
“Property investment business ” and “Golf club 
operation business” sections under “Operations 
Review” below for information on the recognition of 
the impairment loss in respect of goodwill.

(e) At the end of the reporting period, the Group 
measured its investment properties and property, 
p lant  and equipment  a t  fa i r  va lue based on 
t h e  v a l u a t i o n s  p r e p a r e d  b y  i n d e p e n d e n t 
professional valuers and recognized a loss of 
HK$50,911,000 arising on change in fair value of 
investment properties and an impairment loss of 
HK$12,659,000 on property, plant and equipment.

Selling and distribution expenses mainly represent staff 
costs and commission of the sales team, overseas 
travelling expenses, freight charges, and exhibition 
expenses incurred by the Group’s sale of jewelry 
products business. Selling and distribution expenses 
increased by 12% from HK$4,578,000 in the year 
ended 31 December 2023 to HK$5,132,000 in the year 
ended 31 December 2024. This increase was mainly 
att r ibutable to increased overseas t ravel l ing and 
exhibition expenses for business development.
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132,729,000

39,756,000

37,854,000

1,902,000

129,153,000 3%
132,839,000

869,000 (i)
Elite Prosperous Investment Limited Elite 
Prosperous 49%

96,000 (ii)

21.94%
965,000

66,603,000 8%
71,863,000

7,662,000
(i)

8,283,000 (ii)
4,481,000 (i)

Smart Title Limited

4,002,000 (ii)
1,100,000

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Results of operations (Continued)

Allowance for ECL on financial assets decreased from 
HK$132,729,000 in the year ended 31 December 2023 
to HK$39,756,000 in the year ended 31 December 2024. 
Of the total allowance for ECL on financial assets for 
the year ended 31 December 2024, HK$37,854,000 was 
recognised for loan receivables, which is discussed in 
the “Money lending business” section under “Operations 
Review” below, and HK$1,902,000 was recognised for 
trade receivables.

Admin is t ra t i ve  expenses  inc reased by  3% f rom 
HK$129,153,000 in the year ended 31 December 2023 
to HK$132,839,000 in the year 31 December 2024. 
This increase was mainly attributable to an increase 
in general administration expenses resulting from the 
commencement of the golf club operation business in 
the fourth quarter of 2023, which were partly offset by 
a decrease in salaries and allowances mainly resulting 
from two executive directors waived their emoluments.

Share of losses of associates amounted to HK$869,000 
for the year ended 31 December 2024, representing (i) 
the share of gain of HK$96,000 from Elite Prosperous 
Investment Limited (“Elite Prosperous”), a 49% owned 
associate of the Company, and (ii) the share of loss of 
HK$965,000 from China Healthwise Holdings Limited 
(“China Healthwise”), a 21.94% owned associate of the 
Company.

Finance costs increased by 8% from HK$66,603,000 in 
the year ended 31 December 2023 to HK$71,863,000 in 
the year ended 31 December 2024. This increase was 
mainly due to the delay in settlement of partial redeem 
principal and semi-annual interest for the guaranteed 
secured notes due 2025 and the increase in the amounts 
due to directors and related party in 2024.

The  Group  recorded  an  income tax  expense  o f 
HK$7,662,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024. 
The income tax expense mainly derived from (i) the 
recognition of a reversal of the deferred tax credit 
of HK$8,283,000 relating to the allowance for ECL 
previously made on the Group’s loan receivables, and (ii) 
the current year’s tax expense of HK$4,481,000, which 
were partly offset by the recognition of (i) deferred tax 
credit of HK$4,002,000 resulting from the movements 
in the deferred tax liabilities recognised for the fair 
value adjustments on the acquisition of Smart Title 
Limited in October 2015 and (ii) deferred tax credit of 
HK$1,100,000 resulting from the movements in deferred 
tax assets related to lease contracts.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and financial resources

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group 
funded its operations through a combination of cash 
generated from operat ions, equity attr ibutable to 
owners of  the Company,  and borrowings.  Equi ty 
attr ibutable to owners of the Company decreased 
f rom HK$1,507,246,000 at  31 December 2023 to 
HK$1,058,200,000 at 31 December 2024. This decrease 
was due to the loss incurred by the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2024.

At 31 December 2024, the cash and cash equivalents 
of  the Group amounted to HK$30,322,000 (2023: 
HK$18,359,000).

At 31 December 2024, the Group had outstanding 
borrowings of HK$638,124,000 (2023: HK$653,904,000) 
representing:

(a) the carrying principal amount of the guaranteed 
secured notes due 2025 issued by the Company 
on 29 December 2022 (the “Guaranteed Secured 
Notes due 2025”) of HK$174,267,000, which is 
interest-bearing at 17% per annum for the period 
from 24 September 2022 to 22 January 2024 and 
10% per annum from 23 January 2024, secured 
by (i) a share charge over 100% issued shares 
in Eternity Investment (China) Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and the principal 
assets of which are (1) the rights to construct and 
operate the club facilities of a membership golf 
club and resort (the “Club”) in Beijing, Mainland 
China and (2) the rights to develop and operate a 
piece of 580 Chinese acre land adjacent to the Club 
(the “Subject Land”) and the rights to manage the 
properties erected on the Subject Land, and (ii) the 
personal guarantees given by Mr. Lei Hong Wai, the 
Chairman of the Board and an executive director, 
and Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton, an executive 
director, and maturing on 23 September 2025;

1,507,246,000
1,058,200,000

30,322,000
18,359,000

638,124,000
653,904,000

(a) 
174,267,000

17%
10%

(i)

1

2
580

100%
(ii)
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(b) 137,825,000
(i)

91,971,000
2%

(1) 168-
200 12 1201 1202
1203 1209 1210 1211 1212

2

159
(ii) 36,361,000

2% (1)
(2)

207 (iii)
1,219,000 9,493,000

2%
(1) (2)

212

(c) 200,000,000

8%

10% (i)

(ii)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and financial resources (Continued)

(b) the banking facilities granted by a bank in the 
aggregate principal amount of HK$137,825,000, 
c o m p r i s i n g  ( i )  a n  i n s t a l l m e n t  l o a n  o f 
HK$91,971,000, which is interest-bearing at 2% per 
annum over one-month HIBOR quoted by the bank 
from time to time, secured by (1) a first legal charge 
over the Group’s properties located at Unit Nos. 
1201, 1202, 1203, 1209, 1210, 1211 & 1212 and 
the corridor on the 12th Floor, Shun Tak Centre, 
West Tower, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, 
Hong Kong (the “Shun Tak Property”) and (2) a 
charge/mortgage over the cash deposit, structured 
investment products, stocks, the key management 
personnel life insurance policy, and other securities 
held by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
guaranteed by the Company and two wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of the Company, and repayable by 159 
equal monthly installments ending on 18 March 
2038, (ii) a term loan in the principal amount of 
HK$36,361,000, which is interest-bearing at 2% 
per annum over one-month HIBOR, secured by (1) 
the first legal charge over the Shun Tak Property 
and (2) a charge/mortgage over the cash deposit, 
structured investment products, stocks, the key 
management personnel life insurance, and other 
securities held by the wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Company, guaranteed by the Company and 
two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, 
and repayable by 207 equal monthly installments 
ending on 10 March 2042, and (iii) a term loan in 
the principal amount of US$1,219,000 (equivalent 
to HK$9,493,000), which is interest-bearing at 2% 
per annum over one month bank’s cost of funds 
on the outstanding amount, secured by (1) the first 
legal charge over Shun Tak Property and (2) the 
charge/mortgage over the cash deposit, structured 
investment products, stocks, the key management 
personnel life insurance policy, and other securities 
held by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
guaranteed by the Company, and two wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company, and repayable 
by 212 equal monthly installments ending on 25 
August 2042;

(c) a loan of HK$200,000,000 granted by a finance 
company, which is interest-bearing at 8% per 
annum for the period from the date of the first 
drawdown to 31 March 2024 and 10% per annum 
from 1 April 2024, secured by (i) the post-dated 
cheques drawn in favour of the finance company 
for payment of the principal and the interests 
stipulated under the loan agreement, and (ii) a 
personal guarantee given by Mr. Lei Hong Wai, and 
maturing on 1 April 2025;
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(d) 84,000

3%

(e) 
33,386,000

3%

(f) 
16,002,000

6%

(g) 
12,945,000

21.60%

(h) 
600,000

(i) 
7,481,000

1.3%
2.25%

(j) 
52,470,000

1.3%
2.50%

(k) 
3,064,000 4%

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and financial resources (Continued)

(d) an unguaranteed loan of HK$84,000, granted by 
a finance company, which is unsecured, interest-
bearing at the prime rate plus 3% per annum, and 
maturing on 21 March 2025;

(e) t h e  s e c u r i t i e s  m a rg i n  f i n a n c i n g  f a c i l i t y  o f 
HK$33,386,000 granted by a securities brokerage 
firm, which is interest-bearing at prime rate plus 3% 
per annum and secured by the Group’s Hong Kong-
listed equity securities held in the margin securities 
trading account and a personal guarantee given by 
Mr. Lei Hong Wai;

(f) t h e  s e c u r i t i e s  m a rg i n  f i n a n c i n g  f a c i l i t y  o f 
HK$16,002,000 granted by a securities brokerage 
firm, which is interest-bearing at a fixed rate of 6% 
per annum and secured by the Group’s Hong Kong-
listed equity securities held in the margin securities 
trading account and a personal guarantee given by 
Mr. Lei Hong Wai;

(g) the unguaranteed cash advance of HK$12,945,000 
made by Mr.  Lei  Hong Wai,  which is interest 
bearing at 21.60% per annum quoted by a finance 
company, unsecured, and repayable on demand;

(h) the unguaranteed cash advance of HK$600,000 
made by Mr. Cheung Kwok Fan, an executive 
director, which is non-interest bearing, unsecured, 
and repayable on demand;

(i) the unguaranteed cash advance of HK$7,481,000 
made by Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton, which is 
interest-bearing at the one-month HIBOR quoted 
by Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited plus 1.3% 
per annum or 2.25% per annum below the prime 
rate for Hong Kong dollars quoted by Bank of 
China (Hong Kong) Limited, whichever is lower, 
unsecured, and repayable on demand;

(j) the unguaranteed cash advance of HK$52,470,000 
made by Ms. Chan Mei Sau Teresina, the spouse 
of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton, which is interest-
bearing at the one-month HIBOR quoted by Bank 
of East Asia Limited plus 1.3% per annum or 
2.50% per annum below the prime rate for Hong 
Kong dollars quoted by Bank of East Asia Limited, 
whichever is lower, unsecured, and repayable on 
demand; and

(k) the unguaranteed cash advance of HK$3,064,000 
made by an Independent Third Party which is 
unsecured, interest-bearing at 4% per annum and 
maturing in October 2025.
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60% 43%

563,632,000
305,985,000 0.45

0.66

(a) 261,100,000
328,455,000

145,100,000
164,755,000

116,000,000
163,700,000

(b) 100%

1,106,014,000
1,335,463,000

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Gearing ratio

At 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio calculated as a 
percentage of total borrowings over equity attributable 
to owners of the Company was 60% (2023: 43%).

Net current liabilities and current ratio

At  31  December  2024 ,  the  Group ’s  ne t  cu r ren t 
liabilities and current ratio were HK$563,632,000 (2023: 
HK$305,985,000) and 0.45 (2023: 0.66), respectively.

Capital structure

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no 
change in the Company’s capital structure.

Material acquisitions of subsidiaries, associates, and 
joint ventures

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group 
did not have any material acquisitions of subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures.

Material disposals of subsidiaries, associates, and 
joint ventures

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group 
did not have any material disposals of subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures.

Pledge of assets

At 31 December 2024, the following Group’s assets were 
pledged:

(a) the Shun Tak Property with a carrying amount of 
HK$261,100,000 (2023: HK$328,455,000), of which 
HK$145,100,000 (2023: HK$164,755,000) was 
classified under “property, plant and equipment” 
and HK$116,000,000 (2023: HK$163,700,000) 
was classif ied under “investment properties”, 
for securing the banking facilities granted to the 
Group;

(b) the 100% issued shares in Eternity Investment 
(China) Limited with the unaudited combined 
n e t  a s s e t s  o f  H K $ 1 , 1 0 6 , 0 1 4 , 0 0 0  ( 2 0 2 3 : 
HK$1,335,463,000) after adjusting for purchase 
pr ice a l locat ion for  secur ing the Guaranteed 
Secured Notes due 2025;
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(c) 
89,641,000

104,012,000 64,323,000
97,315,000

25,318,000
6,697,000

(d) 23,000 23,000

(e) 10,135,000 9,846,000 

227,207,000
255,967,000

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Pledge of assets (Continued)

(c) the Group’s Hong Kong-listed equity securities 
w i t h  a  f a i r  va l ue  o f  HK$89 ,641 ,000  ( 2023 : 
HK$104 ,012 ,000 ) ,  o f  wh ich  HK$64 ,323 ,000 
(2023: HK$97,315,000) was related to the Group’s 
f inancial assets at FVTPL and HK$25,318,000 
(2023: HK$6,697,000) was related to a part of 
the Group’s listed investment in an associate, for 
securing the margin financing facilities and banking 
facilities granted to the Group;

(d) the bank deposits of HK$23,000 (2023: HK$23,000) 
for securing the banking facilities granted to the 
Group; and

(e) the key management personnel life insurance of 
HK$10,135,000 (2023: HK$9,846,000) to secure the 
banking facilities granted to the Group.

Material commitments

A t  3 1  D e c e m b e r  2 0 2 4 ,  t h e  G ro u p  h a d  a  t o t a l 
commitment of HK$227,207,000 (2023: HK$255,967,000) 
relating to the development costs for the Subject Land, 
which were contracted but not provided for.

Exchange risk and hedging

The majority of the Group’s transactions, assets, and 
liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and 
Renminbi. The Group is exposed to exchange risk 
with respect mainly to Renminbi, which may affect its 
performance. The directors closely monitor statements 
of f inancial  posit ion and cash f low exchange r isk 
exposures and, where considered appropriate, use 
f inancia l  instruments,  such as forward exchange 
contracts, foreign currency options, and forward rate 
agreements, to hedge this exchange risk. During the 
year ended 31 December 2024, no financial instruments 
for hedging purposes were used by the Group.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Contingent liabilities

(a) On 6 May 2021, a Beijing law firm as plaintiff filed 
a civil claim to the People’s Court in Chaoyang 
Distr ict,  Bei j ing, Mainland China against four 
defendants, one of the four defendants is 

 (Bei j ing Bayhood No. 9 
Business Hotel Company Limited, “Bayhood No. 9 
Co.”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
for  an unsett led legal  fee of  RMB31,000,000 
(equivalent to HK$33,477,000) (excluding overdue 
interest) regarding an engagement of such law firm 
by the four defendants to resolve a civil dispute 
brought against them by an independent third party 
in relation to a property transaction in 2010. Details 
of the civil claim were disclosed in the Company’s 
announcement dated 6 August 2021.

The Group’s Mainland Chinese legal adviser has 
advised that the possibility of Bayhood No. 9 Co. 
being required to pay the unsettled legal fee is 
remote. Accordingly, no provision for liability has 
been made with respect to the civil claim.

(b) On 13 January 2023, certain bank accounts of 
Bayhood No. 9 Co. were frozen by a civil ruling (the 
“Civil Ruling”) ( ) dated 13 January 2023 
issued by  (Haidian District 
People’s Court of Beijing Municipality) (the “Court”) 
against Bayhood No. 9 Co. in relation to an alleged 
unsettled liability before the acquisition of the entire 
issued share capital of Smart Title Limited on 6 
October 2015 (the “Acquisition”), the principal and 
the interest of which amounted to approximately 
RMB44,000,000 (equivalent to HK$47,516,000) as 
at 1 January 2023 (the “Alleged Liability”).

Based on the findings, the directors noted that 
the Civil Ruling is related to a civil filing (the “Civil 
Filing”) filed by a plaintiff (the “Plaintiff”) to the 
Court on 9 January 2023. Pursuant to the Civil 
Filing, Bayhood No. 9 Co., together with the other 
three defendants to the Civil Filing, were alleged 
that (i) they had entered into an agreement in 2019 
(the “Settlement Agreement”) with the Plaintiff in 
relation to the settlement of the property pre-sale 
agreements (the “Pre-Acquisition Agreements”) 
which had been entered into before the Acquisition 
and (ii) they had not repaid the Alleged Liability in 
relation to the Settlement Agreement.

(a) 

31,000,000 33,477,000

(b) 

Smart Title Limited

44,000,000 47,516,000

(i)

(ii)
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(b) 

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Contingent liabilities (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

None of the directors and the directors of Bayhood 
No. 9 Co. has any knowledge or was aware of 
any information in relation to the Pre-Acquisition 
Agreements  and  the  Se t t l ement  Agreement 
before the Civil Fi l ing came to their attention, 
nor had they authorised the entering into of the 
Settlement Agreement. There has been no relevant 
information regarding Pre-Acquisition Agreements 
and the Settlement Agreement shown in the books 
and records of Bayhood No. 9 Co. s ince the 
consolidation of its accounts into that of the Group 
upon completion of the Acquisition. In view of the 
above matters, on 4 February 2023, the Company 
r e p o r t e d  t o   ( C h a o y a n g 
Branch Bureau of Beijing Municipal Public Security 
Bureau) regarding the forgery of the relevant 
documents and the company seal of Bayhood No. 
9 Co..

On 28 March 2023, one of the defendants (the 
“Respons ib le  Defendant” )  en te red  in to  an 
undertaking agreement with the other defendants, 
including Bayhood No. 9 Co., pursuant to which the 
Responsible Defendant has agreed to undertake 
the repayment obl igat ion to the Plaint i ff  and 
indemnify the other defendants in full in the event 
that they incur losses due to the claim.

On 24 April 2024, the Plaintiff, Bayhood No. 9 Co., 
together with the other three defendants to the Civil 
Ruling reached an agreement during the mediation 
process (the “Mediation”) led by the Court to 
resolve the relevant l it igation. Pursuant to the 
Mediation, one of the other three defendants has 
agreed to settle the litigation at an agreed amount. 
Bayhood No. 9 Co. shall bear no responsibility 
in the case and has not suffered any damage or 
loss as a result of the Mediation. Moreover, the 
certain bank accounts have been unfrozen on 13 
May 2024. In general, as a result of the Mediation, 
the litigation has come to an end and the settled 
litigation did not have any impact on the financial 
position and business performance of the Group. 
The detai ls were disclosed in the Company’s 
announcement dated 13 May 2024.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Employees and remuneration policy

At 31 December 2024, the headcount of the Group 
was 371 (2023: 303). Staff costs (including directors’ 
emoluments) amounted to HK$80,666,000 in the year 
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$73,458,000). The 
increase in staff costs was mainly attributable to the 
payment of bonuses to the Group’s marketing team for 
leasing activities and two directors of a subsidiary and 
the commencement of the Group’s golf club operation 
business in the fourth quarter of 2023. In addition to 
basic salaries, contributions to the retirement benefits 
scheme, and discretionary bonuses, staff benefits 
include a medical scheme, share options, and share 
awards.

OPERATIONS REVIEW

Sale of financial assets business

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s 
sale of financial assets business reported a segment 
loss (before taxat ion)  of  HK$24,818,000, a 281% 
increase as compared to HK$6,508,000 for the previous 
year. The increase in segment loss (before taxation) 
was mainly due to the recognition of the trading loss of 
HK$7,637,000 in the year ended 31 December 2024, in 
contrast to the trading gain of HK$4,165,000 in the year 
ended 31 December 2023, and a HK$5,868,000 increase 
in the loss arising on change in fair value of financial 
assets at FVTPL.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group 
acquired one Hong Kong-listed equity security at the 
aggregate acquisit ion costs of HK$2,790,000 and 
made a trading loss of HK$7,637,000 from selling four 
Hong Kong-listed equity securities with the aggregate 
carrying amounts of HK$18,879,000 at the aggregate 
net sale proceeds of HK$11,242,000. At the end of the 
reporting period, the Group measured its Hong Kong-
listed equity securities at fair value based on the closing 
prices quoted on the Exchange and recognised the loss 
of HK$16,904,000 arising on change in fair value of 
financial assets at FVTPL.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Continued)

Sale of financial assets business (Continued)

Movements in the carrying amount of the Hong Kong-
listed equity securities held by the Group recorded as 
“financial assets at FVTPL” during the years ended 31 
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Carrying amount at 1 January 97,316 125,910
Add:  acquisitions 2,790 7,957
Less:  disposals (18,879) (25,515)

loss arising on change in  
fair value recognised

 
(16,904) (11,036)

    

Carrying amount at 31 December 64,323 97,316
    

Details of certain significant Hong Kong-listed equity 
securities held by the Group recorded as “financial 
assets at FVTPL” at 31 December 2024 are as follows:

Number 
of shares 

held at 
31 December 

2024

Fair 
value at 

31 December 
2024

Fair value 
as compared 

to the 
consolidated 

total assets 
of the 

Group at 
31 December 

2024

Dividend 
received/ 

receivable 
in the 

year ended 
31 December 

2024

Loss
arising on 
change in 
fair value 

recognised 
in the 

year ended 
31 December 

2024

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Name of Hong Kong-listed  
equity securities

Huanxi Media Group Ltd. 
(stock code: 1003)

 
1003 27,100,000 12,602 0.48% – (5,556)

Nimble Holdings Company Ltd. 
(stock code: 186)

 
186 83,673,268 19,412 0.75% – (4,853)

       

32,014 – (10,409)
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Continued)

Sale of financial assets business (Continued)

The directors believe that the future performance of the 
Hong Kong-listed equity securities held by the Group 
is primarily affected by economic factors, investor 
sentiment, demand and supply balance of an investee 
company’s shares, and fundamentals of an investee 
company, such as the investee company’s news, 
business fundamentals and development, f inancial 
performance, and prospects. Accordingly, the directors 
closely monitor the above factors, particularly the 
fundamentals of each investee company in the Group’s 
equity securities portfolio, proactively adjust the Group’s 
equity securities portfolio mix from time to time, and 
realise the Hong Kong-listed equity securities into cash 
as and when appropriate.

Money lending business

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s 
money lending business generated interest income on 
loans amounting to HK$21,046,000, a 33% decrease 
from HK$31,474,000 for the previous year. The segment 
loss (before taxation) was HK$20,162,000, an 84% 
decrease from HK$124,120,000 for the previous year.

The  33% decrease  in  i n te res t  i ncome on  loans 
was mainly due to no further interest income being 
recognised for loan receivables that were classified 
under stage 3 (credit-impaired) and fully impaired.

The 84% decrease in segment loss (before taxation) 
was mainly attributable to a HK$95,118,000 decrease 
in allowance for ECL recognised on loan receivables, 
which was partly offset by a HK$10,428,000 decrease in 
interest income on loans.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no new 
loan was granted, and the final repayment dates of 
existing loans with an aggregate principal amount of 
HK$210,101,000 were yet to be extended upon the 
fulfilment of certain conditions precedent to the relevant 
agreement. In addition, no customers made drawings 
from the existing loans, and three customers repaid the 
principal with an aggregate amount of HK$18,324,000 to 
the Group.

21,046,000 31,474,000
33% 20,162,000

124,120,000 84%

33%
3

84%

95,118,000
10,428,000

210,101,000

18,324,000
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Continued)

Money lending business (Continued)

At 31 December 2024, 12 loans granted by the Group’s 
money lending business remained outstanding. 12 
loan receivables with an aggregate gross balance of 
HK$985,520,000 were classified under stage 3 (credit-
impaired). During the year ended 31 December 2024, 
four loan receivables with an aggregate gross balance 
of HK$241,693,000 were reclassified from stage 1 (initial 
recognition) to stage 3 (credit-impaired) due to the two 
customers’ failure to repay the outstanding principal 
amount of the loans and the accrued and unpaid interest 
thereon on the final repayment dates. The Group has 
conditionally extended the final repayment date of three 
loan receivables with a customer by obtaining additional 
collateral, and is currently negotiating with the other 
customer with a view to entering into binding settlement 
agreement. As at the date of this annual report, the 
negotiations were still ongoing.

At  the end of  the report ing per iod,  the di rectors 
performed an impairment assessment on the Group’s 
l oan  rece i vab l es  w i t h  re f e rence  t o  a  va l ua t i on 
prepared by an independent professional valuer. The 
valuation measured impairment on loan receivables 
using the general approach, which is often referred 
to as the “ three-stage model”  under  Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standard 9 Financial Instruments . 
Based on the valuat ion, an al lowance for ECL on 
loan receivables of  HK$37,854,000 was made,  a 
HK$95,118 ,000  decrease  compared  to  the  year 
ended 31 December 2023. Of the total allowance for 
ECL, (i) HK$38,184,000 was recognised for the loan 
receivables classified under stage 3 (credit-impaired), 
( i i )  HK$330,000 was reversal of al lowance for ECL 
for  the loan receivables c lassi f ied under stage 1  
(initial recognition), and (iii) HK$20,944,000 being the 
unwinding of discount on loan receivables classified 
under stage 3 (credit-impaired).

The allowance for ECL of HK$38,184,000 recognised 
for the loan receivables under stage 3 (credit-impaired) 
comprised HK$64,555,000 recognised for the four 
loan receivables with an aggregate gross balance 
of HK$241,693,000 reclassified from stage 1 (initial 
recognition) to stage 3 (credit-impaired), which were 
partly offset by a reversal of allowance for ECL of 
HK$26,371,000 resulting from the recovering of unpaid 
interest on loan receivables classified under stage 3 
(credit-impaired).

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s loan and interest 
receivables (after accumulated allowance for ECL) 
amounted to HK$171,816,000 (2023: HK$248,614,000).

12
985,520,000 12
3

241,693,000
1 3

9

37,854,000

95,118,000
(i) 3

38,184,000 (ii)
1

330,000 (iii)
3

20,944,000

3
38,184,000 1

3
241,693,000
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3
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Management Discussion and Analysis
管理層討論及分析

23

OPERATIONS REVIEW (Continued)

Money lending business (Continued)

Information on the Group’s money lending business, 
including (i) business model, (ii) internal control system, 
(iii) basis of determining the allowance for ECL on loan 
receivables, (iv) major terms of each outstanding loan 
receivables, and (v) actions being taken for recovering 
the loan receivables classified under stage 3 (credit-
impaired) are disclosed in the Company’s annual report 
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Sale of jewelry products business

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s 
sale of jewelry products business generated revenue of 
HK$69,284,000, a 16% decrease from HK$82,421,000 
for the previous year, and reported a segment profit 
(before taxation) of HK$432,000, a 84% decrease from 
HK$2,730,000 in the previous year.

Due to the signif icant increase in gold price since 
the second half of 2023, the sales orders for jewelry 
accessories, which generally have a high volume with 
a slim profit margin, has dropped significantly resulting 
an increase in gross profit margin. However, the gross 
profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 was slightly 
deteriorated from the previous year due to the decrease 
of revenue from sale of jewelry products.

To cope with the sluggish market condition and the 
surge in gold price, the Group is expanding its product 
categories by developing budgeted jewelry products 
to meet the shrinking budget of the consumer public. 
Starting from the fourth quarter of 2023, the Group 
launched its other stone-type jewelry products and 
started to receive more substantial orders in the fourth 
quarter of 2024. In addition, the Group would cultivate 
new markets for its jewelry products, such as Japan and 
other Southeast Asian countries, in 2025 by attending 
trade shows and organizing sales trips.

At  the end of  the report ing per iod,  the di rectors 
performed an impairment assessment on the Group’s 
trade receivables based on a valuation prepared by 
the independent professional valuer. Based on the 
valuation, an allowance for ECL on trade receivables 
of HK$1,902,000 was made, a HK$1,782,000 increase 
compared to the previous year.

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s inventories of jewelry 
products, including raw materials, work-in-progress, 
and finished goods, amounted to HK$27,400,000 (2023: 
HK$31,235,000). The Group’s sale of jewelry products 
business had undelivered sales orders amounting to 
HK$546,000 (2023: HK$1,200,000).

(i)
(ii) (iii)

(iv)
(v) 3

69,284,000 82,421,000
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432,000 2,730,000
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Continued)

Property investment business

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s 
property investment business generated a turnover of 
HK$9,104,000, a 81% decrease from HK$48,206,000 for 
the previous year, and recorded a segment loss (before 
taxation) of HK$278,118,000, a 430% increase from 
HK$52,446,000 in the previous year.

Of the total turnover, HK$4,060,000 was rental income 
generated from the investment property portion of the 
Shun Tak Property, HK$3,322,000 was rental income 
generated from the residential serviced apartments 
under short-term lease agreements, and HK$1,722,000 
was derived from property and car parks management 
fees. Following the delivery of the vacant possession 
of the residential serviced apartments to lessees upon 
completion of three blocks of residential serviced 
apartments erected on the Subject Land in the third 
quarter of 2022, rental income is generated from the 
residential serviced apartments under short-term lease 
agreements, and property management fees are charged 
to the delivered residential serviced apartments. The 
decrease in turnover mainly resulted from the absence of 
the rental income generated form the assets of the Club 
(for the year ended 31 December 2023: HK$22,585,000) 
as the club lease agreement relating to the assets of the 
Club was terminated by the lessee on 5 October 2023.

The deter iorat ion in  segment  resul ts  was main ly 
attributable to (i) the HK$12,016,000 decrease in gain 
on disposals of residential serviced apartments resulting 
from a decrease in the number of residential serviced 
apartments delivered for vacant possession under 
long-term lease agreements, (ii) the HK$137,250,000 
increase in impairment loss in respect of goodwill, (iii) 
the HK$48,885,000 increase in the loss arising on the 
change in the fair value of investment properties, and 
(iv) the absence of rental income of HK$22,585,000 
generated from the assets of the Club as mentioned 
above which were partly offset by a HK$2,376,000 
d e c re a s e  i n  i m p u t e d  i n t e re s t  i n c o m e  o n  o t h e r 
receivables for leasing of residential serviced apartments 
under long-term lease agreements due to the full-year 
effect on interest income recognition.

The Company’s indirect whol ly-owned subsidiary, 
Bayhood No. 9 Co., owns (i) the rights to construct and 
operate the club facilities of the Club and (ii) the rights 
to develop and operate the Subject Land and the rights 
to construct and manage properties (each a “Property” 
and col lectively, the “Properties”) erected on the 
Subject Land (the “Management Rights”) for around 38 
years until 30 January 2062.

9,104,000 48,206,000
81%

278,118,000 52,446,000
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4,060,000
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Continued)

Property investment business (Continued)

The second and third phases of the Subject Land 
have been developed into seven blocks of three-
storey residential serviced apartments comprising 279 
residential serviced apartments with an aggregate gross 
floor area of 45,165 square meters (with individual 
apartments of sizes ranging from approximately 88 
to 459 square meters), together with two blocks of 
three-storey office buildings each having a gross floor 
area of approximately 6,300 square meters with total 
construction costs of RMB727,000,000 (equivalent to 
HK$785,065,000). The residential serviced apartments 
and the office buildings are offered for lease by Bayhood 
No. 9 Co..

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no new 
long-term lease agreement for a residential serviced 
apartment was signed, no lease agreement for office 
premises was signed, and the vacant possession of two 
residential serviced apartments was delivered under 
long-term lease agreements. As a result, the Group 
recognised the gain on disposals of residential serviced 
apartments of HK$6,395,000 for  the year ended 31 
December 2024.

At 31 December 2024, there was one signed long-term 
lease agreement for residential serviced apartments 
remaining undelivered.

The applicable ratios calculated in respect of each of 
the lease agreements entered into by Bayhood No. 9 
Co. were under 5%, and none of them constituted a 
notifiable transaction to the Company under Chapter 
14 of the Listing Rules. To the best of the directors’ 
knowledge, information, and belief, having made all 
reasonable enquiries, all the lessees (and the ultimate 
beneficial owners of the corporate lessees) are third 
parties independent of the Company and its connected 
persons (as defined in the Listing Rules).

279
45,165 88

459
6,300

727,000,000
785,065,000

6,395,000

5% 14



Management Discussion and Analysis
管理層討論及分析

26 ETERNITY INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

Smart Title Limited
(i)

(ii)

189,029,000
(i)

(ii)

50,911,000

163,700,000

116,000,000
47,700,000

OPERATIONS REVIEW (Continued)

Property investment business (Continued)

At  the end of  the report ing per iod,  the di rectors 
performed an impairment test for the goodwill arising 
from the acquisition of Smart Title Limited, the intangible 
assets, and the right-of-use assets relating to (i) the 
rights to construct and operate the club facilities of 
the Club and (ii) the rights to develop and operate the 
Subject Land and the rights to manage the properties 
erected on the Subject Land with reference to the 
discounted cash flow projections to assess the value 
in use of the property investment business and the golf 
club operation business in Beijing, Mainland China. As 
the carrying amount of the cash-generating units of the 
Group’s property investment business and golf club 
operation business exceeded their recoverable amounts, 
an impairment loss of HK$189,029,000 in respect of 
the goodwill was recognised for the year ended 31 
December 2024. The impairment loss arose from (i) the 
removal of two residential serviced apartments delivered 
under long-term lease agreements (being treated as 
disposals for accounting purposes) from the discounted 
cash f low pro ject ion of  the  proper ty  investment 
business, with the correspondence gain on disposals 
being recognised in the “Other gains and losses” line 
item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, and (ii) the change in 
key assumption and input for longer delivery dates of 
residential serviced apartments and office premises used 
in the discounted cash flow projection of the property 
investment business to reflect the prevailing market 
conditions and the management’s latest estimation.

At  the end of  the report ing per iod,  the di rectors 
measured the investment properties of the residential 
serviced apartments under short-term lease agreements. 
Based on a valuation prepared by an independent 
qual i f ied va luer,  the Group recognised a loss of 
HK$50,911,000 ar is ing on change in fair  value of 
investment properties.

At  the end of  the report ing per iod,  the di rectors 
measured the investment property portion of the Shun 
Tak Property at fair value. Based on a property valuation 
prepared by the independent qualified valuer, the fair 
value of the investment property portion of the Shun 
Tak Property decreased from HK$163,700,000 at 31 
December 2023 to HK$116,000,000 at 31 December 
2024. Accordingly, the Group recognised a loss of 
HK$47,700,000 ar is ing on change in fair  value of 
investment properties.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Continued)

Golf club operation business

On 3 Apr i l  2023,  the Group received an advance 
notice from the lessee of the assets of the Club for the 
termination of the club lease agreement by 5 October 
2023. Upon such termination by 5 October 2023, the 
Group expanded into the golf club operation business 
by operating and managing the Club on its own.

With a proximity location, the Club is only about a 
10-minute drive from the Beijing Capital International 
Airport and a 25-minute drive from the urban center of 
Beijing. The Club is one of Beijing’s largest high-end 
leisure complexes operating under membership plans 
for corporations and individuals. With an area of 1,150 
Chinese acres, the Club was designed jointly by several 
world-renowned design firms with a comprehensive 
range of facilities, including an 18-hole golf course, a 
golf academy, restaurants, lakeside VIP private rooms, 
conference facilities, and a retail shop. The Group’s 
golf club operation business mainly derives income 
from membership, golf club operation, and food and 
beverage operation.

Given that the Subject Land is located next to the 
Club, the directors consider that the operation and 
management of the Club by the Group itself will provide 
great flexibility to the Group in formulating marketing 
plans for leasing the residential serviced apartments 
erected on the Subject Land, such as allowing admission 
by lessees to use the facilities of the Club.

Dur ing  the  yea r  ended  31  December  2024 ,  the 
Group’s newly expanded golf club operation business 
generated a turnover of HK$132,176,000 (period from 
5 October 2023 to 31 December 2023: HK$29,428,000) 
and recorded a segment profit (before taxation) of 
HK$14,048,000 (period from 5 October 2023 to 31 
December 2023: segment loss (before taxation) of 
HK$7,235,000). The turnaround from segment loss to 
segment profit mainly resulted from the golf course 
of the Club being closed for winter from November to 
February each year. As such, the directors considered 
that the golf club operation business could generate a 
steady revenue and segment profit to the Group. The 
directors are cautiously monitor the revenue and the 
operation cost of the Club from time to time in order to 
create a continuous income stream.

10 25

1,150
18

132,176,000

29,428,000
14,048,000

7,235,000
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Continued)

Investments in associates

Elite Prosperous is an investment holding company 
whose principal asset is 47,643 ordinary shares in an 
unlisted investment holding company, representing 
2.65% of the entire issued share capital of the unlisted 
investment holding company. The principal subsidiaries 
of the unlisted investment holding company are engaged 
in (i) agency payment services, (ii) currency exchange 
services, and (iii) provision of online, mobile, and cross-
border payment services. At the end of the reporting 
period, Elite Prosperous measured its investment in 
the unlisted investment holding company at fair value. 
Based on a valuation prepared by an independent 
professional valuer, the fair value of the investment 
increased from HK$5,535,000 at 31 December 2023 to 
HK$5,731,000 at 31 December 2024. Accordingly, Elite 
Prosperous recognised a gain of HK$196,000 arising 
on change in fair value of its investment in the unlisted 
investment holding company. During the year ended 
31 December 2024, Elite Prosperous reported a gain of 
HK$196,000, and accordingly, the Group shared a gain 
of HK$96,000 from Elite Prosperous.

China Healthwise is an investment holding company, 
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in sales 
of Chinese health products, money lending business, 
and investment in financial instruments. During the 
year ended 31 December 2024, China Healthwise 
reported a loss of HK$40,281,000, a HK$94,277,000 
decrease from HK$134,558,000 as compared to last 
year, and the Group should entitle to share a loss of 
HK$20,684,000 from China Healthwise. At 31 December 
2024, the carrying amount of interests in associates 
from China Healthwise before sharing a loss from China 
Healthwise during the year ended 31 December 2024 
was HK$965,000. According to HKAS 28 Investment 
In Associates and Joint Ventures , the entity’s share of 
losses of an associate or joint venture equals or exceeds 
its interest in the associate or joint venture, no further 
losses is recognised. As a result, the Group shared a 
loss of HK$965,000 from China Healthwise during year 
ended 31 December 2024.

Elite Prosperous
47,643

2.65%
(i) (ii)

(iii)
Elite Prosperous

5,535,000

5,731,000 Elite Prosperous

196,000
Elite Prosperous

196,000
Elite Prosperous 96,000

40,281,000
134,558,000

94,277,000
20,684,000

965,000 28

965,000
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

In 2024, the global macroeconomic environment was 
marked by uncertainty. Persistent inflation, fluctuating 
energy prices, and geopolit ical tensions, including 
the ongoing Russia-Ukraine conflict, disrupted supply 
chains and heightened market volatility. Additionally, the 
trade war between the U.S. and key trading partners, 
particularly China, continued to strain global trade 
relations, impacting economic growth. Central banks 
worldwide grappled with balancing inflation control 
and economic stabil ity, leading to mixed monetary 
policies. While technological advancements and green 
energy transitions offered growth opportunities, uneven 
implementation and geopolitical risks hindered progress. 
Overall, 2024 was a year of cautious optimism, with 
businesses and governments navigating a complex 
landscape of risks and opportunities.

The d i rectors  expect  the g loba l  macroeconomic 
environment to remain uncertain in 2025. As such, the 
directors will cautiously monitor the equity market, 
adjust the Group’s equity securities portfolio from time 
to time, and realise the Group’s equity securities into 
cash as and when appropriate in 2025.

Given the g lobal  macroeconomic env i ronment  is 
expected to be uncertain,  the directors intend to 
maintain the size of the Group’s loan portfolio in 2025. 
As a result, the interest income on loans generated from 
the Group’s money lending business in 2025 is expected 
to be more or less the same as in 2024. Nevertheless, 
the directors will closely monitor the performance of the 
Group’s loan portfolio, especially in each customer’s 
repayment and financial condition, and make every 
effort to recover the overdue loan receivables.

Due to the sluggish market condition, the Group has 
been developing new product l ines, such as other 
stone-type and budgeted jewelry products, to meet the 
shrinking budget of the consumer public. In addition, 
the Group has planned to broaden its sales territories by 
cultivating new overseas markets, such as Japan and 
other Southeast Asian countries. Although measures 
have been taken to improve the performance of the 
Group’s sale of jewelry products business, the directors 
expect the performance of the Group’s sale of jewelry 
products business in 2025 will be more or less the same 
as in 2024 due to the uncertainty casting on the global 
macroeconomic environment.
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FUTURE PROSPECTS (Continued)

Although there is a sign showing that the Mainland 
Chinese economy is slowing down, the directors will put 
more effort and resources into marketing and leasing 
activities to achieve a high level of occupancy rate in 
order to build up the continuous income stream derived 
from rental income of the properties erected on the 
Subject Land. In addition, the directors will put more 
effort and resources into completing the remaining 
four blocks of residential serviced apartments and two 
blocks of office buildings as planned.

Start ing from October 2023, the Group expanded 
into the golf club operation business following the 
termination of the club lease agreement relating to the 
assets of the Club by the lessee. The future prospects 
of the golf course operation business in Beijing are 
moderately positive, with potential growth driven by 
increasing interest in leisure activities among the city’s 
affluent residents. However, challenges such as strict 
land use regulations, environmental concerns, and 
limited space for expansion may constrain significant 
growth. The directors believe this business will generate 
stable revenue with modest, steady growth for the 
Group. Management will focus on improving operational 
efficiency, enhancing customer experience, and adopting 
sustainable practices to maintain competitiveness. 
While the business may not see rapid expansion, it is 
expected to contribute reliably to the Group’s overall 
performance in the coming years.

Due to the global macroeconomic environment remaining 
uncertain in 2025, the directors remain cautious and 
watchful over the key risks for 2025 and their impact. 
The directors commit to leading the Group to weather 
the chal lenges, monitor the business environment 
caut iously,  and st rengthen the Group’s business 
foundation by focusing on its existing businesses.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group issued an unsecured bond with conditional 
convertible right in an aggregate principal amount of 
HK$4,000,000 at 23 December 2024. All the conditions 
had been fulfilled on 6 January 2025. Accordingly, the 
conversion rights attached to the bond have become 
unconditional and irrevocable.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A summary of the principal risks and uncertainties which 
may impact the Group’s financial conditions, results of 
operations or future performance and how the Group to 
mitigate these risks is set out below.

This summary should not be regarded as a complete 
and comprehensive statement of all potential risks and 
uncertainties faced by the Group, but rather those risks 
that the Group currently believes may have a significant 
impac t  on  the  Group ’s  pe r fo rmance  and  fu tu re 
prospects.

4,000,000
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
(Continued)

Principal risks Description Mitigating actions

Strategic risk Strategic risk is the risk that medium and 
long-term profitability and/or reputation 
of the Group could be adversely impacted 
by the failure either to identify or 
implement the correct strategy, or to react 
appropriately to changes in the business 
environment.

• Extensive investment management 
experience of the Board.

 
• Regularly review on strategy and 

performance of each business unit.
 
• Perform comprehensive due diligence 

on all potential acquisitions.
 

Economic risk Economic risk is the risk of any downturn 
in economic conditions could impact the 
Group’s performance through higher bad 
debts as a result of customers’ inability to 
repay loans and lower asset values.

• Regularly review forward looking 
indicators to identify economic 
conditions.

 

Credit risk Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to 
the Group if a customer or counterparty 
to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations.

• Fully understand customers and carry 
out credit quality assessment on 
customers before granting loans.

 

• Regularly monitor loan receivables and 
assess for their recoverability.

 
• Limit credit risk exposure by granting 

loan to any single customer of not 
more than 8% of the consolidated total 
assets of the Group.

 
8%

• Make rental contracts with tenants 
with an appropriate credit history.
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Principal risks Description Mitigating actions

Liquidity risk Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will 
not be able to meet its financial obligations 
as they fall due.

• Regularly monitor liquidity and 
statement of financial position.

 
• Maintain appropriate liquidity to cover 

commitments.
 
• Limit liquidity risk exposure by 

investing only in equity securities listed 
on stock exchanges.

 

• Ensure acceptable and appropriate 
finance in place, or believed to be 
available before committing investment 
projects.

 

Price risk Price risk is the risk that changes in equity 
prices will affect the Group’s income and 
the value of its holdings of equities.

• Regularly monitor equity portfolio to 
address any portfolio issues promptly.

 

• Spread price risk exposure by 
investing a number of equities.

 

Exchange risk Exchange risk is the risk that changes 
in foreign exchange rates will affect the 
Group’s income and the value of its 
holdings of assets.

• Closely monitor statement of financial 
position and cashflow exchange risk 
exposures and where considered 
appropriate use financial instruments, 
such as forward exchange contracts, 
foreign currency options and forward 
rate agreements, to hedge this 
exchange risk.

 

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
(Continued)
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Principal risks Description Mitigating actions

People risk People risk is the risk of loss of the 
services of any directors, senior 
management and other key personnel 
which could have a material adverse effect 
on the Group’s businesses.

• Provide competitive reward and benefit 
packages that ensure our ability to 
attract and retain the employees the 
Group needs.

 

• Ensure that the staff of the Group 
has the right working environment 
to enable them to do the best 
job possible and maximise their 
satisfaction at work.

 

Legal and 
regulatory risk

Legal and regulatory risk is the risk that a 
breach of laws and regulations could lead 
to litigation, investigations or disputes, 
resulting in additional costs being 
incurred, civil and/or criminal proceedings 
and reputational damage.

• Monitor changes and developments in 
the regulatory environment and ensure 
that sufficient resources being made 
available to implement any required 
changes.

 

• Seek legal or other specialist advice as 
appropriate.

 

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
(Continued)
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C1

 

(a) 

  

(b) 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is 
committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate 
governance. The Board considers that such commitment 
is essential for effective management, healthy corporate 
culture, successful business growth, balancing of 
business risk, and enhancing of shareholders’ value.

The Company has adopted the code provisions of the 
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out 
in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”) as its own code 
of corporate governance.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company complied 
with the Code throughout the year ended 31 December 
2024, except for the roles of the Chairman and the 
Chief Executive Officer have not separated and have 
been performed by the same individual. The considered 
reason and explanation for the deviation are disclosed in 
the section headed “CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER” below.

CORPORATE PURPOSE, VALUES AND 
STRATEGY

For many years, the Board has focused on pursuing the 
corporate purpose of empowering and developing our 
employees to create long-term value and sustainable 
growth for our shareholders.

The Board recognises the need to  estab l ish  the 
correct culture and values to pursue the Company’s 
purpose and to ensure good standards of behaviour 
are maintained throughout the Group. To foster the 
Company’s culture, the Board continues to promote the 
following values within the Group:

(a) Integrity

We insist on trustworthy behaviour and always 
acting with integrity – “doing the right thing”, 
internally and externally.

(b) Responsible

We conduct our business in a responsible way and 
are responsible for our actions, outcomes, and 
reputation.
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(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

(i)
(ii)

  

CORPORATE PURPOSE, VALUES AND 
STRATEGY (Continued)

(c) Collaborative and supportive

We  f o s t e r  a  c o l l a b o r a t i v e  a n d  s u p p o r t i v e 
env i ronment  for  a t t ract ing,  deve lop ing,  and 
retaining the best talent for our business.

(d) Teamwork

We  p ro m o t e  t e a m w o r k  i n  a  f a i r  a n d  o p e n 
e n v i r o n m e n t ,  w h e r e  e m p l o y e e s  a n d  t h e i r 
contributions are valued and respected.

(e) Customer focus

We take the t ime to know our customers and 
understand their business needs, so they feel 
l istened to and valued. We are responsive and 
flexible, ensuring they stay with us for the long 
term.

In pursuing the Company’s purposes, the Company 
adopts two principal strategies, namely: (i) to grow 
recurring earnings, cash flow and capital return and to 
strengthen its financial position, and (ii) to attract, retain, 
and develop talented employees.

The Board believes that the culture of a business, in 
conjunction with its values, is vitally important to the 
Company’s successful long-term performance. How the 
Board members conduct themselves sets the culture 
within the Group – a good standard of behaviour has to 
be set from the top.

The Board constantly monitors the Company’s culture to 
ensure that policy, practices, and behaviour throughout 
are aligned with the Company’s purpose and strategy.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary 
balance of skills and experience desirable for effective 
leadership of  the Company and independence in 
decision-making.

The directors of the Company during the year and up to 
the date of this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Lei Hong Wai
 (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fan

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Wan Shing Chi
Mr. Ng Heung Yan
Ms. Leung Man Yee Fanny
Mr. Law Kwok Ho Kenward
 (appointed on 1 July 2024)
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen
 (resigned on 1 July 2024)

Biographical information of the directors at the date 
of this report is set out in the Biographical Details of 
Directors on pages 76 to 78 of the annual report.

According to the bye-laws of the Company, a director 
appointed by the Board either to fill a casual vacancy 
or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office 
until the first annual general meeting of the Company 
after his/her appointment and shall then be eligible for 
re-election. Furthermore, one-third of the directors, 
for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation 
but are eligible for re-election at each annual general 
meeting, provided that every director shall be subject to 
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

 

 

 

76
78
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Attendance Records at Meetings

The attendance records of each director at the various 
meetings of the Company during the year ended 31 
December 2024 are set out below:

Meetings attended/held

Annual 
general 

meeting

Special  
general  

meeting Board
Remuneration 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

Audit 
Committee

        

Number of meetings 1 1 18 3 3 2

Executive directors:
Mr. Lei Hong Wai 1/1 1/1 18/18 3/3 3/3 N/A
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton 1/1 1/1 18/18 N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fan 1/1 1/1 18/18 N/A N/A N/A

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Wan Shing Chi 1/1 1/1 18/18 3/3 3/3 2/2
Mr. Ng Heung Yan 1/1 1/1 18/18 3/3 3/3 2/2
Ms. Leung Man Yee Fanny 1/1 0/0 18/18 3/3 3/3 2/2
Mr. Law Kwok Ho Kenward 

(appointed on 1 July 2024)
 

 
0/0 1/1 8/8 N/A N/A 1/1

Mr. Wong Tak Chuen 
(resigned on 1 July 2024)

 
 

1/1 1/1 9/10 N/A N/A 1/1

Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control 
of the Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, 
strategic direction and f inancial performance. The 
management, consisting of executive directors along 
with other executives, is delegated the authority and 
responsibil ity by the Board for the management of 
the Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated 
various responsibilities to four committees, namely the 
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the 
Nomination Committee, and the Finance Committee, to 
assist the Board in discharging its duties and to oversee 
particular aspects of the Group’s activities.



Corporate Governance Report
企業管治報告

38 ETERNITY INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Responsibilities and Delegation (Continued)

Decisions on important matters are specifically reserved 
for the Board, while decisions on the Group’s general 
operations are delegated to the management. Important 
matters include those affecting the Group’s strategic 
policies, major investment and funding decisions, and 
major commitments relating to the Group’s operations.

The day-to-day management of the Group is delegated 
to the management.  This  delegat ion of  author i ty 
includes responsibility for developing and formulating 
business plans and budgets of the Group for the 
Board’s approval, operating the Group’s businesses 
within the parameters set by the Board, keeping the 
Board informed of material developments of the Group’s 
businesses, identifying and managing operation and 
other risk and implementing the policies and processes 
approved by the Board.

Compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and 3.10A of 
the Listing Rules

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board at 
all times met the requirements set out in Rules 3.10(1) 
and (2), and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the 
appointment of at least three independent non-executive 
directors (representing at least one-third of the Board) 
with at least one independent non-executive director 
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or 
accounting or related financial management expertise.

Independence of Independent Non-executive 
Directors

In determining the independence of directors, the Board 
follows the independence guidelines set out in the 
Listing Rules. The Company has received from each 
independent non-executive director an annual written 
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 
3.13 of the Listing Rules in respect of the year ended 31 
December 2024 and considers all of the independent 
non-executive directors to be independent.

Relationship between Board Members

Save and except for the family relationship between Mr. 
Cheung Kwok Wai Elton and his brother, Mr. Cheung 
Kwok Fan, there is no other relationship between the 
other members of the Board.

3.10(1) (2) 3.10A

3.10(1) 2
3.10A

 

3.13
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

The directors are committed to complying with code 
provision C.1.4 of the Code on directors’ training. All 
directors have participated in continuous professional 
development and provided a record of training they 
received for the year ended 31 December 2024 to the 
Company.

A summary of training received by the directors during 
the year ended 31 December 2024 is as follows:

Type of 
training

Subject of 
training

(Note 1) (Note 2)
1 2

    

Executive directors:

Mr. Lei Hong Wai 1, 2 & 3 A & B
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton 1, 2 & 3 A & B
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fan 1 & 3 A

Independent non-executive 
directors:

Mr. Wan Shing Chi 1 & 3 A
Mr. Ng Heung Yan 1 & 3 A
Ms. Leung Man Yee Fanny 1 & 3 A
Mr. Law Kwok Ho Kenward 

(appointed on 1 July 2024)
 

1, 2 & 3 A & C
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen 

(resigned on 1 July 2024)
 

 
1, 2 & 3 A & C

Note 1:

1: Television programmes or webcasts
2: Seminars, workshops or webinars
3: Reading

Note 2:

A: Legal and regulatory compliance, and corporate governance
B: Anti-money laundering
C: Financial reporting

C.1.4

1

1  
2  
3  

2

A  
B  
C  
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Views and Input to the Board

To ensure that independent views and input are available 
to the Board, the Company has established the following 
mechanism, and the implementation and effectiveness 
of such mechanism are reviewed annually.

(a) The Board must ensure the appointment of at least 
three independent non-executive directors and at 
least one-third of its members being independent 
non-executive directors (or such higher threshold 
as may be required by the Listing Rules) from time 
to time.

(b) Each Board committee must comprise a majority of 
independent non-executive directors.

(c) The independence of independent non-executive 
directors is assessed upon appointment, annually, 
re-appointment, and at any other time where the 
circumstances warrant reconsideration.

(d) The independent non-executive directors are 
requi red to  in form the Company as soon as 
practicable if there is any change in their personal 
pa r t i cu la rs  tha t  may  mate r i a l l y  a f fec t  the i r 
independence.

(e) Independent non-executive directors receive fixed 
fees for their role as members of the Board and 
Board committees and are not entitled to equity-
based remuneration (e.g. share options or grants) 
with performance-related elements.

(f) Further re-appointment of an independent non-
executive director ( including the long-serving 
independent non-executive director) is subject 
to a separate resolution to be approved by the 
shareholders.

(g) Independent non-executive directors should not be 
involved in the daily management of the Company 
nor in any relationship or circumstance which 
would affect the exercise of their independent 
judgement.

(h) Al l  directors are entit led to seek independent 
professional advice on issues relevant to their 
function and duties at the Company’s expense.

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

(f) 

(g) 

(h) 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Views and Input to the Board (Continued)

(i) Directors are required to declare their and their 
connected entities’ direct or indirect interests, if 
any, in proposals or transactions to be considered 
by the Board at Board meetings and withdraw from 
the meetings as appropriate.

(j) The  Cha i rman o f  the  Board  meets  w i th  the 
independent non-executive directors at least 
annually without the presence of the executive 
Directors.

Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, 
clear, and understandable assessment of the Company’s 
annua l  and  i n t e r im  repo r t s ,  i n s ide  i n fo rma t i on 
announcements and other disclosures required under 
the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility 
to  the  preparat ion  o f  the  conso l idated f inanc ia l 
s t a t e m e n t s  o f  t h e  G ro u p  a n d  e n s u re  t h a t  t h e 
consolidated financial statements are in accordance 
with statutory requirements and applicable financial 
reporting standards. The directors also ensure the timely 
publication of the consolidated financial statements of 
the Group.

(i) 

(j) 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Financial Reporting (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group 
incurred a loss for the year attributable to owners of 
the Company of HK$415,699,000, and as of that date, 
the Group’s current l iabil it ies exceeded its current 
assets by HK$563,632,000. These events or conditions 
indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast 
significant doubts on the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. After carrying out a detailed review 
of the cash flow projections of the Group covering a 
period up to 31 March 2026 and taking into account 
the implementation of the various measures detailed 
in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the 
directors are of the opinion that the Group would have 
sufficient working capital to f inance its operations 
and to meet its financial obligations as and when they 
fall due within the next twelve months from the date 
of approval of the consolidated financial statements. 
Accordingly, the directors are of the opinion that it 
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 on a 
going concern basis. Except for this, as at 31 December 
2024, the directors were not aware of any other material 
uncertainties relating to any events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.

The Company engaged HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng 
Limited as its auditors for the year ended 31 December 
2024. The statement by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng 
Limited regarding their reporting responsibilities on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out 
in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 79 to 87 
of the annual report.

415,699,000
563,632,000

3

79 87
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the Code requires that the 
role of chairman and chief executive officer should be 
separate and should not be performed by the same 
individual. During the year, Mr. Lei Hong Wai has taken 
up the roles of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Lei possesses 
essential leadership skills and has extensive experience 
in corporate management and business development. 
The Board is of the view that currently vesting the roles 
of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer in 
the same person provides the Group with strong and 
consistent leadership and allows for more effective and 
efficient business planning and decisions as well as 
execution of long-term business strategies.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All non-executive directors of the Company are not 
appointed for  a speci f ic term, but are subject to 
retirement from office by rotation and re-election in 
accordance with the provisions of the Company’s bye-
laws.

DIVERSITY

The Board believes that a diversif ied Board brings 
construct ive chal lenge and fresh perspect ives to 
discussions. The Board considers diversity,  in i ts 
broadest sense (and not limited to gender), during Board 
composition reviews and the development of selection 
criteria for appointing a new director.

The Company’s Board diversity policy, which is available 
on the Company’s website, provides that the selection 
of candidates during the nomination process will be 
based on a range of diverse perspect ives. These 
perspectives include but not be limited to gender, age, 
cultural and educational background, professional 
experience, ethnicity, skills, knowledge, and length 
of service. The ultimate decision will be based on the 
merit and contribution the selected candidates will 
bring to the Board. The policy does not contain any 
measurable objectives or targets for implementation. 
The policy is reviewed annually by the Board to ensure 
its effectiveness.

C.2.1
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DIVERSITY (Continued)

The Board currently comprises seven directors, one 
of whom is female. To improve gender diversity, each 
time a new director is appointed to the Board, where 
possible, at least one of the shortlisted candidates is 
female.

Details on the gender ratio in the Group’s workforce can 
be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance 
Report of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a directors’ remuneration 
policy aiming to set out the overall guiding principles 
and structure for remuneration packages of directors 
to attract, motivate, reward, and retain the right talent 
in pursuing and driving the Company’s long-term goals 
and ensuring business sustainability and growth. The 
directors’ remuneration policy comprises remuneration 
guiding principles and remuneration structure. The 
remuneration of executive directors is determined based 
on, among others, their scope of duties, responsibilities, 
skills, and experience required, corporate and individual 
performances, prevailing market practice, and general 
economic situation. The remuneration of non-executive 
directors and independent non-executive directors 
is determined based on, among others, the number 
of Board committees served, experience and level 
of responsibilities undertaken, and prevailing market 
practice. In the remuneration structure for directors, 
independent non-executive directors are not entitled 
to reward with equity-based remuneration. A copy of 
the directors’ remuneration policy is available on the 
Company’s website.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees with clearly 
defined written terms of reference. The main roles 
and responsibilities of these committees, including 
all authorit ies delegated to them by the Board, as 
set out in the terms of reference, are published on 
the websites of  the Company and the Exchange. 
The independent views and recommendations of the 
four committees ensure proper control of the Group 
and the continual achievement of the high corporate 
governance standards expected of a listed company. 
The chairman of each committee reports the outcome 
of the committee’s meetings to the Board for further 
discussions and approvals.

Save and except for  the Finance Committee,  the 
majority of the members of each Board committee 
are independent non-executive directors. The Board 
committees are provided with sufficient resources to 
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, 
are able to seek independent professional advice in 
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

Remuneration Committee

The  Remune ra t i on  Commi t t ee  compr i ses  t h ree 
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Ng 
Heung Yan, Mr. Wan Shing Chi, Ms. Leung Man Yee 
Fanny, and one executive director, namely Mr. Lei 
Hong Wai. Mr. Ng Heung Yan is the chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible 
for making recommendations to the Board on the 
Company’s  pol icy and st ructure for  a l l  d i rectors 
and senior management remunerat ion and on the 
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure 
for developing remuneration policy. As part of the 
decision-making process, the Company has adopted the 
standard declaration of interest procedures for all Board 
and committee meetings to ensure that no director 
or committee member will be asked to participate at 
any decision-making of matters in which they have a 
material interest, such as decisions regarding his own 
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee makes 
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration 
packages, including benefits in kind, pension rights 
and compensation payments, of individual executive 
directors and senior management.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

Dur ing  the  yea r  ended  31  December  2024 ,  the 
Remunerat ion Committee held three meet ings to 
( i )  review and discuss the remunerat ion structure 
and packages of each executive director and the 
discretionary bonuses of the executive directors for 
making recommendations to the Board for approval, 
(ii) recommend to the Board the director’s fee of the 
proposed appointment of a new independent non-
executive director; and (iii) recommend to the Board the 
grant of award pursuant to share award scheme of the 
Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no share 
opt ion  was granted under  the  Company’s  share 
schemes. No material matter relating to share option 
scheme, such as vest ing per iods or performance 
targets, was brought to issue during the year requiring 
the review or approval of the Remuneration Committee.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive 
d i re c t o r,  n a m e l y  M r.  L e i  H o n g  Wa i ,  a n d  t h re e 
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Wan 
Shing Chi, Mr. Ng Heung Yan and Ms. Leung Man 
Yee Fanny. Mr. Lei Hong Wai is the chairman of the 
Nomination Committee.

The Nominat ion Committee is mainly responsible 
for reviewing the structure, size, and composit ion 
(including the skills, knowledge, and experience) of 
the Board, identifying potential directors and making 
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or 
re-appointment of directors.

The Nomination Committee leads the process and 
makes recommendations for appointments to the 
Board, whether as an additional appointment or to fill 
up the casual vacancy of directorship as and when they 
arise, in light of challenges and opportunities facing 
the Company, as well as business development and 
requirements of the Company.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

The Company has adopted a nomination policy aiming 
to ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience, 
knowledge, and diversity of perspectives appropriate 
to the requirements of the Company’s business. The 
Nominat ion Committee wi l l  evaluate,  se lect ,  and 
recommend candidate(s )  for  d i rectorships to the 
Board by giving due consideration to selection criteria 
including but not limited to:

(a) diversity in aspects including but not limited to 
gender, age, cultural and educational background, 
professional experience, skills and knowledge and 
length of service;

(b) commitment to responsibilities of the Board in 
respect of available time and relevant interest;

(c) qual i f icat ions, including accomplishment and 
experience in the relevant industries the Company’s 
business is involved in;

(d) independence;

(e) reputation for integrity;

(f) potential contributions that the individual(s) can 
bring to the Board; and

(g) plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the 
Board.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend 
retiring director(s) to the Board for re-appointment 
by giving due consideration to the selection criteria, 
including but not limited to:

(a) the overall contribution and service of the retiring 
director(s) to the Company, including but not 
limited to the attendance of the meetings of the 
Board and/or its committees and general meetings 
where appl icable,  in  addi t ion to the level  of 
participation and performance on the Board and/or 
its committees; and

(b) whether the retiring director(s) continue(s) to satisfy 
the selection criteria.

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

(f) 

(g) 

(a) 

(b) 
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

T h e  N o m i n a t i o n  C o m m i t t e e  w i l l  e v a l u a t e  a n d 
recommend candidate(s) for the posit ion(s) of the 
independent non-executive directors of the Company by 
giving due consideration to the factors including but not 
limited to those set out in Rules 3.10, 3.10A and 3.13 of 
the Listing Rules in addition to the selection criteria.

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board 
for the appointment of a director in accordance with the 
following procedures and processes:

(a) the  Nomina t ion  Commi t tee  w i l l ,  g i v ing  due 
consideration to the current composition and size 
of the Board, develop a list of desirable skills, 
perspectives and experience at the outset to focus 
the search effort;

(b) the Nomination Committee may consult any source 
it deems appropriate in identifying or selecting 
su i tab le  cand idates ,  such as  re fe r ra ls  f rom 
existing directors, advertising, recommendations 
from a third party agency f i rm and proposals 
f rom shareholders of  the Company with due 
consideration given to the selection criteria;

(c) the Nomination Committee may adopt any process 
it deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability 
of the candidates, such as interviews, background 
checks, presentations and third party reference 
checks;

(d) upon considering a candidate suitable for the 
directorship, the Nomination Committee will hold 
a meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, 
if thought fit, approve the recommendation to the 
Board for appointment;

(e) the Nomination Committee will provide the relevant 
informat ion of  the selected candidate to the 
Remuneration Committee for consideration of the 
remuneration package of such selected candidate;

(f) the Nomination Committee will thereafter make 
the recommendation to the Board in relation to 
the proposed appointment, and where a non-
executive director is considered, the Remuneration 
Committee will make the recommendation to the 
Board on the proposed remuneration package;

3.10 3.10A 3.13

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

(f) 
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

(g) the Board may arrange for the selected candidate 
to be interviewed by the members of the Board 
who are not members of the Nomination Committee 
and the Board will thereafter deliberate and decide 
the appointment as the case may be; and

(h) all appointments of directors will be confirmed 
by the filing of the consent to act as director of 
the relevant director (or any other similar filings 
requiring the relevant director to acknowledge or 
accept the appointment as director, as the case 
may be) to be filed with the relevant Companies 
Registry.

Du r ing  the  yea r  ended  31  December  2024 ,  the 
Nomination Committee held three meetings to (i) review 
the structure, size and composition of the Board, (ii) 
evaluate and recommend the retiring directors to the 
Board for re-appointment at the annual general meeting 
in 2024, and (iii) evaluate and recommend the proposed 
appointment of a new independent non-executive 
director to the Board.

Finance Committee

The Finance Committee comprises one execut ive 
director, namely Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton, and one 
independent non-executive director, namely Mr. Law 
Kwok Ho Kenward. Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton is the 
chairman of the Finance Committee.

The Finance Committee is mainly responsible for 
reviewing and approving banking facilities and financial 
instruments to be granted or issued by the Company 
for the Group’s needs and the provision of corporate 
guarantees by the Company for its subsidiaries and 
associates.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no Finance 
Committee meeting was held.

(g) 

(h) 

(i)
(ii)

(iii)
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises four independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Law Kwok Ho Kenward, 
Mr. Wan Shing Chi, Mr. Ng Heung Yan and Ms. Leung 
Man Yee Fanny. Mr. Law Kwok Ho Kenward is the 
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to 
monitor the financial reporting process of the Company 
and to review the Company’s financial control, and 
risk management and internal control systems. It also 
governs the engagement of external auditors and their 
performance. The Audit Committee meets regularly with 
at least two meetings annually. It also has a separate 
meeting with the Company’s external auditors at least 
once a year in the absence of the management to 
discuss any issues arising from the audit and any other 
matters the external auditors may wish to raise.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit 
Committee reviewed and discussed with the external 
auditors the audit plans and key audit matters of the 
Group for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024. 
The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed with the 
external auditors as regards the audited consolidated 
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2023, the annual report for 2023, the 
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements 
of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2024, 
and the interim report for 2024 before their submission 
to the Board for approval. The Audit Committee also 
reviewed and discussed the repayment status of the 
Group’s loan receivables and the collection of problem 
loan receivables with management. The Audit Committee 
also reviewed the review reports on the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems issued by 
Infinity Concept Ripple Limited and 

, independent firms of professional 
accountants appointed by the Board to carry out 
annual independent review. The Audit Committee also 
discussed the Group’s risk management and internal 
control systems with the executive directors to ensure 
they had performed their  dut ies to have effect ive 
systems properly in place. The Audit Committee also 
discussed the accounting policies and practices that 
might affect the Group and financial reporting matters 
with the management and external auditors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

At the meeting held on 31 March 2025, the Audit 
Committee concluded that it was satisfied with its 
review of the audit fee, process and effectiveness, 
independence, and objectivity of HLB Hodgson Impey 
Cheng Limited. The Audit Committee has therefore 
recommended to the Board to have HLB Hodgson Impey 
Cheng Limited re-appointed as the Company’s auditors 
at the annual general meeting in 2025.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit 
Committee held two meetings.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company supports 
the Board by ensuring good information flow within 
the Board and that board policy and procedures are 
followed. The company secretary is also responsible for 
advising the Board on corporate governance matters. 
Ms. Lo Ming Wan has been the company secretary of 
the Company since July 2024. She is a member of the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The 
Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom 
and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute. 
She is an employee of the Company and has day-to-
day knowledge of the Group affairs. During the year, 
Ms. Lo undertook not less than 15 hours of relevant 
professional training.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities 
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules for 
securities transactions by the directors of the Company. 
Having made specific enquiries, all directors confirmed 
that they had complied with the required standard as 
set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 
December 2024.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 
CONTROL

As with all businesses, the Group is exposed to risks 
and uncertainties in pursuit of its strategic and business 
ob ject ives .  The Board acknowledges that  i t  has 
overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management 
and internal control systems and for reviewing their 
effectiveness.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 
CONTROL (Continued)

However, due to the inherent limitations of any system 
of risk management and internal control, it should be 
noted that the risk management and internal control 
systems of the Group are designed to manage rather 
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve its strategic 
and  bus iness  ob jec t i ves ,  and  can  on ly  p rov ide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

In view of each business unit being actively managed by 
the executive directors, all the executive directors are 
responsible for monitoring that appropriate processes 
and controls are in place to manage risks effectively and 
efficiently, so that the strategic and business objectives 
of the Group can be met. Principal risks are identified by 
assessing the possible effects on the Group’s reputation, 
stakeholders, earnings, capital and liquidity, and the 
future sustainability of the Group’s businesses. They 
are closely monitored and overseen by the executive 
d i rectors  on a regular  bas is .  R isk in format ion is 
communicated to employees, who have a responsibility 
to co-operate with the executive directors’ initiatives 
and to carry out their duties avoiding excessive risk.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage 
signif icant r isks by the Group are summarised as 
follows:

Risk Identification

• Identify risks that may potentially affect the Group’s 
business and operations.

Risk Assessment

• Assess the risks identified by the Board; and
• Consider the impact and consequence on the 

business.

Risk Response

• Determine the risk management strategies and 
internal control processes to prevent, avoid or 
mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring

• Perform periodic monitoring of the risk and ensure 
that appropriate internal control processes; and

• Revise the risk management strategies and internal 
control processes in case of any significant change 
in the situation.

 

• 

• 
• 

• 

• 

• 
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(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 
CONTROL (Continued)

The Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems include the following:

(a) A code of  business conduct  and eth ics that 
requires all directors and employees of the Group 
to maintain the basic standards of ethical and legal 
behavior in conducting business.

(b) A risk management process that identifies and 
assesses risks that could impact the achievement 
of agreed strategic and business objectives, and 
ensures that appropriate mitigating measures and 
controls are put in place.

(c) A set  of  pol ic ies and procedures re lat ing to 
operational and financial controls, including capital 
expenditure.

(d) A system of financial reporting.

(e) An annual review of the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Group’s r isk management and internal 
control systems.

As the Company does not have an internal  audit 
function, the Audit Committee engaged Infinity Concept 
Ripple L imited and 

 to carry out the annual independent review on 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems for the year 
ended 31 December 2024. The annual independent 
review covered all material controls, including financial, 
ope ra t i ona l  and  comp l i ance  con t ro l s ,  and  r i sk 
management functions of the Group. The review reports 
were presented to and reviewed by the Audit Committee 
and the Board. No material internal control defects 
were found. Accordingly, the Board, in conjunction 
with the Audit Committee, considers that the Group’s 
risk management and internal control systems were 
adequate and effective.

The Board reviewed the need for an internal audit 
function, but has decided that because of the size of the 
Group, it cannot be justified at present. The Board will 
review this decision annually.

The Board also reviewed the adequacy of resources, 
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes 
and budget of the Group’s accounting and financial 
reporting functions, as well as those relating to the 
Company’s environmental,  social  and governance 
performance and reporting.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 
CONTROL (Continued)

The Company has adopted a policy and procedures 
on disclosure of inside information which contains 
the guidelines to the directors and all the relevant 
employees of the Group to ensure that the inside 
information of the Company is to be disseminated to the 
public in an equal and timely manner in accordance with 
applicable laws and regulations.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION AND AUDITOR-
RELATED MATTERS

During the year, the Company engaged HLB Hodgson 
Impey Cheng Limited to perform audit services and 
non-audit services and incurred audit services fees 
of  HK$1,100,000 and non-audi t  serv ices fees of 
HK$100,000. The non-audit services consist of taxation 
services and performing agreed-upon procedures on the 
Group’s interim financial statements for the six months 
ended 30 June 2024. The Company also engaged an 
audit f irm to perform audit services and non-audit 
services for certain subsidiaries established in Mainland 
China and incurred audit services fees of HK$10,000.

WHISTLEBLOWING AND PREVENTION OF 
BRIBERY

The Company is  commit ted to mainta in ing good 
corporate governance, emphasising accountabil ity 
and a high degree of transparency which enable its 
stakeholders to have trust and faith in the Company 
to take care of their needs and to fulf i l l  i ts social 
responsibility. In line with this commitment, the Group 
expects and encourages its employees and other parties 
who deal with the Group (e.g. customers, contractors, 
suppliers, creditors and debtors, etc.) to report any 
misconduct, malpractice or irregularity within the Group. 
The Company has a whistleblowing policy that provides 
the report ing channels and guidance on report ing 
possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or 
other matters. All reported matters will be investigated 
independently and, in the meantime, all information 
received from a whistleblower and his/her/its identity will 
be kept confidential. A copy of the whistleblowing policy 
is available on the Company’s website.
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WHISTLEBLOWING AND PREVENTION OF 
BRIBERY (Continued)

The Company commits to maintaining confidence in 
the integrity of the Group. All directors and employees 
should show the highest business integrity in their 
dealings with others and should conduct the Group’s 
business in accordance with the law and principles 
of good business practice. The Company prohibits all 
forms of bribery and corruption and has embedded in 
the Group’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics a set 
of prevention of bribery policies.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedure for Convening a Special General Meeting

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the 
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of 
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all 
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board 
or the company secretary of the Company, to require a 
special general meeting to be called by the Board for the 
transaction of any business specified in such requisition, 
and such meeting shall be held within two months after 
the deposit of such requisition. If, within 21 days of such 
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such 
meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do so in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the 
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended).

Procedure for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to 
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and 
concerns to the Board in writing through the company 
secretary, whose contact is as follows:

Unit 1211, Shun Tak Centre, West Tower
168-200 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2268 8222
Fax: (852) 2369 0981
Email: wanda@eternityinv.com.hk

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at 
the general meetings of the Company.

 

21
74(3)

 

168-200
1211

(852) 2268 8222
(852) 2369 0981
wanda@eternityinv.com.hk
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Constitutional Documents

The Company’s amended bye-laws are available on the 
websites of the Company and the Exchange.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication with Shareholders

To ensure a good understanding of the Company’s 
business and performance, the Board is committed to 
maintaining an appropriate level of communication with 
shareholders and potential investors.

The Company’s shareholders’ communication policy, 
which is available on the Company’s website, ensures 
that shareholders and the investment community are 
provided with equal and timely access to information 
about the Company, including its financial performance, 
strategic goals and plans, mater ial  developments 
and corporate governance, and also allows them to 
engage actively with the Company. The policy sets out 
various communication channels, including, among 
others, the Company’s website, investor briefings, and 
shareholders’ meetings, through which shareholders 
may communicate with and provide feedback to the 
Company from time to time. The policy is reviewed 
annually by the Board to ensure its effectiveness.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board 
reviewed the policy and considered that the policy was 
effective and sufficient, given that multiple channels 
were in place and adopted to facilitate communications 
with shareholders and the investment community in 
conformity with market practices.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the dividend policy adopted on 31 December 
2018, the Company does not have any pre-determined 
div idend payout rat io.  The declarat ion,  payment, 
and amount of dividends are subject to the Board’s 
discretion having regard to the following factors:

(a) t h e  e a r n i n g s ,  f i n a n c i a l  c o n d i t i o n s ,  c a p i t a l 
requirements and future plans of the Group;

(b) the shareholders’ interests in the Company;

(c) the economic outlook;

(d) the contractual restrictions on the payment of 
dividends by the Company to its shareholders;

(e) the statutory and regulatory restrictions on the 
payment of dividends by the Company; and

(f) any other factors the Board may consider relevant.

This report was approved by the Board on 31 March 
2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Lei Hong Wai
Chairman

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

(f) 
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The directors present their report and the audited 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The 
principal activities of its subsidiaries and associates 
are set out in notes 51 and 25, respectively, to the 
consol idated f inancial  statements. There were no 
significant changes to the Group’s principal activities 
during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business, comprising an 
analysis using financial key performance indicators, 
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties 
facing by the Group, particulars of important events 
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of 
the financial year, if any, and an indication of likely future 
developments in the Group’s business can be found in 
the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 8 to 
33 of the annual report.

A discussion on the Group’s environmental policies 
and performance and the Group’s compliance with the 
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant 
impact on the Group and an account of the Group’s 
re lat ionships with i ts  key stakeholders that  have 
a s ign i f icant  impact  on the Group and on which 
the Group’s success depends can be found in the 
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the 
Group.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 
2024 and the Group’s financial position at that date are 
set out in the Group’s consolidated financial statements 
on pages 88 to 327 of the annual report.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a 
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024.

51
25

8 33

88 327
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities 
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on 
page 328 of the annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company during the 
year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF THE 
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its 
subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the 
Company’s listed securities.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE 
COMPANY

At 31 December 2024, the Company did not have any 
reserves available for distribution to shareholders (2023: 
Nil).

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to 
the date of this report were:

Executive directors:
Mr. Lei Hong Wai 
 (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fan

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Wan Shing Chi
Mr. Ng Heung Yan
Ms. Leung Man Yee Fanny
Ms. Law Kwok Ho Kenward
 (appointed on 1 July 2024)
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen (resigned on 1 July 2024)

328

35
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s 
bye-laws, Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton, Mr. Ng Heung 
Yan and Mr. Law Kwok Ho Kenward will retire by rotation 
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election 
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

As Mr. Ng Heung Yan has served the Board for more 
than nine years,  his further appointment shal l  be 
subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the 
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting in accordance with code provision 
B.2.3 of the Corporate Governance Code as set out 
in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”).

T h e  C o m p a n y  h a s  r e c e i v e d  f r o m  e a c h  o f  t h e 
independent  non-execut i ve  d i rec to rs  an  annua l 
confirmation of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the 
independent non-executive directors to be independent.

During the year and up to the date of this report, Mr. Lei 
Hong Wai, Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton, and Mr. Cheung 
Kwok Fan are also directors in certain subsidiaries of the 
Company. Other directors of the Company’s subsidiaries 
during the year and up to the date of this report include 
Mr. Guan Jialin, Mr. Guan Jian, Ms. Han Fang, and Ms. 
Wong Siu Yan.

Biographical information of the directors of the Company 
is set out on pages 76 to 78 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting has a service contract which 
is not determinable by the Group within one year 
without payment of compensation, other than statutory 
compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in Section 
469 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the 
benefit of the directors of the Company is currently in 
force and was in force throughout the year.

C1
B.2.3

3.13

76 78

469
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND 
DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2024, the interests of the directors and 
the chief executive and their associates in the shares, 
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and 
its associated corporations, as recorded in the register 
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of 
the Securities and Futures Ordinance, or as otherwise 
notified to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to 
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors 
of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Long positions

(a) O rd i n a r y  s h a re s  o f  H K $ 0 . 0 1  e a c h  o f  t h e 
Company

Number of ordinary shares held and capacity Percentage
of the issued 
share capital 

of the
Company

 

Name of director Notes
Beneficial 

owner

Held by 
controlled

corporations Total

      

Mr. Lei Hong Wai 1 and 2 408,740,000 583,832,803 992,572,803 25.99%
1 2

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton 1 and 2 – 583,832,803 583,832,803 15.29%
1 2

Ms. Leung Man Yee Fanny 700,000 – 700,000 0.02%

Notes:

1. Twin Success International Limited (“Twin Success”) 
beneficially owns 583,832,803 ordinary shares of the 
Company.

Twin Success is owned as to 50% by Silver Pacific 
International Limited and as to 50% by Silver Pacific 
Development Limited. Si lver Pacif ic International 
Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Lei Hong Wai. Silver 
Pacific Development Limited is owned as to 50% by 
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton and as to 50% by Mr. 
Guan Jian.

2. On 5 June 2018, Twin Success pledged its 583,832,803 
ordinary shares of the Company in favour of Kingston 
Finance Limited as security for a loan facility.

 
 

352

(a) 0.01

1. Twin Success Internat ional  L imited
Twin Success

583,832,803

Twin Success Silver Pacific International 
Limited 50% Silver Pacif ic 
Development Limited 50%
Silver Pacific International Limited

Silver Pacific 
Development Limited
50% 50%

2. Twin Success

583,832,803
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND 
DEBENTURES (Continued)

Long positions (Continued)

(b) Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of China 
Healthwise Holdings Limited, a 21.94% owned 
associate of the Company

Name of director Capacity

Number of 
ordinary 

shares held

Percentage of 
the issued 

share capital 
of China 

Healthwise 
Holdings Limited

      

Mr. Lei Hong Wai Beneficial owner 18,663,636 2.42%

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors, 
chief executive nor their associates had any interests 
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or 
debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporations at 31 December 2024.

 
 

(b) 
21.94% 0.01
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SHARE SCHEMES

Particulars of the Company’s share schemes are set out 
in note 49 to the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Share option scheme adopted on 12 December 
2011

The following table discloses movements in the 
share options granted under the Company’s share 
option scheme adopted on 12 December 2011 (the 
“2011 Share Option Scheme”) during the year:

Number of share options

 

Share
options
type

Date of 
grant Vesting schedule

Outstanding at
1 January

2024

Granted 
during 

the year

Exercised 
during 

the year

Cancelled 
during 

the year

Lapsed 
during 

the year
Transferred 

in/(out)

Outstanding at
31 December 

2024
Exercise 

price Exercise period

             

Directors, chief executive 
or substantial 
shareholders or their 
respective associates

Mr. Lei Hong Wai 2021 4 June 2021 
 

100% of the share 
options were 
vested on  
4 June 2021 

100%  
 

3,800,000 – – – (3,800,000) – – HK$0.298 4 June 2021 to 3 
June 2024 

 
 
 

Mr. Cheung Kwok  
Wai Elton 

2021 4 June 2021 
 

100% of the share 
options were 
vested on  
4 June 2021 

100%  
 

3,800,000 – – – (3,800,000) – – HK$0.298 4 June 2021 to 3 
June 2024 

 
 
 

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fan 2021 4 June 2021 
 

100% of the share 
options were 
vested on  
4 June 2021 

100%  
 

3,800,000 – – – (3,800,000) – – HK$0.298 4 June 2021 to 3 
June 2024 

 
 
 

Employees 2021 4 June 2021 
 

100% of the share 
options were 
vested on  
4 June 2021 

100%  
 

160,360,000 – – – (160,360,000) – – HK$0.298 4 June 2021 to 3 
June 2024 

 
 
 

             

Total 171,760,000 – – – (171,760,000) – –

             

49

(a) 
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SHARE SCHEMES (Continued)

(a) Share option scheme adopted on 12 December 
2011 (Continued)

The  c los ing  pr ice  o f  the  Company ’s  shares 
immediately before 4 June 2021, the date of grant 
of the 2021 share options, was HK$0.29.

As the 2011 Share Option Scheme expired on 11 
December 2021, no share options were available 
for grant under the 2011 Share Option Scheme on 
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024.

(b) Share option scheme adopted on 16 December 
2021

On 15 August 2024, in view of the amendments to 
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules relating to share 
scheme which came into effect on 1 January 2023, 
the Company terminated the share options scheme 
adopted on 16 December 2021 (the “2021 Share 
Option Scheme”).

There were no outstanding share options under the 
2021 Share Option Scheme at 1 January 2024.

(c) Share option scheme adopted on 15 August 
2024

During the year, no share options were granted, 
exercised, cancelled or lapsed, and there were no 
outstanding share options under the share option 
scheme adopted on 15 August 2024 (the “2024 
Share Option Scheme”) at 31 December 2024.

The number of share options available for grant 
under the existing scheme mandate of the 2024 
Share Option Scheme on 31 December 2024 was 
381,960,648 share options.

(a) 

0.29

(b) 

(c) 

381,960,648
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(d) Share award scheme

The share award scheme was adopted by the 
Board on 16 September 2021. At the special 
general meeting of the Company held on 15 August 
2024, certain amendments to be made to the 
share award scheme to, among other things, bring 
it in line to reflect the latest amendments to the 
requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules 
which took effect on 1 January 2023 was approved 
by the shareholders of the Company.

The following table discloses movements in the 
share awards granted under the Company’s share 
award scheme adopted on 16 September 2021 (as 
amended on 15 August 2024) during the year:

Name or category  
of grantee

Date of 
grant

Unvested as 
at 1 January 

2024

Granted 
during the 

year
Vested during 

the year

Cancelled/
forfeited 

during the 
year

Lapsed 
during the 

year

Unvested 
as at 31 

December 31 
2024

Vesting 
date

Purchase 
price of share 

awards

Closing price 
immediately 

before the 
date of grant

 

           

Consultant

Mr. Wong Chun Hung 
Hanson

4 September  
2024

– 38,000,000 – – – 38,000,000 4 September  
2025

Nil HK$0.065

   0.065

The number of shares available for award under 
the existing scheme mandate of the share award 
scheme on 1 January 2024 was 381,960,648 
shares and on 31 December 2024 was 343,960,648 
shares.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no share may be 
issued in respect of share options and shares awarded 
under all share schemes of the Company.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR 
DEBENTURES

Other than the share schemes of the Company as 
disclosed in the section headed “SHARE SCHEMES” 
above and in note 49 to the consolidated financial 
statements, at no time during the year was the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to 
enable the directors to acquire benefits by means of the 
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company 
or any other body corporate.

(d) 

381,960,648 343,960,648

 

49
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share schemes of the Company as 
disclosed in the section headed “SHARE SCHEMES” 
above and in note 49 to the consolidated financial 
statements, no equity-linked agreements were entered 
into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the 
end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, 
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE

(a) O n  2 9  N o v e m b e r  2 0 1 8 ,  M r.  L e i  H o n g  Wa i 
provided a personal  guarantee to secure the 
Company’s repayment obligations under a loan of 
HK$200,000,000 granted by a finance company. No 
consideration was paid by the Company to Mr. Lei 
Hong Wai for providing the personal guarantee. No 
security over the assets of the Group was provided 
for the personal guarantee given by Mr. Lei Hong 
Wai.

At 31 December 2024, the provision of the personal 
guarantee by Mr. Lei Hong Wai remained in full 
force and effect.

(b) On 9 March 2020, Mr. Lei Hong Wai provided 
a personal  guarantee to  secure the Group’s 
repayment obligations under a securities margin 
financing facility granted by a securities brokerage 
firm with an outstanding balance of HK$24,336,000 
at 31 December 2024. No consideration was paid 
by the Company to Mr. Lei Hong Wai for providing 
the personal guarantee. No security over the 
assets of the Group was provided for the personal 
guarantee given by Mr. Lei Hong Wai.

At 31 December 2024, the provision of the personal 
guarantee by Mr. Lei Hong Wai remained in full 
force and effect.

(c) On 22 October 2020, Mr. Lei Hong Wai provided 
a personal  guarantee to  secure the Group’s 
repayment obligations under a securities margin 
financing facility granted by a securities brokerage 
firm with an outstanding balance of HK$16,002,000 
at 31 December 2024. No consideration was paid 
by the Company to Mr. Lei Hong Wai for providing 
the personal guarantee. No security over the 
assets of the Group was provided for the personal 
guarantee given by Mr. Lei Hong Wai.

At 31 December 2024, the provision of the personal 
guarantee by Mr. Lei Hong Wai remained in full 
force and effect.

49

 
 

(a) 

200,000,000

(b) 

24,336,000

(c) 

16,002,000
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, 
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE (Continued)

(d) On 29 December 2022, each of Mr. Lei Hong 
Wai and Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton provided 
a personal guarantee to guarantee the punctual 
performance by the Company’s obligations under 
the HK$197,000,000 17% guaranteed secured 
notes due 2023 issued by the Company on 29 
December 2022 pursuant to the subscription and 
note instrument agreement dated 29 December 
2022. No consideration was paid by the Company 
to Mr. Lei Hong Wai and/or Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai 
Elton for providing the personal guarantees. No 
security over the assets of the Group was provided 
for the personal guarantees given by Mr. Lei Hong 
Wai and/or Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton.

At 31 December 2024, the provision of the personal 
guarantees by Mr. Lei Hong Wai and Mr. Cheung 
Kwok Wai Elton remained in full force and effect.

(e) On 18 August 2023, Mr. Lei Hong Wai provided 
a personal  guarantee to  secure the Group’s 
repayment obligations under a securities margin 
f i nanc ing  fac i l i t y  g ran ted  by  the  secur i t i es 
brokerage f i rm ment ioned in  (b )  above,  wi th 
an outstanding balance of HK$9,049,000 at 31 
December 2024. No consideration was paid by the 
Company to Mr. Lei Hong Wai for providing the 
personal guarantee. No security over the assets of 
the Group was provided for the personal guarantee 
given by Mr. Lei Hong Wai.

At 31 December 2024, the provision of the personal 
guarantee by Mr. Lei Hong Wai remained in full 
force and effect.

(f) At 31 December 2023, the outstanding balance 
of the cash advance from Mr. Cheung Kwok Fan 
amounted to HK$600,000. During the year ended 
31 December 2024, Mr. Cheung Kwok Fan made 
additional cash advances of HK$800,000 to the 
Group to finance its short-term financing needs. 
The cash advances are non-interest bear ing, 
unsecured, and repayable on demand. During the 
year ended 31 December 2024, the Group repaid 
HK$3,600,000 to Mr. Cheung Kwok Fan.

At 31 December 2024, the cash advances of 
HK$600,000 remained outstanding.

 

(d) 

197,000,000 17%

(e) 
(b)

9,049,000

(f) 
600,000

800,000

3,600,000

600,000
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, 
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE (Continued)

(g) At 31 December 2024, the outstanding balance 
of  the cash advance f rom Mr.  Le i  Hong Wai 
amounted to HK$121,000. During the year ended 
31 December 2024, Mr. Lei Hong Wai did not make 
additional cash advance to the Group. The cash 
advances are non-interest bearing, unsecured, and 
repayable on demand. During the year ended 31 
December 2024, the Group repaid HK$121,000 to 
Mr. Lei Hong Wai.

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding balance 
of the cash advances from Mr. Lei Hong Wai was 
nil.

(h) During the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Lei 
Hong Wai made cash advance of HK$18,000,000 
to the Group to finance its short-term financing 
needs. The cash advances are interest bearing 
at 21.60% per annum, unsecured and repayable 
on demand. The interest on the cash advances 
is based on the interest paid/payable by Mr. Lei 
Hong Wai to a finance company to obtain the cash 
advances. During the year ended 31 December 
2024, the Group repaid HK$6,404,000 to Mr. Lei 
Hong Wai, and the interest accrued by the Group 
on cash advances from Mr. Lei Hong Wai amounted 
to HK$1,349,000.

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding balance 
of the cash advances from Mr. Lei Hong Wai was 
HK$12,945,000.

 
 

(g) 

121,000

121,000

(h) 

18,000,000

21.60%

6,404,000

1,349,000

12,945,000
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, 
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE (Continued)

(i) At 31 December 2023, the outstanding balance 
of the cash advance from Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai 
Elton amounted to HK$32,335,000. During the 
year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Cheung Kwok 
Wai El ton make addit ional  cash advances of 
HK$230,000 to the Group. The cash advances are 
interest-bearing at a one-month HIBOR quoted by 
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited plus 1.30% 
per annum or 2.25% per annum below the prime 
rate for Hong Kong Dollars quoted by Bank of 
China (Hong Kong) Limited, whichever is lower, 
unsecured, and repayable on demand. The interest 
on the cash advances is based on the interest paid/
payable by Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton to Bank 
of China (Hong Kong) Limited to obtain the cash 
advances. During the year ended 31 December 
2024, the Group repaid HK$25,827,000 to Mr. 
Cheung Kwok Wai Elton, and the interest accrued 
by the Group on cash advances from Mr. Cheung 
Kwok Wai Elton amounted to HK$744,000. As at 
31 December 2024, the outstanding balance of the 
cash advances from Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton 
was HK$7,482,000.

(j) As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding balance 
of the cash advances from Ms. Chan Mei Sau 
Teresina, the spouse of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai 
Elton, amounted to HK$53,859,000. The cash 
advances are interest-bearing at a one-month 
HIBOR quoted by Bank East Asia Limited plus 
1.30% per annum or 2.50% per annum below 
the prime rate for Hong Kong dollars quoted by 
Bank of East Asia Limited, whichever is lower, 
unsecured, and repayable on demand. The interest 
on the cash advances is based on the interest paid/
payable by Ms. Chan Mei Sau Teresina to Bank 
of East Asia Limited to obtain the cash advances. 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the 
Group repaid HK$3,288,000 to Ms. Chan Mei Sau 
Teresina, and the interest accrued by the Group on 
cash advances from Ms. Chan Mei Sau Teresina 
amounted to HK$1,899,000.

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding balance 
of the cash advances from Ms. Chan Mei Sau 
Teresina was HK$52,470,000.

 
 

(i) 

32,335,000

230,000

1.30%
2.25%

25,827,000

744,000

7,482,000

(j) 

53,859,000

1.30%

2.50%

3,288,000
1,899,000

52,470,000
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Other  than as d isc losed above,  no t ransact ions, 
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in 
which a director or a connected entity of a director of 
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or 
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time 
during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No con t rac t s  conce r n ing  the  managemen t  and 
administration of the whole or any substantial part of 
any business of the Company were entered into or 
existed during the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND 
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING 
SHARES

At 31 December 2024, the register of substant ia l 
shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to 
Section 336 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance 
shows that the following shareholders had notified the 
Company of relevant interests in the issued share capital 
of the Company.

Long positions

(a) O rd i n a r y  s h a re s  o f  H K $ 0 . 0 1  e a c h  o f  t h e 
Company

Number of ordinary shares held and capacity

    

Name of shareholder Notes
Beneficial 

owner

Person
having

a security
interest

in shares

Held by
controlled

corporation(s) Total

Percentage of 
the issued 

share capital of 
the Company

Twin Success 1 and 4
1 4

583,832,803 – – 583,832,803 15.29%

Silver Pacific International Limited 1, 2 and 4
1 2 4

– – 583,832,803 583,832,803 15.29%

Silver Pacific Development Limited 1, 3 and 4
1 3 4

– – 583,832,803 583,832,803 15.29%

Mr. Lei Hong Wai 1, 2 and 4
1 2 4

408,740,000 – 583,832,803 992,572,803 25.99%

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton 1, 3 and 4
1 3 4

– – 583,832,803 583,832,803 15.29%

Mr. Guan Jian 1, 3 and 4
1 3 4

– – 583,832,803 583,832,803 15.29%

Kingston Finance Limited 4 – 583,832,803 – 583,832,803 15.28%

Ample Cheer Limited 5 – – 583,832,803 583,832,803 15.28%

Ms. Chu Yuet Wah 6 – – 646,374,285 646,374,285 16.92%

 
 

336

(a) 0.01
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND 
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING 
SHARES (Continued)

Long positions (Continued)

(a) O rd i n a r y  s h a re s  o f  H K $ 0 . 0 1  e a c h  o f  t h e 
Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. Twin Success is owned as to 50% by Silver Pacific 
International Limited and as to 50% by Silver Pacific 
Development Limited.

2. Silver Pacific International Limited is wholly owned by 
Mr. Lei Hong Wai.

3. Silver Pacific Development Limited is owned as to 50% 
by Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton and as to 50% by Mr. 
Guan Jian.

4. On 5 June 2018, Twin Success pledged its 583,832,803 
ordinary shares of the Company in favour of Kingston 
Finance Limited as security for a loan facility.

5. Kingston Finance Limited is wholly owned by Ample 
Cheer Limited.

6. Out  o f  the  646,374,285 ord inary  shares  o f  the 
Company,

(i) 583,832,803 ordinary shares are held by Kingston 
Finance Limited. Kingston Finance Limited is 
wholly owned by Ample Cheer Limited. Ample 
Cheer Limited is wholly owned by Ms. Chu Yuet 
Wah;

(ii) 12  o rd ina ry  sha res  a re  he ld  by  K ings ton 
Securities Limited. Kingston Securities Limited 
is wholly owned by Galaxy Sky Investments 
Limited. Galaxy Sky Investments Limited is 
wholly owned by Kingston Capital Asia Limited. 
Kingston Capital Asia Limited is wholly owned 
by Kingston Financial Group Limited. Kingston 
Financial Group Limited is wholly owned by 
Active Dynamic Limited. Active Dynamic Limited 
is wholly owned by Ms. Chu Yuet Wah; and

(iii) 62,541,470 ordinary shares are held by Turbo 
Kingdom International Limited, which is wholly 
owned by Ms. Chu Yuet Wah.

 
 

(a) 0.01  

1. Twin Success Silver Pacific 
International Limited 50%
Silver Pacific Development Limited
50%

2. Silver Pacific International Limited

3. Silver Pacific Development Limited
50%

50%

4. Twin Success

583,832,803

5. Ample Cheer 
Limited

6. 646,374,285

(i) 
583,832,803

Ample Cheer Limited
Ample Cheer Limited

(ii) 12

Galaxy Sky Investments Limited
Galaxy Sky Investments 

Limited Kingston Capital Asia 
L i m i t e d K i n g s t o n 
Capital Asia Limited

Active Dynamic 
Limited Active Dynamic 
Limited

(iii) Tu rbo  K ingdom In te r na t iona l 
Limited 62,541,470

Turbo Kingdom International 
Limited
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND 
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING 
SHARES (Continued)

Long positions (Continued)

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not 
been notified of any other relevant interests or short 
positions in the issued share capital of the Company at 
31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING 
BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this report, the 
following directors have interests in a business which 
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or 
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group:

(a) Mr. Lei Hong Wai holds a 2.42% interest in China 
Healthwise Holdings Limited (stock code: 348) 
(“China Healthwise”), a company listed on the 
Main Board of the Exchange and an associate of 
the Company. In addition, Mr. Lei is the chairman 
of the board of directors and an executive director 
of China Healthwise. The subsidiaries of China 
Healthwise also engage in money lending business 
and investment in financial instruments.

(b) Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton is the vice-chairman 
of the board of directors and an executive director 
of China Healthwise (stock code: 348), a company 
listed on the Main Board of the Exchange and an 
associate of the Company. The subsidiaries of 
China Healthwise also engage in money lending 
and investment in financial instruments businesses.

(c) Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton was the chairman of 
the board of directors and an executive director of 
Global Mastermind Holdings Limited (stock code: 
8063), a company listed on GEM operated by the 
Exchange until his resignation on 13 November 
2024. The subsidiar ies of Global Mastermind 
Holdings Limited also engage in money lending 
business and treasury management business.

As the board of directors of the Company is independent 
of  the boards of  d i rectors of  the above ent i t ies, 
the Group is capable of carrying on its businesses 
independently of, and at arm’s length from, the above 
businesses.

 
 

 

(a) 

348
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the 
Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which 
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits scheme are set 
out in note 50 to the consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group 
is based on their individual performance, qualifications 
and competence.

The emoluments of the directors and senior management 
of the Company are approved by the Board on the 
recommendations of the Remuneration Committee 
with reference to their duties and responsibilities in the 
Company.

The Company has adopted share schemes to incentivise 
directors and eligible persons. Details of the share 
schemes are set out in note 49 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to 
the Company and within the knowledge of the directors 
of the Company as at the latest practicable date prior 
to the issue of the annual report, the Company has 
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing 
Rules.

50

49
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In 2024, the Group’s largest customer and five largest 
customers accounted for 8.25% (2023: 16.88%) and 
34.20% (2023: 53.04%) of its revenue from sales of 
goods or rendering of services respectively.

In 2024, the Group’s largest supplier and five largest 
suppliers accounted for 74.21% (2023: 67.55%) and 
89.90% (2023: 94.42%) of its purchases respectively.

At no t ime during the year did a director, a close 
associate of a director or a shareholder of the Company 
(which to the knowledge of the directors of the Company 
owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares of 
the Company) have an interest in any of the Group’s five 
largest customers or suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group did not make any charitable 
donations (2023: Nil).

AUDITORS

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general 
meeting to re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng 
Limited as auditors of the Company.

This report was approved by the Board on 31 March 
2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Lei Hong Wai
Chairman

8.25%
16.88% 34.20%

53.04%

74.21%
67.55% 89.90% 94.42%
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lei Hong Wai, aged 56, has been an executive 
director of the Company and the Chairman of the Board 
since January 2010 and February 2010, respectively. 
He is also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. 
Mr. Lei is responsible for the development of the overall 
strategic planning and management of the Group. He 
has over 23 years of extensive experience in corporate 
management, investment, and business development. 
He was a director of The Chamber of Hong Kong Listed 
Companies Limited, which promotes interaction amongst 
its members which are listed companies in Hong Kong 
and the People’s Republic of China, in 2002. Mr. Lei 
is the chairman of the Nomination Committee of the 
Board and a member of the Remuneration Committee 
of the Board. He also holds directorships in certain 
subsidiaries and associates of the Company. Mr. Lei is 
also a director of Twin Success International Limited 
and Silver Pacific International Limited, the substantial 
shareholders of the Company within the meaning of Part 
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance. Mr. Lei is 
currently the chairman of the board of directors and an 
executive director of China Healthwise Holdings Limited, 
a company l isted on the Main Board of The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”) (stock 
code: 348) and an associate of the Company.

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton, aged 59, has been an 
executive director of the Company since February 2011. 
Mr. Cheung is responsible for the business development 
of the Group. He has over 35 years of experience in the 
area of corporate finance and securities industries. He 
holds a Master Degree in Accounting and Finance from 
the University of Lancaster in the United Kingdom. He 
also holds directorships in certain subsidiaries and an 
associate of the Company. Mr. Cheung is also a director 
of Twin Success International Limited and Silver Pacific 
Development Limited, the substantial shareholders of the 
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities 
and Futures Ordinance. Mr. Cheung is the elder brother 
of Mr. Cheung Kwok Fan, an executive director of 
the Company. Mr. Cheung is was the chairman of the 
board of directors and an executive director of Global 
Mastermind Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM 
operated by the Exchange (stock code: 8063) during 
the period from 16 December 2016 to 13 November 
2024. Mr. Cheung is currently the vice-chairman of the 
board of directors and an executive director of China 
Healthwise Holdings Limited, a company listed on the 
Main Board of the Exchange (stock code: 348) and an 
associate of the Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fan, aged 57, has been a director of 
the Company since August 2011. He was redesignated 
as executive director of the Company in September 
2014.  Mr.  Cheung is  respons ib le  fo r  the  overa l l 
management of the Group’s design and sale of jewelry 
business. He holds directorships in three subsidiaries of 
the Company. Mr. Cheung has over 33 years of working 
experience in the field of architecture. He is a member 
of The Hong Kong Institute of Architects, a member of 
The Royal Australian Institute of Architects, a Registered 
Architect in Hong Kong, and an Authorised Person in the 
List of Architects. He obtained his Bachelor Degree of 
Arts in Architectural Studies from The University of Hong 
Kong in 1989 and a Bachelor Degree in Architecture 
from The University of Hong Kong in 1991. He was 
selected as an awardee of the Ten Outstanding Young 
Persons Selection organised by the Junior Chamber of 
International Hong Kong in 2005. He has been teaching 
as a part-time position in the Architecture Subject Group 
of HKU School of Professional and Continuing Education 
since September 2009 and has been appointed as an 
Adjunct Lecturer since 1 January 2014. Mr. Cheung 
has been the director of his own architectural practice, 
Oritecture Limited, since 10 December 2009. He is the 
younger brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton, an 
executive director of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wan Shing Chi, aged 55, has been an independent 
non-executive director of the Company since May 2010. 
Mr. Wan is a member of the Remuneration Committee, 
the Nomination Committee, and the Audit Committee 
of the Board. He has over 30 years of experience in 
the field of construction engineering and is currently a 
project manager of a reputable construction company in 
Hong Kong. He holds a Bachelor Degree of Engineering 
with honours from the University of Melbourne, Australia 
and is a member of the Asia Institute of Building.

Mr. Ng Heung Yan, aged 54, has been an independent 
non-executive director of the Company since August 
2011. Mr. Ng is the chairman of the Remuneration 
C o m m i t t e e  o f  t h e  B o a rd  a n d  a  m e m b e r  o f  t h e 
Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee of the 
Board. He has over 27 years of experience in metal work 
engineering design and currently works as a project 
director in a private engineering company in Hong 
Kong. He graduated from Monash University in Australia 
with a Bachelor Degree of Engineering (Industrial and 
Computing) in 1993.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
(Continued)

Ms. Leung Man Yee Fanny, aged 60, has been an 
independent non-executive director of the Company 
since December 2023. Ms. Leung is a member of the 
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee, 
and the Audit Committee of the Board. She has over 42 
years of experience in the television and film production 
industry, particularly as an executive producer involved 
in project planning. Ms. Leung is currently a director 
and a shareholder of a company in Hong Kong that 
is engaged in creative culture and media production 
related to television programs, movies, videos, and 
comics.

Mr. Law Kwok Ho Kenward, aged 52, has been an 
independent non-executive director of the Company 
since July 2024. Mr. Law graduated from the University 
of New South Wales, Austral ia with a Bachelor of 
Commerce in Accountancy. He is a member of the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a 
Certified Practising Accountant of CPA Australia. Mr. 
Law has experience in auditing, taxation and finance for 
over 20 years. Mr. Law is presently the general manager 
of a consultancy company in Hong Kong. Mr. Law 
was an independent non-executive director of Global 
Mastermind Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM 
operated by the Exchange (stock code: 8063) during the 
period from 11 December 2015 to 19 November 2024.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ETERNITY INVESTMENT LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements 
of  Etern i ty  Investment  L imi ted ( the  “Company” ) 
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the 
“Group”) set out on pages 88 to 327, which comprise 
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
consol idated statement of  changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash f lows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements,  inc luding mater ia l  account ing pol icy 
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) 
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly 
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements 
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong 
Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the 
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  
section of our report. We are independent of the Group 
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants  (the “Code”), and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 

* 
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO 
GOING CONCERN

We draw attent ion to note 3 to the consol idated 
financial statements, which indicates that the Group 
incurred a net loss of HK$415,699,000 during the 
year ended 31 December 2024 and, as of that date, 
the Group’s current l iabil it ies exceeded its current 
assets by HK$563,632,000. As stated in note 3 to the 
consolidated financial statements, these events or 
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in note 
3 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate that 
a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this 
matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audi t  matters are those matters that ,  in  our 
professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of 
the current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters. In addition to the matter described in the 
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, 
we have determined the matters described below to be 
the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Expected credit loss (“ECL”) assessment on loan 
receivables

Refer to notes 3, 4, 28 and 54 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

3 4 28 54

A t  3 1  D e c e m b e r  2 0 2 4 ,  t h e  G r o u p  h a d  l o a n 
receivables, net of accumulated allowance for ECL, of 
HK$171,816,000. During the year ended 31 December 
2024,  a l lowance for  ECL on loan receivables of 
HK$37,854,000 was recognised.

171,816,000

37,854,000

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
for  exposures.  The Group considers reasonable 
and supportable information including histor ical 
and forward-looking information that is relevant and 
available without undue cost or effort for this purpose.

Due to the key source of estimation uncertainty and 
the significant assumptions and judgement involved, 
ECL assessment on loan receivables is identified as a 
key audit matter.

O u r  a u d i t  p ro c e d u re s  i n  r e l a t i o n  t o  t h e 
m a n a g e m e n t ’s  E C L  a s s e s s m e n t  o n  l o a n 
receivables included but not limited to:

• understanding the credit control procedures 
performed by management, including its 
procedures on per iodic review of loan 
receivables and ECL assessment on loan 
receivables;

• 

• checking, on a sample basis, the aging 
p ro f i l e  o f  t he  l oan  rece i vab les  a t  31 
December 2024 to the underlying financial 
records and post year-end settlements to 
bank receipts;

• 
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter  
(Continued)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
(Continued)

Expected credit loss (“ECL”) assessment on loan 
receivables  (Continued)

Refer to notes 3, 4, 28 and 54 to the consolidated 
financial statements. (Continued)

3 4 28 54

O u r  a u d i t  p ro c e d u re s  i n  r e l a t i o n  t o  t h e 
m a n a g e m e n t ’s  E C L  a s s e s s m e n t  o n  l o a n 
receivables included but not limited to: (Continued)

• inquiring management for the status of each 
of the material loan receivables past due 
at 31 December 2024 and corroborating 
exp lana t i ons  f rom managemen t  w i t h 
supporting evidence, such as understanding 
o n - g o i n g  b u s i n e s s  re l a t i o n s h i p  w i t h 
the customers, checking historical and 
subsequent settlement records of and other 
correspondence with the customers; and

• 

• assessing the appropriateness of the ECL 
provisioning methodology, examining the 
key data inputs on a sample basis to assess 
their  accuracy and completeness, and 
challenging the assumptions, including both 
historical and forward-looking information, 
used to determine the ECL.

• 

We found the management judgement and 
estimates used to assess allowance for ECL on 
loan receivables were supported by available 
evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter  
(Continued)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
(Continued)

Impairment assessment on intangible assets and 
goodwill

Refer to notes 3, 4, 22, 23 and 24 to the consolidated 
financial statements respectively.

3 4 22 23 24

The Group has intangible assets and goodwil l  of 
HK$608,713,000 and HK$Ni l  respect ive ly  at  31 
December 2024. Management performed impairment 
assessment on these non-current assets based on 
value in use calculation. Based on the management’s 
impairment assessment, impairment loss on goodwill 
of HK$189,029,000 was recognised.

608,713,000

189,029,000

The impairment assessment required s igni f icant 
management judgement with respect to the discount 
rate and the underlying cash flows, in particular future 
revenue growth and capital expenditure. Independent 
external valuations were obtained in respect of the 
impairment assessment on intangible assets and 
goodwill in order to support management’s estimates.

Due to the key source of estimation uncertainty and 
the significant assumptions and judgement involved, 
impairment assessment on intangible assets and 
goodwill is identified as a key audit matter.

O u r  a u d i t  p ro c e d u re s  i n  r e l a t i o n  t o  t h e 
management ’s  impai rment  assessment  on 
intangible assets and goodwill included but not 
limited to:

• evaluating the competence, capabilit ies 
and objective of the independent external 
valuers;

• 

• assess ing the appropr ia teness of  the 
valuation methodologies, key assumptions 
a n d  e s t i m a t e s  u s e d  b a s e d  o n  o u r 
knowledge of the relevant industry and 
using our valuation experts;

• 

• chal lenging the reasonableness of key 
assumptions based on our knowledge of 
the business and industry; and

• 

• checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy 
and relevance of the input data used.

• 

We found the management judgement and 
estimates used in impairment assessment on 
intangible assets and goodwill were supported 
by available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the 
other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, but does not 
include the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements 
does not cover the Other Information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connect ion with our audit  of  the consol idated 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
Other Information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the  Other  In format ion  is  mater ia l l y  incons is tent 
with the consol idated f inancial  statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS 
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERANCE 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs 
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements 
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the 
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for 
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report 
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in 
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies 
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other 
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs wil l  always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of the consolidated financial statements.

As  par t  o f  an  aud i t  in  accordance  w i th  HKSAs, 
we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of  account ing 
estimates and related disclosures made by the 
directors.

 

90

• 

• 

• 
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditors’ report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated financial statements, 
i nc lud ing  the  d isc losures ,  and  whether  the 
consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner 
that achieves fair presentation.

• P lan and per form the group aud i t  to  obta in 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business 
units within the group as a basis for forming an 
opinion on the group financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
review of the audit work performed for purposes of 
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for 
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance  with 
a statement that we have compl ied with re levant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to 
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

 

• 

• 

• 
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Independent Auditors’ Report
獨立核數師報告

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged 
with governance, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated 
f inancial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this 
independent auditors’ report is Lee Pak Kin.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lee Pak Kin
Practising Certificate Number: P08262

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025

 

P08262
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綜合損益及其他全面收益表
For the year ended 31 December 2024  

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Revenue 6 223,973 196,694
Cost of sales (112,346) (98,792)
     

Gross profit 111,627 97,902
Investment and other income 7 19,100 22,609
Other gains and losses 8 (288,305) (11,570)
Selling and distribution expenses (5,132) (4,578)
Allowance for expected credit 

losses on financial assets
 

9 (39,756) (132,729)
Administrative expenses (132,839) (129,153)
Share of results of associates (869) (31,914)
     

Loss from operations (336,174) (189,433)
Finance costs 10 (71,863) (66,603)
     

Loss before taxation (408,037) (256,036)
Income tax expense 11 (7,662) (19,116)
     

Loss for the year 12 (415,699) (275,152)
     

Loss for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company (415,699) (275,152)
Non-controlling interests – –
     

(415,699) (275,152)
     

Loss per share 16

Basic (Hong Kong cents) (11.25) (7.45)
     

Diluted (Hong Kong cents) (11.25) (7.45)
     

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the 
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
綜合損益及其他全面收益表

For the year ended 31 December 2024  

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Loss for the year (415,699) (275,152)

Other comprehensive (expense)/income 
for the year, net of income tax

 

Item that will not be reclassified to profit 
or loss:

Fair value loss on equity instruments at 
fair value through other comprehensive 
income (8,645) (3,570)

    

(8,645) (3,570)
    

Items that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on 
translating foreign operations (25,386) (13,190)

Share of other comprehensive income of 
associates, net of related income tax

 
– 67

    

(25,386) (13,123)
    

Other comprehensive expense for the year, 
net of income tax

 
(34,031) (16,693)

    

Total comprehensive expense for the 
year (449,730) (291,845)

      

Total comprehensive (expense)/income 
for the year attributable to:

 

Owners of the Company (449,851) (291,927)
Non-controlling interests 121 82
    

(449,730) (291,845)
      

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the 
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
綜合財務狀況表
At 31 December 2024  

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 18 914,704 928,529
Right-of-use assets 19 191,146 207,324
Investment properties 20 192,185 261,698
Intangible assets 22 608,713 639,189
Goodwill 23 – 190,277
Interests in associates 25 3,399 4,268
Deferred tax assets 45 62,570 69,892
Equity instruments at fair value 

through other comprehensive 
income 26 – 8,645

Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss

 
31 10,135 9,846

Finance lease receivables 32 150,291 159,224
Prepayments 30 – 344
     

2,133,143 2,479,236
     

Current assets
Inventories 27 30,468 34,484
Loans receivables 28 171,816 248,614
Trade receivables 29 36,756 37,902
Deposits, prepayments and other 

receivables
 

30 92,626 91,124
Finance lease receivables 32 26,319 22,664
Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss
 

31 64,323 97,316
Pledged bank deposits 33 23 23
Restricted bank deposits 33 – 18,035
Cash and cash equivalents 33 30,322 18,359
     

452,653 568,521
Assets classified as held for sale 34 13,527 26,816
     

466,180 595,337
     

Total assets 2,599,323 3,074,573
      

EQUITY
Share capital 35 38,196 38,196
Shares held for share award plan 49 (24,455) (24,455)
Reserves 1,044,459 1,493,505
     

Equity attributable to owners of 
the Company 1,058,200 1,507,246

Non-controlling interests (5,554) (5,675)
     

Total equity 1,052,646 1,501,571
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
綜合財務狀況表

At 31 December 2024  

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade payables 36 43,006 55,253
Deposits received,  

accruals and other payables 37 194,892 178,676
Receipts in advance 38 56,553 56,611
Tax payables 83,729 80,723
Bank borrowings 39 137,825 144,196
Other borrowings 40 252,536 254,748
Lease liabilities 41 4,123 6,106
Guaranteed secured notes 42 174,267 24,125
Amounts due to associates 43 9,385 11,169
Amounts due to directors and 

related party 44 73,496 89,715
     

1,029,812 901,322
     

Non-current liabilities
Deposits received and  

other payables 37 72,503 68,525
Lease liabilities 41 265,005 275,008
Deferred tax liabilities 45 179,357 187,027
Guaranteed secured notes 42 – 141,120
     

516,865 671,680
     

Total liabilities 1,546,677 1,573,002
      

Total equity and liabilities 2,599,323 3,074,573
      

Net current liabilities (563,632) (305,985)
      

Total assets less current liabilities 1,569,511 2,173,251
      

The consolidated financial statements on pages 88 
to 327 were approved and authorised for issue by the 
board of directors on 31 March 2025 and are signed on 
its behalf by:

 Lei Hong Wai Cheung Kwok Wai Elton
  
 Director Director
  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the 
consolidated financial statements.

88 327
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
綜合權益變動表
For the year ended 31 December 2024  

Attributable to the owners of the Company

 

Share
capital

Shares
held for

share
award

plan
Share

premium
Capital
reserve

Contributed
surplus

Property
revaluation

reserve

Fair value 
through other

comprehensive
income
reserve

Equity-settled
share-based

payment
reserve

Exchange
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Sub-total

Non-
controlling

interests Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note a) (Note b) (Note c) (Note d) (Note e) (Note f)
a b c d e f

               

 
At 1 January 2023 38,196 (24,455) 1,807,051 17,761 404,663 25,801 (14,303) 16,377 (115,400) (356,518) 1,799,173 (5,757) 1,793,416
Loss for the year – – – – – – – – – (275,152) (275,152) – (275,152)
Other comprehensive 

(expense)/income for the 
year

 

Fair value loss on equity 
instruments at fair 
value through other 
comprehensive income

 
 

– – – – – – (3,570) – – – (3,570) – (3,570)
Share of other 

comprehensive income 
of associates

 

– – – – – – – – 67 – 67 – 67
Exchange differences 

arising on translating 
foreign operations – – – – – – – – (13,272) – (13,272) 82 (13,190)

                

Total comprehensive 
(expense)/income for the 
year

 

– – – – – – (3,570) – (13,205) (275,152) (291,927) 82 (291,845)
                

At 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024

 
 

38,196 (24,455) 1,807,051 17,761 404,663 25,801 (17,873) 16,377 (128,605) (631,670) 1,507,246 (5,675) 1,501,571
Loss for the year – – – – – – – – – (415,699) (415,699) – (415,699)
Other comprehensive 

(expense)/income for the 
year

 

Fair value loss on equity 
instruments at fair 
value through other 
comprehensive income

 
 

– – – – – – (8,645) – – – (8,645) – (8,645)
Exchange differences 

arising on translating 
foreign operations – – – – – – – – (25,507) – (25,507) 121 (25,386)

                

Total comprehensive 
(expense)/income for the 
year

 

– – – – – – (8,645) – (25,507) (415,699) (449,851) 121 (449,730)
                

Release for the lapse of share 
option

 
– – – – – – – (16,377) – 16,377 – – –

Recognition for equity-settled 
share-based payment

 
– – – – – – – 805 – – 805 – 805

               

At 31 December 2024  
38,196 (24,455) 1,807,051 17,761 404,663 25,801 (26,518) 805 (154,112) (1,030,992) 1,058,200 (5,554) 1,052,646
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
綜合權益變動表

For the year ended 31 December 2024  

Notes:

(a) The Company’s shares purchased under the share award 
plan and held by the trustee of the share award plan are 
presented as “shares held for share award plan” and 
deducted from total equity.

(b) Capital reserve represents the difference of share capital and 
share premium of the subsidiaries and the nominal value of 
the 880 shares issued by RICHE (BVI) LIMITED prior to the 
allotment of 120 shares to Classical Statue Limited and the 
amount arising from issue of share by a subsidiary.

(c) Contributed surplus represents the net amount transferred 
from share capital and share premium to retained profits 
pursuant to the special resolutions passed at the special 
general meetings held on 22 August 2003, 30 April 2008 and 
12 December 2011.

Under the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the 
contributed surplus is available for distribution. However, the 
Company cannot make a distribution out of the contributed 
surplus if: (i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to 
pay its liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the realisable 
value of its assets would thereby be less than its liabilities.

(d) P roper ty  reva lua t ion  rese rve  re la tes  the  p roper t i es 
transferred from owner-occupied to investment properties. 
The excess amount between the fair value and the carrying 
amount of the properties at the date of transfer is included 
in the property revaluation reserve, and will be transferred to 
accumulated losses upon the retirement or disposal of the 
relevant properties.

(e) The fa i r  va lue  through other  comprehens ive  income 
(“FVTOCI”) reserve represents cumulative gains and losses 
arising from revaluation of equity instruments at FVTOCI that 
have been recognised in other comprehensive income. Gains 
and losses arising from revaluation of equity instruments at 
FVTOCI will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 
periods.

(f) Equity-settled share-based payment reserve represents the 
fair value of services estimated to be received in exchange 
for the grant of the relevant share options and share award 
over the relevant vesting periods, the total of which is based 
on the fair value of the share options and share award 
at grant date. The amount for each reporting period is 
determined by spreading the fair value of the share options 
and share award over the relevant vesting periods (if any) 
and is recognised as staff costs and related expenses with 
a corresponding increase in equity-settled share-based 
payment reserve.

(a) 

(b) 
Classical Statue Limited 120
RICHE (BVI) LIMITED 880

(c) 

(i)
(ii)

(d) 

(e) 

(f) 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
綜合現金流量表
For the year ended 31 December 2024  

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation (408,037) (256,036)

Adjustments for:
Amortisation of intangible assets 12, 22 17,055 17,335
Allowance for expected credit 

losses on loan receivables, net 9 37,854 132,972
Allowance for expected credit 

losses on trade receivables 9 1,902 120
Depreciation of property, plant 

and equipment 12, 18 26,617 25,832
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 12, 19 6,061 6,108
Dividend income (459) (1,142)
Loss/(gain) on modification of 

terms of guaranteed secured 
notes 8, 42 22,885 (33,445)

Loss/(gain) on disposal of niches 8 2,293 (74)
Gain on disposals of residential 

serviced apartments
 

8 (6,395) (18,411)
Interest expenses 10 71,863 66,603
Interest income on bank deposits 7 (292) (304)
Interest income on other 

receivables 7 – (410)
Imputed interest income on 

finance lease receivables 7 (17,953) (20,329)
Loss arising on change in fair 

value of financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss

 
 

8 16,904 11,036
Loss arising on change in fair 

value of investment properties 8, 20 50,911 2,026
Reversal of allowance for 

expected credit losses on other 
receivables 9 – (363)

Impairment loss/(reversal of 
impairment loss) on property, 
plant and equipment 8, 18 12,659 (1,600)

Share of results of associates 869 31,914
Written-off of property, plant and 

equipment 8 19 259
Impairment loss on goodwill 8, 23 189,029 51,779
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
綜合現金流量表

For the year ended 31 December 2024  

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Operating cash inflows before 
movements in working capital 23,785 13,870

Decrease in inventories 3,948 1,488
Decrease in loan receivables 38,944 30,483
Increase in trade receivables (756) (5,181)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits, 

prepayments and other 
receivables (1,839) 80,325

Decrease in financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss 15,800 17,239

(Decrease)/increase in trade 
payables (11,306) 22,878

Increase/(decrease) in deposits 
received, accruals and other 
payables 15,485 (50,450)

Increase/(decrease) in receipts  
in advance 6,476 (27,998)

     

Net cash generated from 
operating activities 90,537 82,654

     

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received 7 292 304
Dividend received 459 1,142
Interest on other receivables 

received – 410
Acquisition of interest in an 

associate – (197)
Proceeds from disposal of 

residential serviced apartments
 

9,059 36,195
Purchase of property, plant and 

equipment (30,080) (57,307)
Purchases of investment properties – (33,156)
Proceeds from disposal of 

investment properties 14,922 2,504
Withdrawal/(placement) of restricted 

bank deposits 17,917 (18,138)
Receipt of finance lease receivables 26,808 27,135
Withdrawal of pledged bank 

deposits – 756
     

Net cash generated from/(used in) 
investing activities

 
39,377 (40,352)
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綜合現金流量表
For the year ended 31 December 2024  

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Advance from directors 22,770 143,176
Repayment to directors (38,989) (55,508)
Interest paid (57,237) (75,933)
Proceeds from bank borrowings – 60,374
Repayment of bank borrowings (6,371) (116,198)
Proceeds from other borrowings 8,025 15,537
Repayment of other borrowings (10,237) (27,578)
Repayment of lease liabilities (6,068) (6,889)
Repayment of guaranteed secured 

notes (27,582) (4,000)
Proceeds from associates 4,390 12,404
Repayment to associates (6,174) (3,689)
     

Net cash used in financing 
activities (117,473) (58,304)

     

Net increase/(decrease) in cash 
and cash equivalents 12,441 (16,002)

Cash and cash equivalents at 
the beginning of the reporting 
period

 

18,359 34,765
Effect of foreign exchange rate 

changes (478) (404)
     

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the reporting period

 
30,322 18,359

     

Analysis of the balances of cash 
and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and on hand 33 30,322 18,359
     

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the 
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

For the year ended 31 December 2024  

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Eternity Investment Limited (the “Company”) is 
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company 
with limited liability and its issued shares are listed 
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (the “Exchange”). The addresses of 
the registered office, and head office and principal 
place of business of the Company are disclosed 
in the corporate information section to the annual 
report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment 
holding. The principal activities of the Company’s 
subsidiaries (together with the Company, referred 
to as the “Group”) are sale of financial assets, 
property investment, money lending, design and 
sale of jewelry products and operation of a golf 
course in the People’s Republic of China.

Detai ls of the substantial shareholders of the 
Company are disclosed in the section headed 
“Substantial Shareholders and other Persons’ 
Interests  and Short  Posi t ions in  Shares and 
Underlying Shares” in the Directors’ Report of the 
annual report.

The  conso l i da ted  f i nanc i a l  s t a t emen ts  a re 
presented in thousands of units of Hong Kong 
dollar (HK$’000), which is same as the functional 
currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily 
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the 
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily 
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning 
on 1 January 2024 for the preparat ion of the 
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and 
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Amendments to HKAS 1 
Classification of Liabilities as 
current or Non-current and 
related amendments to Hong 
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with 
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 and 
HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

1. 

Eternity Investment Limited
*

2. 

16

1  1

5

1  

7
7  

*
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For the year ended 31 December 2024  

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily 
effective for the current year (Continued)

The application of the Amendments had no material 
impact on the Group’s f inancial posit ions and 
performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated 
financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but 
not yet effective

The Group has not early adopted the following new 
and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued 
but are not yet effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and 
HKFRS 7

Amendments to the 
Classification and 
Measurement of Financial 
Instruments3

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and 
HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity3

Amendments to HKFRS 10  
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture1

Amendments to HKFRS 
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS 
Accounting Standards — 
Volume 113

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability2

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in 
Financial Statements4

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a 
date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2027.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the 
application of al l  other new and amendments 
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable 
future.

2. 
 

 

9
7 3

9
7 3

10
28

1

 
 11 3

21  2

18
4

1 

2 

3 

4 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

For the year ended 31 December 2024  

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by 
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements, information 
is  considered mater ia l  i f  such informat ion is 
reasonably expected to influence decisions made 
by primary users. In addition, the consolidated 
financial statements include applicable disclosures 
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on the Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) 
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on the historical cost basis, except 
for investment properties and certain financial 
instruments that are measured at fair values at the 
end of each reporting period, as explained in the 
accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value 
of the consideration given in exchange for goods 
and services.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date, regardless of whether that price 
is directly observable or estimated using another 
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of 
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account 
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market 
participants would take those characteristics into 
account when pricing the asset or liability at the 
measurement date. Fair value for measurement 
and/or disclosure purposes in the consolidated 
financial statements is determined on such a basis, 
except for share-based payment transactions that 
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based 
Payment , leasing transactions that are accounted 
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases , and 
measurements that have some similarities to fair 
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable 
value in HKAS 2 Inventories  or value in use in 
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets .

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset 
takes into account a market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in 
its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its 
highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties 
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation 
technique that unobservable inputs are to be used 
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the 
valuation technique is calibrated so that the results 
of the valuation technique equal the transaction 
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair 
value measurements are categorised into Level 
1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs 
to the fair value measurements are observable 
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value 
measurement in its entirety, which are described as 
follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) 
in act ive markets for  ident ical  assets or 
liabilities that the entity can access at the 
measurement date;

3.  

2

16

2
36

1 2 3

• 1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

For the year ended 31 December 2024  

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted 
pr ices inc luded wi th in  Leve l  1 ,  that  are 
observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the 
asset or liability.

Going concern

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the 
Group incurred a loss for the year attributable 
to owners of the Company of HK$415,699,000 
and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities 
exceeded its current assets by HK$563,632,000.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of 
the Company have given careful consideration to 
the future liquidity, operating performance of the 
Group and its available sources of financing, and 
are of the opinion that the cash flow generated 
from operating activities and certain appropriate 
financing activities of the Group will be able to 
meet the funding needs of operations and repay 
the outstanding borrowings. In order to improve 
the Group’s financial position, the directors of 
the Company have been implementing various 
measures as follows:

• tak ing  ac t i ve  measures  to  co l l ec t  l oan 
receivables to improve operating cash flows 
and its financial position;

• fo rmula t ing  var ious  sa le  and market ing 
initiatives to increase the occupancy rate of 
the residential serviced apartments in Beijing, 
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”);

• negotiating with respective lenders to renew 
and extend the existing borrowings upon their 
maturities;

3.  

• 2

1

• 3

415,699,000

563,632,000

• 

• 

• 
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For the year ended 31 December 2024  

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

• rev iew ing  i t s  i nves tments  and  ac t i ve l y 
considering to realise certain financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 
or other assets in order to enhance the cash 
f low posit ion of the Group whenever it is 
necessary; and

• implementing active cost-saving measures to 
control administrative costs through various 
ways to improve operating cash flows at a 
level sufficient to finance the working capital 
requirements of the Group.

The directors of the Company have carried out 
detail review on the Group’s cash flow projections 
p r e p a r e d  b y  m a n a g e m e n t .  T h e  c a s h  f l o w 
projections cover a period up to 31 March 2026. In 
preparing the cash flow projections, the directors 
of the Company have considered the historical 
cash requirements of the Group as well as other 
key factors, including the availability of the loan 
finance which may impact the operations of the 
Group during the next twelve-month period. They 
are of the opinion that, taking into account the 
above-mentioned measures, the Group would have 
sufficient working capital to finance its operations 
and to meet its financial obligations as and when 
they fall due within the next twelve months from 
the date of approval of the consolidated financial 
statements.

Accordingly, the directors of the Company are of 
the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the 
consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2024 on a going concern 
basis. Should the Group be unable to continue as a 
going concern, adjustments would have to be made 
to the consolidated financial statements to adjust 
the value of the Group’s assets to their recoverable 
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which 
might arise and to reclassify non-current assets 
and liabil it ies as current assets and liabil it ies, 
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have 
not been reflected in the consolidated financial 
statements.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate 
the f inancial  statements of the Company and 
entities (including structured entities) controlled 
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is 
achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 
from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its 
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls 
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the three 
elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than majority of the 
voting rights of an investee, it has power over the 
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to 
give it the practical ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group 
considers al l  relevant facts and circumstance 
in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting 
rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, 
including:

• the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights 
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings 
of the other vote holders;

• potential voting rights held by the Group, 
other vote holders or other parties;

• r i g h t s  a r i s i n g  f r o m  o t h e r  c o n t r a c t u a l 
arrangements; and

• any additional facts and circumstances that 
indicate that the Group has, or does not 
have, the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities at the time that decisions need to be 
made, including voting patterns at previous 
shareholders’ meetings.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the 
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the Group loses contro l  of  the 
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a 
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year 
are included in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income from the 
date the Group gains control until the date when 
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive 
income are  a t t r ibu ted  to  the  owners  o f  the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total 
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed 
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the 
f inancia l  statements of  subsidiar ies to br ing 
their accounting policies in line with the Group’s 
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, 
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are eliminated in 
full on consolidation.

Non-contro l l ing interests in  subsid iar ies are 
presented separately from the Group’s equity 
there in ,  wh ich  represent  present  ownersh ip 
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate 
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries 
upon liquidation.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and 
assets which includes an input and a substantive 
process that together significantly contribute to the 
ability to create outputs. The acquired processes 
are considered substantive if they are critical to 
the ability to continue producing outputs, including 
an organised workforce with the necessary skills, 
knowledge, or experience to perform the related 
processes or they significantly contribute to the 
abil i ty to continue producing outputs and are 
considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced 
without significant cost, effort, or delay in the 
ability to continue producing outputs.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisit ions of businesses are accounted for 
using the acquisition method. The consideration 
transferred in a business combination is measured 
at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of 
the acquisit ion-date fair  values of the assets 
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the 
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the 
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange 
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related 
costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred.

The identif iable assets acquired and liabil it ies 
assumed must meet the definitions of an asset 
and a liability in the Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting (the "Conceptual Framework") 
except for transactions and events within the scope 
of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets  or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, in 
which the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to 
identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business 
combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets 
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised 
at their fair value, except that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets 
or l iabi l i t ies re lated to employee benef i t 
arrangements are recognised and measured in 
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and 
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

• l i ab i l i t i es  o r  equ i ty  ins t ruments  re la ted 
to  sha re-based  payment  a r rangements 
of  the acquiree or share-based payment 
arrangements of the Group entered into to 
replace share-based payment arrangements 
of the acquiree are measured in accordance 
with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date (see the 
accounting policy below);

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified 
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 
5 Non-current  Assets Held for  Sale and 
Discontinued Operations  are measured in 
accordance with that standard; and

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

• lease liabilities are recognised and measured 
at the present value of the remaining lease 
payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as i f 
the acquired leases were new leases at the 
acquisition date, except for leases for which 
(a) the lease term ends within 12 months of 
the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying 
asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are 
recognised and measured at the same amount 
as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to 
reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the 
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum 
of the consideration transferred, the amount of 
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and 
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the 
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired 
and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. 
If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, 
the amount of any non-controll ing interests in 
the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the 
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss 
as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership 
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate 
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in 
the event of liquidation are initially measured at 
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share 
of  the recognised amounts of  the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets or at fair value. The choice 
of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of business 
is carried at cost as established at the date of 
acquisit ion of the business less accumulated 
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill 
i s  a l l o c a t e d  t o  e a c h  o f  t h e  G ro u p ’s  c a s h -
generating units (“CGUs”) (or groups of CGUs) 
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of 
the combination, which represent the lowest level 
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal 
management purposes and not larger than an 
operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has 
been allocated is tested for impairment annually or 
more frequently when there is indication that the 
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an 
acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group 
of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated 
is tested for impairment before the end of that 
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less 
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata 
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset 
in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable 
amount of goodwill is included in the determination 
of the amount of the gain or loss on disposal. When 
the Group disposes of an operation within the CGU 
(or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of 
goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of 
the relative values of the operation (or the CGU) 
disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the 
group of CGUs) retained. 

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for 
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct 
attributable costs of investment. The results of 
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on 
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the interests in subsidiaries 
is required upon receiving a dividend from these 
investments i f  the dividend exceeds the total 
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the 
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying 
amount of the investment in the separate financial 
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the 
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s 
net assets including goodwill.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has 
significant influence. Significant influence is the 
power to participate in the financial and operating 
policy decisions of the investee but is not control 
or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates 
are incorporated in the consolidated f inancial 
statements using the equity method of accounting. 
The financial statements of associates used for 
equity accounting purposes are prepared using 
un i form account ing pol ic ies  as those of  the 
Group for like transactions and events in similar 
c i rcumstances.  Under the equity method, an 
investment in an associate is initially recognised 
in the consolidated statement of financial position 
at  cost  and adjusted thereafter  to recognise 
the Group’s share of prof i t  or loss and other 
comprehensive income of the associate. Changes 
in net assets of the associate other than profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income are not 
accounted for unless such changes resulted in 
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. 
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate 
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate 
(which includes any long-term interests that, in 
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment 
i n  t h e  a s s o c i a t e ) ,  t h e  G ro u p  d i s c o n t i n u e s 
recognising its share of further losses. Additional 
losses are recognised only to the extent that the 
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations 
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for 
using the equity method from the date on which 
the investee becomes an associate. On acquisition 
of the investment in an associate, any excess of 
the cost of the investment over the Group’s share 
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and 
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, 
which is included within the carrying amount of 
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share 
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and 
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after 
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss in the period in which the investment is 
acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective 
evidence that the interest in an associate may be 
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, 
the ent i re carrying amount of the investment 
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in 
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by 
comparing i ts recoverable amount (h igher of 
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) 
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss 
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including 
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount 
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment 
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the 
investment subsequently increases.

The  Group  app l i es  HKFRS 9 ,  i nc lud ing  the 
impairment requirements, to long-term interests in 
an associate or joint venture to which the equity 
method is not applied and which form part of 
the net investment in the investee. Furthermore, 
in applying HKFRS 9 to long-term interests, the 
Group does not take into account adjustments 
to their carrying amount required by HKAS 28 
(i.e. adjustments to the carrying amount of long-
term interests arising from the allocation of losses 
of the investee or assessment of impairment in 
accordance with HKAS 28).

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When the  Group ceases  to  have s ign i f icant 
influence over an associate, it is accounted for 
as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee 
with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in 
profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest 
in the former associate and the retained interest 
is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 
Financial Instruments , the Group measures the 
retained interest at fair value at that date and the 
fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial 
recognition. The difference between the carrying 
amount of the associate and the fair value of any 
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing 
the relevant interest in the associate is included in 
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal 
of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts 
for all amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in relation to that associate 
on the same basis as would be required if that 
associate had directly disposed of the related 
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss 
previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income by that associate would be reclassified to 
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets 
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss 
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification 
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the 
relevant associate.

When a group entity transacts with an associate 
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the 
transactions with the associate are recognised in 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements only 
to the extent of interests in the associate that are 
not related to the Group.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in 
an associate but the Group continues to use the 
equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or 
loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had 
previously been recognised in other comprehensive 
income relating to that reduction in ownership 
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to 
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets 
or liabilities.

3.  

9



111

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

For the year ended 31 December 2024  

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

Acquisition of additional interests in associates

When the Group increases its ownership interest 
in an associate but the Group continues to use the 
equity method, goodwill is recognised at acquisition 
date if there is excess of the consideration paid 
over the share of carrying amount of net assets 
attributable to the additional interests in associates 
acquired. Any excess of share of carrying amount 
of net assets attributable to the additional interests 
in associates acquired over the consideration paid 
are recognised in the profit or loss in the period in 
which the additional interest are acquired.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are 
classified as held for sale if their carrying amount 
wi l l  be  recovered pr inc ipa l ly  through a  sa le 
transaction rather than through continuing use. This 
condition is regarded as met only when the asset 
(or disposal group) is available for immediate sale 
in its present condition subject only to terms that 
are usual and customary for sales of such asset 
(or disposal group) and its sale is highly probable. 
Management must be committed to the sale, which 
should be expected to qualify for recognition as 
a completed sale within one year from the date of 
classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan 
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the 
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified 
as held for sale when the criteria described above 
are met, regardless of whether the Group will retain 
a non-controlling interest in the relevant subsidiary 
after the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan 
involving disposal of an investment, or a portion of 
an investment, in an associate or joint venture, the 
investment or the portion of the investment that 
will be disposed of is classified as held for sale 
when the criteria described above are met, and the 
Group discontinues the use of the equity method 
in relation to the portion that is classified as held 
for sale from the time when the investment (or a 
portion of the investment) is classified as held for 
sale.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale (Continued)

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified 
as held for sale are measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when 
it arises from the sale of goods, the provision of 
services or the use by others of the Group’s assets 
under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s 
business.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a 
performance obl igation is satisf ied, i .e. when 
“control” of the goods or services underlying the 
particular performance obligation is transferred to 
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or 
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is 
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services 
that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is 
recognised over time by reference to the progress 
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant 
performance obligation if one of the following 
criteria is met:

• the customer simultaneously receives and 
consumes the  benef i ts  prov ided by  the 
Group’s performance as the Group performs;

• the Group’s performance creates or enhances 
an asset that the customer controls as the 
Group performs; or

• the Group’s performance does not create an 
asset with an alternative use to the Group and 
the Group has an enforceable right to payment 
for performance completed to date.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue  f rom cont rac ts  w i th  cus tomers 
(Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time 
when the customer obtains control of the distinct 
good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to 
consideration in exchange for goods or services 
that the Group has transferred to a customer that is 
not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment 
in  accordance wi th  HKFRS 9.  In  contrast ,  a 
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional 
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time 
is required before payment of that consideration is 
due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation 
to transfer goods or services to a customer for 
which the Group has received consideration (or an 
amount of consideration is due) from the customer. 
A contract asset and a contract liability relating to 
the same contract are accounted for and presented 
on a net basis.

F o r  c o n t r a c t s  t h a t  c o n t a i n  m o re  t h a n  o n e 
performance obligations, the Group allocates the 
transaction price to each performance obligation 
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

Revenue and other income recognition policies

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other 
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sales of jewelry products

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when 
the customer takes possession of and accepts 
the products. If the products are a partial 
fulfilment of a contract covering other goods 
and, then the amount of revenue recognised 
is an appropr iate proport ion of  the total 
transaction price under the contract, allocated 
between all the goods and services promised 
under the contract on a relative stand-alone 
selling price basis.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue and other income recognition policies 
(Continued)

(ii) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating 
leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal 
instalments over the per iods covered by 
the lease term, except where an alternative 
basis is more representative of the pattern 
of benefits to be derived from the use of the 
leased asset. Lease incentives granted are 
recognised in profit or loss as an integral 
part of the aggregate net lease payments 
receivable.

(iii) Dividend income

Dividend income from l isted investments 
is recognised when the share price of the 
investment goes ex-dividend.

(iv) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues 
us ing the effect ive interest  method.  For 
financial assets measured at amortised cost 
that are not credit-impaired, the effective 
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying 
amount of the asset.

(v) Sale of financial assets at FVTPL

Sale of financial assets at FVTPL is accounted 
for on a trade date basis.

(vi) Membership income

Membership entrance fees represent non-
refundable upfront registration fee for lifetime 
entitlement by members for using the golf 
facilities and enjoying certain privileges in 
other facilities in the Group’s membership 
golf club and resort (the “Club”) in Beijing, 
Mainland China and are recognised on a 
reduc ing ba lance method for  which the 
membership is granted and the reducing rate 
is based on historical usage pattern of existing 
members.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue and other income recognition policies 
(Continued)

(vii) Property management income

Revenue is recognised over the scheduled 
per iod on the st ra ight- l ine  bas is  as  the 
cus tomer  s imu l t aneous l y  rece i ves  and 
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

(viii) Club activities

Club activities income is accounted for when 
the services are rendered.

(ix) Food and beverage

Food and beverage income is accounted for 
when the services are rendered.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or 
contains a lease based on the definition under 
HKFRS 16 at inception of the contract.  Such 
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms 
and conditions of the contract are subsequently 
changed.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a 
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component 
and one or more additional lease or non-lease 
components, the Group allocates the consideration 
in the contract to each lease component on the 
basis of the relative standalone price of the lease 
component and the aggregate stand-alone price 
of the non-lease components, including contract 
for acquisition of ownership interests of a property 
which includes both leasehold land and non-
lease building components, unless such allocation 
cannot be made reliably.

The Group appl ies practical expedient not to 
separa te  non- lease  components  f rom lease 
component, and instead account for the lease 
c o m p o n e n t  a n d  a n y  a s s o c i a t e d  n o n - l e a s e 
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition 
exception to leases that have a lease term of 12 
months or less from the commencement date and 
do not contain a purchase option. It also applies 
the recognition exemption for lease of low-value 
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

• the amount of the initial measurement of the 
lease liability;

• any  lease  payments  made  a t  o r  be fo re 
the commencement date,  less any lease 
incentives received;

• any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; 
and

• an estimate of costs to be incurred by the 
Group in  d ismant l ing  and remov ing the 
underlying assets, restoring the site on which 
it is located or restoring the underlying asset 
to the condition required by the terms and 
conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment 
properties and measured under fair value model, 
right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease 
liabilities.

R igh t -o f -use  asse ts  i n  wh ich  the  G roup  i s 
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the 
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease 
term is depreciated from commencement date to 
the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use 
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease 
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do 
not meet the definition of investment property as a 
separate line item on the consolidated statement 
of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet 
the definition of investment property are presented 
within “investment properties” respectively.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted 
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. 
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are 
considered as addit ional lease payments and 
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group 
recognises and measures the lease liability at the 
present value of lease payments that are unpaid 
at that date. In calculating the present value of 
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental 
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if 
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable.

The lease payments include:

• f ixed payments  ( inc lud ing in-substance 
fixed payments) less any lease incentives 
receivable;

• variable lease payments that depend on an 
index or a rate, initially measured using the 
index or rate as at the commencement date;

• amounts expected to be payable by the Group 
under residual value guarantees;

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the 
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the 
option; and

• payments of penalties for terminating a lease, 
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising 
the option to terminate the lease.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are 
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes 
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-
use assets) whenever:

• the lease term has changed or there is a 
change in the assessment of exercise of a 
purchase option, in which case the related 
lease liability is remeasured by discounting 
the revised lease payments using a revised 
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

• the lease payments change due to changes 
in market rental rates fol lowing a market 
rent review, in which cases the related lease 
l iabil ity is remeasured by discounting the 
rev ised lease payments us ing the in i t ia l 
discount rate.

• a lease contract is modified and the lease 
mod i f i ca t ion  i s  no t  accounted  fo r  as  a 
separate lease (see below for the accounting 
policy for “lease modifications”).

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate 
line item on the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a 
separate lease if:

• the modification increases the scope of the 
lease by adding the right to use one or more 
underlying assets; and

• the consideration for the leases increases by 
an amount commensurate with the standalone 
pr ice for  the increase in  scope and any 
appropriate adjustments to that standalone 
price to ref lect the circumstances of the 
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted 
for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures 
the lease liability based on the lease term of the 
modified lease by discounting the revised lease 
payments using a revised discount rate at the 
effective date of the modification.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease 
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to 
the relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modif ied contract contains a lease 
component and one or more additional lease or 
non-lease components, the Group allocates the 
consideration in the modified contract to each lease 
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone 
price of the lease component and the aggregate 
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases  fo r  wh ich  the  Group is  a  lessor  a re 
classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever 
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is 
classified as a finance lease. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

C l a s s i f i c a t i o n  a n d  m e a s u re m e n t  o f  l e a s e s 
(Continued)

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases 
are recognised as receivables at commencement 
date at amounts equal to net investments in the 
leases, measured using the interest rate implicit 
in  the  respect ive  leases.  In terest  income is 
allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a 
constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net 
investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised 
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the relevant lease. Init ial direct costs 
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating 
lease are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term 
except for investment properties measured under 
fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s 
ordinary course of business are presented as 
revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a 
contract

The Group appl ies  HKFRS 15 Revenue f rom 
Contracts  with Customers to allocate consideration 
in a contract to lease and non-lease components. 
Non-lease components are separated from lease 
components on the basis of their relative stand-
alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted 
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair 
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition 
are considered as additional lease payments from 
lessees.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor,  i t 
accounts for the head lease and the sublease as 
two separate contracts. The sublease is classified 
as a finance or operating lease by reference to the 
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not 
with reference to the underlying asset.

The Group uses the discount rate used for the 
head lease (adjusted for any initial direct costs 
associated with the sublease) to measure the 
net investment in the sublease i f  the interest 
rate implicit in the sublease cannot be readily 
determined.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that 
were not part of the original terms and conditions 
are accounted for as lease modifications, including 
lease incentives provided through forgiveness or 
reduction of rentals.

(i) Operating leases

The Group accounts for a modification to 
an operating lease as a new lease from the 
effective date of the modification, considering 
any prepaid or  accrued lease payments 
relating to the original lease as part of the 
lease payments for the new lease.

3.  

(i) 



123

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

For the year ended 31 December 2024  

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Lease modification (Continued)

(ii) Finance leases

The Group accounts for a lease modification 
as a separate lease if:

• the modification increases the scope of 
the lease by adding the right to use one 
or more underlying assets;and

• the consideration for the leases increases 
by an amount commensurate with the 
stand-alone price for the increase in 
scope and any appropriate adjustments 
to that stand-alone price to reflect the 
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a modification to a finance lease that is not 
accounted for as a separate lease, if the lease 
would have been classified as an operating 
lease had the modification been in effect 
at the inception date, the Group accounts 
for the lease modification as a new lease 
from the effective date of the modification; 
and measures the carrying amount of the 
underlying asset as the net investment in the 
lease immediately before the effective date of 
the lease modification. Otherwise, the Group 
accounts for the modification in accordance 
with the requirements of HKFRS 9. If  the 
change represents a substantial modification, 
the finance lease receivables of the original 
lease are derecognised and a derecognition 
gain or loss calculated using the revised lease 
payments discounted at the revised discount 
rate is recognised in profit or loss on the 
date of the modification. If the change does 
not represent a substantial modification, the 
Group continues to recognise the finance 
lease receivables in which such carrying 
amount wi l l  be calculated at the present 
value of the modified contractual cash flows 
discounted at the related receivables’ original 
discount rate. Any adjustment to the carrying 
amount is recognised in profit or loss at the 
effective date of modification.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the f inancial  statements of each 
individual group entity, transactions in currencies 
other than the functional currency of that entity 
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates 
o f  exchange  preva i l i ng  on  the  dates  o f  the 
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. 
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair 
value was determined. Non-monetary items that 
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on settlement of monetary 
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, 
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in 
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated 
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of 
the Group’s foreign operations are translated into 
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong 
Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevail ing 
at the end of each reporting period. Income and 
expense i tems are t ranslated at  the average 
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange 
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, 
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange 
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity 
under the heading of “exchange reserve” (attributed 
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable 
assets acquired ar is ing on an acquis i t ion of 
a foreign operation are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at 
the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each 
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are 
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs  d i rect ly  a t t r ibutab le  to  the 
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of 
those assets until such time as the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or 
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there 
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply 
with the conditions attaching to them and that the 
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss 
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the 
Group recognises as expenses the related costs for 
which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are 
receivable as compensat ion for  expenses or 
losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving 
immediate financial support to the Group with no 
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss 
in the period in which they become receivable. 
Such grants are presented under “Investment and 
other income”.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Employee benefits

Bonuses

The Group recognises a liability for bonuses when 
there is a contractual obligation and the amount 
can be estimated reliably.

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund 
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong 
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for 
those employees employed under the jurisdiction 
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The 
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution scheme, 
the assets of which are held in separate trustee-
administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its 
employees are each required to make contributions 
to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant 
income, with the employees’ contributions subject 
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. 
The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme are 
expensed as incurred. 5% of relevant income vests 
immediately upon the completion of service in the 
relevant service period, while the remaining portion 
vests in accordance with the MPF Scheme’s 
vesting scales. Where employees leave the MPF 
Scheme prior to the full vesting of the employer’s 
contributions, the amount of forfeited contributions 
is used to reduce the contributions payable by the 
Group.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the 
employer MPF contributions expected to be offset 
as a deemed employee contr ibut ion towards 
the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) 
and it is measure on a net basis. The estimated 
amount of  future benef i t  is  determined af ter 
deducting the negative service cost arising from 
the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s 
MPF contributions that have been vested with 
employees, which are deemed to be contributions 
from the relevant employees.

T h e  e m p l o y e e s  e m p l o y e d  b y  t h e  G r o u p ’s 
subsidiaries in the PRC are members of state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by 
the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are 
required to contribute a specific percentage of 
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to 
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group 
with respect to the retirement benefits schemes 
operated by the government of the PRC is to make 
the specified contributions under the schemes.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment 
transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees 
and others providing similar services are measured 
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the 
grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based 
payments determined at the grant date without 
taking into consideration all non-market vesting 
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over 
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate 
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with 
a corresponding increase in equity (equity-settled 
share-based payment reserve). At the end of each 
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of 
the number of equity instruments expected to vest 
based on assessment of all relevant non-market 
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the 
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or 
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the 
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment 
to the equity-settled share-based payment reserve. 
For share options that vest immediately at the date 
of grant, the fair value of the share options granted 
is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount 
previously recognised in equity-settled share-
based payment reserve will be transferred to share 
capital and share premium. When the share options 
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not 
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously 
recognised in equity-settled share-based payment 
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Share award granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 
with parties other than employees are measured 
at the fair value of the goods or services received, 
except where that fair value cannot be estimated 
reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair 
value of the equity instruments granted, measured 
at the date the entity obtains the goods or the 
counterparty renders the service. The fair values of 
the goods or services received are recognised as 
expenses (unless the goods or services qualify for 
recognition as assets).

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Awarded shares granted to employees

Where shares are purchase by the share award 
plan from the market, the total consideration of 
shares purchased from the market (including any 
directly attributable incremental costs) is presented 
as “shares held for the share award plan” and 
deducted from total equity.

Upon vesting, the related costs of the vested 
awarded shares purchased from the market are 
credited to “shares held for the share award plan”, 
with a corresponding decrease in the equity-settled 
share-based payment reserve for awarded shares.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current 
and deferred income tax expenses.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit 
for the year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before 
taxation” as reported in the profit or loss because 
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 
in other years and items that are never taxable or 
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period.

D e f e r r e d  t a x  i s  r e c o g n i s e d  o n  t e m p o r a r y 
di fferences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used 
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
generally recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits wil l  be available against which 
those deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are not recognised if the temporary difference 
arises from the initial recognition (other than in 
a business combination) of assets and liabilities 
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable 
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time 
of the transaction does not give rise to equal 
taxable and deductible temporary differences. In 
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised 
if the temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of goodwill.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable 
temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries and interests in associates, except 
where the Group is able to control the reversal of 
the temporary difference and it is probable that 
the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from 
deductible temporary differences associated with 
such investments and interests are only recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that there will be 
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the 
benefits of the temporary differences and they are 
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to 
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period in which the liability is settled or the asset 
is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and 
assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
follow from the manner in which the Group expects, 
at the end of the reporting period, to recover 
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and 
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxes for 
investment properties that are measured using 
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such 
properties are presumed to be recovered entirely 
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. 
The presumption is rebutted when investment 
properties are depreciable and is held within a 
business model whose objective is to consume 
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied 
in the investment property over time, rather than 
through sale.

3.  
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3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for 
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises 
the r ight-of-use assets and the related lease 
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the 
tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use 
assets or the lease liabilities.

F o r  l e a s i n g  t r a n s a c t i o n s  i n  w h i c h  t h e  t a x 
deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, 
the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the 
lease liabilities, and the related assets separately. 
The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related 
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which 
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised 
and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary 
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when 
they relate to income taxes levied to the same 
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or 
loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings 
held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, or for administrative purpose are stated 
in the consolidated statement of financial position 
at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if 
any.

Propert ies  in  the course of  construct ion for 
production, supply or administrative purposes are 
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment 
loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable 
to bringing the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management, including costs 
of testing whether the related assets is functioning 
properly, and, for qualifying assets, borrowing 
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, 
on the same basis as other property assets, 
commences when the assets are ready for their 
intended use.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership 
in te res ts  o f  p roper t ies  wh ich  inc ludes  both 
leasehold land and building elements, the entire 
consideration is allocated between the leasehold 
land and the building elements in proportion to the 
relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the  extent  the  a l locat ion  o f  the  re levant 
payments  can  be  made re l i ab ly,  i n te res t  i n 
leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” 
in the consolidated statement of financial position 
except for those that are classified and accounted 
for as investment properties under the fair value 
model. When the consideration cannot be allocated 
reliably between non-lease building element and 
undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, 
the entire properties are classified as property, 
plant and equipment.

If a property becomes an investment property 
because its use has changed as evidenced by end 
of owner-occupation, any difference between the 
carrying amount and the fair value of that item 
(including the relevant leasehold land classified 
as right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is 
recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On 
the subsequent sale or retirement of the property, 
the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred 
directly to accumulated losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the 
cost of assets other than construction in progress 
less their residual values over their estimated useful 
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated 
useful l ives, residual values and depreciat ion 
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate 
accounted for on a prospective basis. The principal 
annual rates are as follows:

Golf courses 3.33%
Buildings 3.33%-5%
Leasehold improvements 10%-33.33%
Office equipment 20%-33.33%
Motor vehicles 10%-25%
Furniture and fixtures 15%-33.33%
Plant and machineries 10%-33.33%

3.  

 3.33%
 3.33%-5%

 10%-33.33%
 20%-33.33%

 10%-25%
 15%-33.33%
 10%-33.33%



132 ETERNITY INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 December 2024  

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An i tem of  property,  p lant  and equipment is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected to arise from 
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss 
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is determined as 
the difference between the sales proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in 
profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn 
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

I nves tmen t  p rope r t i e s  a l so  i nc l ude  l eased 
properties which are being recognised as right-
of-use assets and subleased by the Group under 
operating leases.

Investment  propert ies are in i t ia l ly  measured 
a t  cos t ,  i nc lud ing  any  d i rec t l y  a t t r ibu tab le 
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investment properties are measured at their fair 
values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued 
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair 
value of investment properties are included in profit 
or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon 
disposal  or  when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. 
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the 
property (calculated as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the 
period in which the property is derecognised.

If a property becomes an owner-occupied property 
because its use has been changed as evidenced 
by commencement of owner-occupation, the fair 
value of the property at the date of change in use 
is considered as the deemed cost for subsequent 
accounting.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with f in i te useful  l ives that 
are acquired separately are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible 
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. 
The estimated useful life and amortisation method 
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, 
with the effect of any changes in estimate being 
accounted for on a prospective basis.

In tang ib le  assets  acqu i red  in  a  bus iness 
combination

I n t a n g i b l e  a s s e t s  a c q u i r e d  i n  a  b u s i n e s s 
combinat ion are recognised separate ly  f rom 
goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair 
value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as 
their cost).

Subsequent  to in i t ia l  recogni t ion,  intangib le 
assets acquired in a business combination with 
finite useful lives are reported at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible 
assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, 
or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from 
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset, and are 
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognised.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, 
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other 
than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group 
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant 
and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible 
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have 
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset 
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any).

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, 
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other 
than goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and 
equipment, r ight-of-use assets and intangible 
assets are estimated individually, when it is not 
possible to est imate the recoverable amount 
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In  tes t ing  a  CGU for  impa i rment ,  corporate 
assets are allocated to the relevant CGU when a 
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can 
be established, or otherwise they are allocated to 
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable 
and consistent allocation basis can be established. 
The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU 
or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset 
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount 
of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that ref lects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which 
the estimates of future cash flows have not been 
adjusted.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, 
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other 
than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is 
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced 
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets 
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be 
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a 
CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of 
a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts 
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate 
assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the 
recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In 
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss 
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 
of any goodwill ( if applicable) and then to the 
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the 
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the 
group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset 
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value 
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in 
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the 
impairment loss that would otherwise have been 
allocated to the asset is allocated pro-rata to the 
other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, 
the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a 
group of CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate 
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a 
CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

3.  
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3.  

(a) 

(b) 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the 
consol idated statement of  f inancia l  posi t ion 
include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and 
demand deposits, excluding bank balances 
that are subject to regulatory restrictions that 
result in such balances no longer meeting the 
definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term (generally with original maturity of three 
months or less), highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to a known amount of 
cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are 
held for the purpose of meeting short-term 
cash commitments rather than for investment 
or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of 
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of 
cash and cash equivalents as defined above.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and 
net real isable value. Costs of inventories are 
determined using the first-in, first-out or weighted 
average method as appropriate. Net realisable 
value represents the estimated selling price for 
inventories less all estimated costs of completion 
and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs 
necessary to make the sale include incremental 
costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to 
make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount 
of those inventories is recognised as cost of 
sales in the period in which the related revenue 
is recognised. The amount of any write-down of 
inventories to net realisable value and all losses of 
inventories are recognised as cost of sales in the 
period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount 
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories 
is offset against the cost of sales in the period in 
which the reversal occurs.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has 
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group 
will be required to settle the obligation, and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provis ion is the 
best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at the end of the 
reporting period, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When 
a provision is measured using the cash f lows 
estimated to sett le the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash 
flows (where the effect of the time value of money 
is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required 
to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an 
asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will 
be received and the amount of the receivable can 
be measured reliably.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other 
unexpected events that give rise to the possibility 
of an inflow of economic benefits to the Group 
and they are not recognised in the consolidated 
f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s .  T h e  G ro u p  a s s e s s e s 
con t i nua l l y  t he  deve lopment  o f  con t i ngen t 
assets. If it has become virtually certain that an 
inflow of economic benefits will arise, the Group 
recognises the asset and the related income in the 
consolidated financial statements in the reporting 
period in which the change occurs.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 
(Continued)

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising 
from past events but is not recognised because 
it is not probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation 
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for 
an obligation, the part of the obligation that is 
expected to be met by other parties is treated as 
a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continual ly to determine 
whether  an out f low of  resources embodying 
economic benef i ts  has become probable .  I f 
it becomes probable that an outflow of future 
economic benefits will be required for an item 
previously dealt with as a contingent l iabil i ty, 
a provision is recognised in the consol idated 
financial statements in the reporting period in 
which the change in probability occurs, except in 
the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable 
estimate can be made.

Financial instruments

Financ ia l  assets  and f inanc ia l  l iab i l i t ies  are 
recognised when a group entity becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All 
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets 
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date/
settlement date basis. Regular way purchases or 
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 
that require delivery of assets within the time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the 
market place.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value except for trade receivables 
arising from contracts with customers which are 
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. 
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and 
financial liabilities (other than financial assets at 
FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair 
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, 
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction 
costs d i rect ly  at t r ibutable to the acquis i t ion 
of  f inancia l  assets  at  FVTPL are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

The effect ive interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset 
or f inancial  l iabi l i ty and of al locating interest 
income and interest expense over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
and payments ( inc luding a l l  fees and points 
paid or received that form an integral part of the 
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 
premiums or discounts) through the expected life 
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of 
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business 
m o d e l  w h o s e  o b j e c t i v e  i s  t o  c o l l e c t 
contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of pr incipal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

3.  

15

• 

• 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of 
financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

• the financial asset is held within a business 
model whose objective is achieved by both 
selling and collecting contractual cash flows; 
and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of pr incipal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

A l l  o the r  f i nanc ia l  asse ts  a re  subsequent l y 
measured at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

• i t  has been acqui red pr inc ipa l ly  for  the 
purpose of selling in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio 
of identified financial instruments that the 
Group manages together and has a recent 
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and 
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate 
a financial asset that are required to be measured 
at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured 
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly 
reduces an accounting mismatch.

3.  

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of 
financial assets (Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest  income is  recognised us ing the 
effective interest method for financial assets 
measured subsequently at amortised cost. 
Interest income is calculated by applying 
the  e f fec t i ve  in te res t  ra te  to  the  g ross 
carrying amount of a financial asset, except 
for financial assets that have subsequently 
become credit- impaired (see below).  For 
f inancia l  assets  that  have subsequent ly 
become credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest 
rate to the amortised cost of the financial 
asset from the next reporting period. If the 
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial 
instrument improves so that the f inancial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest 
income is recognised by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of 
the financial asset from the beginning of the 
reporting period following the determination 
that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

(ii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI 
are subsequently measured at fair value with 
gains and losses arising from changes in fair 
value recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in  the FVTOCI 
reserve; and are not subject to impairment 
assessment. The cumulat ive gain or loss 
will not be reclassified to profit or loss on 
disposal of the equity investments, and will 
be transferred to accumulated losses/wil l 
continue to be held in the FVTOCI reserve.

Dividends from these investments in equity 
ins t ruments  a re  recogn ised in  p ro f i t  o r 
loss when the Group’s right to receive the 
dividends is established, unless the dividends 
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost 
of the investment. Dividends are included in 
the “Investment and other income” line item in 
profit or loss.

3.  

(i) 

(ii) 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of 
financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria 
f o r  be i ng  measu red  a t  amor t i sed  cos t 
or  FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair 
value at the end of each reporting period, with 
any fair value gains or losses recognised in 
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised 
in profit or loss excludes any dividend or 
interest earned on the financial asset and is 
included in the “Other gains and losses” line 
item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment 
under expected credit  loss (“ECL”)  model on 
financial assets (including loan receivables, trade 
receivables, deposits and other receivables and 
bank balances), and other items (including finance 
lease receivables and financial guarantee contract) 
which are subject to impairment assessment under 
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at the end 
of each reporting period to reflect changes in credit 
risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result 
from all possible default events over the expected 
l i f e  o f  the  re levant  ins t rument .  In  cont ras t , 
12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime 
ECL that is expected to result from default events 
that  are possible with in 12 months af ter  the 
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the 
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted 
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general 
economic conditions and an assessment of both 
the current conditions at the end of the reporting 
period as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises l ifetime ECL for 
trade receivables without significant f inancing 
component.

3.  

(iii) 

9

12
12
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the 
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless 
when there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises 
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime 
ECL should be recognised is based on significant 
increases in the l ikelihood or risk of a default 
occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit  r isk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Group compares the risk of a default 
occurring on the financial instrument as at 
the reporting period with the risk of a default 
occurring on the financial instrument as at 
the date of in i t ia l  recognit ion. In making 
this assessment, the Group considers both 
quantitative and qualitative information that 
is reasonable and supportable, including 
historical experience and forward-looking 
information that is available without undue 
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken 
into account when assessing whether credit 
risk has increased significantly:

• a n  a c t u a l  o r  e x p e c t e d  s i g n i f i c a n t 
deterioration in the financial instrument’s 
external (if available) or internal credit 
rating;

• s ign i f icant  deter iorat ion in  externa l 
market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a 
significant increase in the credit spread, 
the credit default swap prices for the 
debtor;

• existing or forecast adverse changes 
in  bus iness ,  f i nanc ia l  o r  economic 
conditions that are expected to cause a 
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability 
to meet its debt obligations;

3.  

12

(i) 

• 

• 

• 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

• a n  a c t u a l  o r  e x p e c t e d  s i g n i f i c a n t 
deterioration in the operating results of 
the debtor; and

• an actual or expected significant adverse 
change in the regulatory, economic, or 
technological environment of the debtor 
that results in a signif icant decrease 
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above 
assessment, the Group presumes that the 
credit risk has increased significantly since 
initial recognition when contractual payments 
are more than 180 days past due, unless 
the Group has reasonable and supportable 
information that demonstrates otherwise.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date 
that  the  Group becomes a  par ty  to  the 
irrevocable commitment is considered to be 
the date of initial recognition for the purposes 
of assessing the f inancial  instrument for 
impairment. In assessing whether there has 
been a significant increase in the credit risk 
since initial recognition of financial guarantee 
contracts, the Group considers the changes in 
the risk that the specified debtor will default 
on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness 
of the criteria used to identify whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk 
and revises them as appropriate to ensure 
that the criteria are capable of identifying 
significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.

3.  

(i) 

• 

• 

180
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Definition of default

For internal  credit  r isk management,  the 
Group considers an event of default occurs 
when information developed internal ly or 
obtained from external sources indicates that 
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, 
including the Group, in full (without taking into 
account any collaterals held by the Group).

I r r e s p e c t i v e  o f  t h e  a b o v e ,  t h e  G r o u p 
considers that default has occurred when 
(i) a trade receivable is more than 240 days 
past due unless the Group has reasonable 
and supportable information to demonstrate 
that a more lagging default criterion is more 
appropriate, and (ii) the credit quality of a loan 
receivable is classified as significant increase 
in credit risk or credit-impaired in accordance 
with the Group’s credit rating system.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A f inancial asset is credit- impaired when 
one or more events of default that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future 
cash  f lows o f  tha t  f inanc ia l  asset  have 
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is 
credit- impaired includes observable data 
about the following events:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer 
or the borrower;

• a breach of contract, such as a default or 
past due event;

3.  

(ii) 

(i)
240

(ii)

(iii) 

• 

• 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

• t h e  l e n d e r ( s )  o f  t h e  b o r ro w e r,  f o r 
economic or contractual reasons relating 
to the borrower’s f inancial  diff iculty, 
h a v i n g  g r a n t e d  t o  t h e  b o r ro w e r  a 
concession(s) that the lender(s) would 
not otherwise consider;

• it is becoming probable that the borrower 
will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation; or

• the disappearance of an active market for 
that financial asset because of financial 
difficulties.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when 
there  i s  in fo rmat ion  ind ica t ing  tha t  the 
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty 
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, 
for example, when the counterparty has been 
placed under liquidation or has entered into 
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of (i) 
trade receivables, when the amounts are over 
270 days past due, (ii) loan receivables, when 
the credit quality are classified as credit-
impaired in accordance with the Group’s 
credit rating system, and (iii) other receivables, 
when the other receivables become credit-
impaired financial assets, whichever occurs 
sooner. Financial assets written off may still 
be subject to enforcement activities under 
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into 
account legal advice where appropriate. A 
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. 
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in 
profit or loss.

3.  

(iii) 

• 

• 

• 

(iv) 

(i)
270 (ii)

(iii)
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the 
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. 
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) 
and the exposure at default. The assessment 
of the probability of default and loss given 
default is based on historical data adjusted 
by forward-looking information. Estimation 
of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the 
respective risks of default occurring as the 
weights. The Group uses a practical expedient 
in estimating ECL on trade receivables using 
a provision matrix taking into consideration 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for 
forward looking information that is available 
without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between 
all contractual cash flows that are due to the 
Group in accordance with the contract and 
the cash flows that the Group expects to 
receive, discounted at the effective interest 
rate determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group 
is required to make payments only in the event 
of a default by the debtor in accordance with 
the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. 
Accordingly, the ECL is the present value 
of the expected payments to reimburse the 
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any 
amounts that the Group expects to receive 
from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on f inancial guarantee contracts 
for which the effective interest rate cannot 
be  de te rm ined ,  the  Group  w i l l  app ly  a 
discount rate that reflects the current market 
assessment of the time value of money and 
the risks that are specific to the cash flows 
but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are 
taken into account by adjusting the discount 
rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls 
being discounted.

3.  

(v) 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

L i f e t ime  ECL  fo r  t r ade  rece i vab les  a re 
considered on a collective basis taking into 
cons iderat ion past  due in format ion and 
relevant credit information such as forward-
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes 
into consideration the following characteristics 
when formulating the grouping:

• Past-due status;

• Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

• External credit ratings where available.

The  g roup i ng  i s  regu l a r l y  re v i ew ed  by 
management to ensure the constituents of 
each group continue to share similar credit 
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the 
gross carrying amount of the financial asset 
unless the financial asset is credit impaired, 
in which case interest income is calculated 
based on amort ised cost of the f inancial 
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain 
or  loss in  prof i t  or  loss for  a l l  f inanc ia l 
ins t ruments  by  ad jus t ing  the i r  car ry ing 
a m o u n t ,  w i t h  t h e  e x c e p t i o n  o f  l o a n 
receivables, trade and other receivables where 
the corresponding adjustment is recognised 
through a loss allowance account.

3.  

(v) 

• 

• 

• 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or 
loss.

On derecogni t ion of  an investment in  equi ty 
instrument which the Group has elected on initial 
recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative 
gain or loss previously accumulated in the FVTOCI 
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is 
transferred to accumulated losses.

A modi f icat ion of  a  f inancia l  asset  occurs i f 
the contractual cash flows are renegotiated or 
otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are 
modified, the Group assesses whether the revised 
terms result in a substantial modification from 
original terms taking into account all relevant facts 
and circumstances including qualitative factors. If 
qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group 
considers the terms are substantially different if the 
discounted present value of the cash flows under 
the new terms, including any fees paid net of any 
fees received, and discounted using the original 
effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent 
different from the discounted present value of the 
remaining cash flows of the original financial asset, 
after reducing gross carrying amount that has been 
written off.

3.  

10%
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition/modification of f inancial assets 
(Continued)

For non-substantial modif ications of f inancial 
assets that do not result in derecognition, the 
carrying amount of the relevant financial assets will 
be calculated at the present value of the modified 
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial 
assets’ original effective interest rate. Transaction 
costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying 
amount of  the modif ied f inancia l  assets and 
are  amort ised over  the remain ing term.  Any 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial 
asset is recognised in profit or loss at the date of 
modification.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group 
entity are classified as either financial liabilities 
or equity instruments according to the substance 
of the contractual arrangements entered into and 
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity 
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences 
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments 
issued by the Company are recognised at the 
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

R e p u rc h a s e  o f  t h e  C o m p a n y ’s  o w n  e q u i t y 
instruments is recognised and deducted directly 
in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or 
loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of 
the Company’s own equity instruments.

3.  
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial l iabil i t ies and equity instruments 
(Continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using effective interest method or at 
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when 
the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration 
of an acquirer in a business combination to which 
HKFRS 3 applies, (ii) held for trading or (iii) it is 
designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

• i t  has been acqui red pr inc ipa l ly  for  the 
purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of 
identified financial instruments that the Group 
manages together and has a recent actual 
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is 
a financial guarantee contract or a designated 
and effective hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability 
held for trading or contingent consideration of 
an acquirer in a business combination may be 
designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

• such designation eliminates or significantly 
reduces  a  measurement  o r  recogn i t ion 
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

• the financial liability forms part of a group 
of financial assets or financial liabilities or 
both, which is managed and its performance 
i s  e v a l u a t e d  o n  a  f a i r  v a l u e  b a s i s ,  i n 
accordance with the Group’s documented 
risk management or investment strategy, and 
information about the grouping is provided 
internally on that basis; or

3.  

(i)
3

(ii) (iii)

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial l iabil i t ies and equity instruments 
(Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

• it forms part of a contract containing one or 
more embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 
permits the entire combined contract to be 
designated as at FVTPL.

For financial liabilities that are designated as at 
FVTPL, the amount of changes in the fair value of 
the financial liability that is attributable to changes 
in the credit risk of that liability is recognised in 
other comprehensive income, unless the recognition 
of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk 
in other comprehensive income would create or 
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial  l iabi l i t ies including trade payables, 
deposit received, accruals and other payables, 
bank borrowings, other borrowings, lease liabilities, 
guaranteed secured notes ,  amounts  due  to 
associates and amounts due to directors are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest method.

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecogn ises  f inanc ia l  l iab i l i t ies 
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations 
a re  d ischarged,  cance l led  o r  have  exp i red . 
The di fference between the carry ing amount 
of the f inancial l iabi l i ty derecognised and the 
consideration paid and payable is recognised in 
profit or loss.

3.  

• 

9
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial l iabil i t ies and equity instruments 
(Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities 
(Continued)

When the contractual terms of a financial liability 
are modified, the Group assess whether the revised 
terms result in a substantial modification from 
original terms taking into account all relevant facts 
and circumstances including qualitative factors. 
If qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the 
Group considers that the terms are substantially 
different if the discounted present value of the 
cash flows under the new terms, including any 
fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted 
using the original effective interest rate, is at least 
10 per cent different from the discounted present 
value of the remaining cash flows of the original 
financial liability. Accordingly, such modification of 
terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any 
costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the 
gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange 
or modification is considered as non-substantial 
modification when such difference is less than 10 
per cent.

For non-substantial modif ications of f inancial 
liabilities that do not result in derecognition, the 
carrying amount of the relevant financial liabilities 
wil l  be calculated at the present value of the 
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the 
financial liabilities’ original effective interest rate. 
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted 
to the carrying amount of the modified financial 
liabilities and are amortised over the remaining 
term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the 
financial liability is recognised in profit or loss at 
the date of modification.

3.  

10%
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial guarantee contract

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that 
requires the issuers to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a 
specified debtor fails to make payment when due 
in accordance with the original or modified terms 
of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract 
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. 
It is subsequently measured at the higher of:

• the amount of the loss allowance determined 
in accordance with HKFRS 9; and

• the amount initially recognised less, where 
a p p r o p r i a t e ,  c u m u l a t i v e  a m o r t i s a t i o n 
recognised over the guarantee period.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at 
the date when derivative contracts are entered into 
and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value 
at the end of the reporting period. The resulting 
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset 
or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity 
of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is 
not due to be realised or settled within 12 months. 
Other derivatives are presented as current assets 
or current liabilities.

Offsetting a f inancial asset and a f inancial 
liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset 
and the net amount presented in the consolidated 
statement of financial position when, and only 
when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable 
r ight to set off  the recognised amounts;  and 
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

3.  

• 9

• 
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12
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties transactions

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s 
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control  or jo int  control  over the 
Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; 
or

(iii) is a member of the key management 
personnel of the Group or the Group’s 
parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the 
following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of 
the same group (which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary 
is related to the others);

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture 
of the other entity (or an associate or 
joint venture of a member of a group of 
which the other entity is a member);

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the 
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third 
entity and the other entity is an associate 
of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit 
plan for the benefit  of employees of 
either the Group or an entity related to 
the Group;

(vi) t h e  e n t i t y  i s  c o n t ro l l e d  o r  j o i n t l y 
controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant 
influence over the entity or is a member 
of the key management personnel of the 
entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

3.  

(a) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(b) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

(vi) (a)

(vii) (a)(i)
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties transactions (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the 
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group 
o f  wh ich  i t  i s  a  pa r t ,  p rov ides  key 
management personnel services to the 
Group or to the Group’s parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of 
resources, services or obligations between 
the Group and a related party, regardless of 
whether a price is charged.

Close members of the family of a person are 
those family members who may be expected 
to influence, or be influenced by, that person 
in their dealings with the entity.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS

In the appl icat ion of  the Group’s account ing 
pol ic ies,  which are descr ibed in  note 3,  the 
d i rectors  are  requ i red to  make judgements , 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered 
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an on-going basis.  Revis ions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart 
from those involving estimations (see below), that 
the directors have made in the process of applying 
the Group’s accounting policies and that have the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements.

3.  

(b) 

(viii) 

4.  

3



157

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

For the year ended 31 December 2024  

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising 
from investment properties that are measured using 
the fair value model, the directors have reviewed 
the Group’s investment property portfolios and 
concluded that the Group’s investment properties 
are not  he ld under  a  business model  whose 
objective is to consume substantially all of the 
economic benefits embodied in the investment 
properties over time. Therefore, in determining the 
Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties, 
the directors have determined that the presumption 
that the carrying amounts of investment properties 
measured using the fair value model are recovered 
entirely through sale is not rebutted. The Group 
has not recognised any deferred tax on changes in 
fair value of investment properties located in Hong 
Kong as the Group is not subject to any income 
taxes on the fair value changes of the investment 
properties located in Hong Kong on disposal.

Principal versus agent consideration (principal)

The Group engages in trading of jewelry products. 
The Group reassessed whether the Group should 
continue to recognise revenue on gross basis 
based on the requirements in HKFRS 15. The Group 
concluded that the Group acts as the principal for 
such transactions as it controls the specified good 
before it is transferred to the customer after taking 
into consideration indicators such as the Group is 
primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to 
provide the goods and the Group has inventory 
risk.

4. 

15
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning 
the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that 
may have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and 
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible 
asset

Proper ty,  p lant  and equipment ,  r ight-of-use 
assets and intangible asset are stated at costs 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if 
any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, 
the Group has to exercise judgement and make 
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether 
an event has occurred or any indicators that may 
affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value 
of an asset can be supported by the recoverable 
amount, in the case of value in use, the net present 
value of future cash flows which are estimated 
based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) 
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in 
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash 
flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. 
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of an individual asset (including right-of-
use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the CGU to which the assets belong, 
including allocation of corporate assets when a 
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can 
be established, otherwise recoverable amount 
is determined at the smallest group of CGUs, 
for which the relevant corporate assets have 
been allocated. Changing the assumptions and 
estimates, including the discount rates or the 
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could 
materially affect the recoverable amounts. Details 
of the impairment of property, plant and equipment, 
r ight-of-use assets and intangible assets are 
disclosed in note 24.

4. 

(1)

(2)

(3)

24
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires 
an estimation of the recoverable amount of the 
CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has 
been allocated, which is the higher of the value in 
use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value in 
use calculation requires the Group to estimate the 
future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU 
(or a group of CGUs) and a suitable discount rate 
in order to calculate the present value. Where the 
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or 
change in facts and circumstances which results in 
downward revision of future cash flows or upward 
revision of discount rate, a material impairment 
loss or further impairment loss may arise. Details of 
the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in 
note 24.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments 
under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy

As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s 
financial assets including unlisted equity securities 
amounted to HK$Nil (2023: HK$8,645,000) are 
measured at  fa i r  va lue wi th  fa i r  va lue be ing 
determined based on significant unobservable 
inputs using valuation techniques. Judgement 
and estimation are required in establishing the 
relevant valuation techniques and the relevant 
inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to 
these factors could affect the reported fair value 
of these financial assets. See note 54 for further 
disclosures.

4. 

24

3

8,645,000

54
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
(Continued)

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value 
based on the market values, being the estimated 
amount for which properties could be exchanged 
on the date of valuation between a willing buyer 
and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction 
or the valuation performed by an independent 
valuer. In determining the fair value, the valuer 
has based on method of valuation which involves 
certain estimates and assumptions. In relying 
on the valuation report,  the management has 
exercised their judgement and is satisfied that 
the method of valuation is reflective of the current 
market conditions. Should there be any changes in 
assumptions due to change of market conditions, 
the fair value of the investment properties will be 
adjusted accordingly.

Provision of ECL for financial assets

The Group makes loss allowance on receivables 
based on various factors including the aging of 
the receivables, historical write-off experience and 
forward-looking information. The identification 
of impairment of receivables requires the use of 
judgement and estimates. Where the expectations 
are different from the original estimates, such 
di fferences wi l l  impact the carry ing amounts 
of receivables and the al lowance for ECL on 
receivables is recognised in the years in which 
such estimates have been changed. See note 54 
for further discussion.

4. 

54
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5. OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group’s  operat ing segments  have been 
determined based on the information reported to 
the Chairman of the board of directors, being the 
chief operating decision maker, that is used for 
performance assessment and to make strategic 
decisions. The Group’s operating businesses are 
structured and managed separately according to 
the nature of their operations and the products 
and services they provide. Each of the Group’s 
operating segments represents a strategic business 
unit that offers products and services which are 
subject to risks and returns that are different from 
those of other operating segments. The Group 
currently has five operating segments:

(a) Property 
investment

Leasing of rental 
properties and property 
management

(b) Sale of financial 
assets

Sale of financial assets at 
FVTPL

(c) Money lending Money lending

(d) Sale of jewelry 
products

Design and sale of jewelry 
products

(e) Golf club 
operation

Golf club operation

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the 
Group commenced a business by engaging in 
golf club operation and it is considered as a new 
operating and reportable segment by the chief 
operating decision maker.

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment 
revenue, results,  assets,  l iabi l i t ies and other 
se lected f inanc ia l  in format ion  fo r  the  years 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 by operating 
segments are as follows:

5. 

(a)  

(b)
 

(c)

(d)  

(e)  
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5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Segment revenues and results

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Property
investment

Sale of
financial

assets
Money

lending

Sale
of jewelry
products

Golf club
operation Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Segment revenue 9,104 (7,637) 21,046 69,284 132,176 223,973
        

Segment (loss)/profit (278,118) (24,818) (20,162) 432 14,048 (308,618)
       

Interest income on bank deposits 292
Unallocated corporate income 459
Unallocated corporate expenses (27,438)
Finance costs (71,863)
Share of results of associates (869)

 

Loss before taxation (408,037)
Income tax expense (7,662)

 

Loss for the year (415,699)
 

5. 
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5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Property
investment

Sale of
financial

assets
Money

lending

Sale
of jewelry
products

Golf club
operation Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Segment revenue 48,206 4,165 31,474 83,421 29,428 196,694
        

Segment (loss)/profit (52,446) (6,508) (124,120) 2,730 (7,235) (187,579)
       

Interest income on bank deposits 304
Unallocated corporate income 33,854
Unallocated corporate expenses (4,098)
Finance costs (66,603)
Share of results of associates (31,914)

 

Loss before taxation (256,036)
Income tax expense (19,116)

 

Loss for the year (275,152)
 

Segment revenue reported above represents 
revenue generated from external customers. There 
were no inter-segment sales in both years.

Segment results represent (loss incurred)/profit 
earned by each segment without allocation of 
central administrative expenses including directors’ 
emoluments, share of results of associates, certain 
investment and other income, certain other gains 
and losses, finance costs and income tax expense. 
This is the measure reported to the Chairman 
of the board of directors for the purposes of 
resource allocation and assessment of segment 
performance.

5. 
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5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

At 31 December 2024

Property
investment

Sale of
financial

assets
Money

lending

Sale
of jewelry
products

Golf club
operation Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Segment assets
– Hong Kong – 284,481 64,337 214,946 66,985 – 630,749
– The PRC – 1,582,457 – – – 363,843 1,946,300

      

1,866,938 64,337 214,946 66,985 363,843 2,577,049
     

Unallocated corporate  
assets 22,274

 

Consolidated total assets 2,599,323
 

Segment liabilities
– Hong Kong – (93,777) (97,985) (11,046) (13,152) – (215,960)
– The PRC – (505,447) – – – (334,840) (840,287)

      

(599,224) (97,985) (11,046) (13,152) (334,840) (1,056,247)
     

Unallocated corporate liabilities (490,430)
 

Consolidated total liabilities (1,546,677)
 

5. 
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5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

At 31 December 2023

Property
investment

Sale of
financial

assets
Money

lending

Sale
of jewelry
products

Golf club
operation Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Segment assets
– Hong Kong – 370,232 105,993 300,334 71,645 – 848,204
– The PRC – 1,835,368 – – – 366,702 2,202,070

      

2,205,600 105,993 300,334 71,645 366,702 3,050,274
     

Unallocated corporate  
assets 24,299

 

Consolidated total assets 3,074,573
 

Segment liabilities
– Hong Kong – (98,210) (103,707) (8,552) (20,153) – (230,622)
– The PRC – (556,328) – – – (310,279) (866,607)

      

(654,538) (103,707) (8,552) (20,153) (310,279) (1,097,229)
     

Unallocated corporate liabilities (475,773)
 

Consolidated total liabilities (1,573,002)
 

F o r  t h e  p u r p o s e s  o f  m o n i t o r i n g  s e g m e n t 
performance and allocating resources between 
segments:

– all assets are allocated to operating segments 
other than interests in associates, certain 
financial assets at FVTPL, certain deposits, 
prepayments, other receivables and cash 
and cash equivalents that are not attributable 
to individual segments. Assets used jointly 
by individual segments are allocated on the 
basis of the revenues earned by individual 
segments; and

– a l l  l i ab i l i t ies  a re  a l located to  operat ing 
segments other than certain bank borrowings, 
c e r t a i n  o t h e r  b o r ro w i n g s ,  g u a r a n t e e d 
secured notes, certain accruals and other 
payables, certain tax payables, amounts due 
to associates and amounts due to directors 
and related party that are not attributable 
to individual segments. Liabilities for which 
segments are jointly liable are allocated in 
proportion to segment assets.

5. 

– 

– 
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5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Property
investment

Sale of
financial

assets
Money

lending

Sale
of jewelry
products

Golf club
operation Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Amount included in the 
measure of segment 
(loss)/profit and segment 
assets

Additions to property, plant 
and equipment 40,409 – – – 1,169 41,578

Allowance for ECL on loan 
receivables – – (37,854) – – (37,854)

Allowance for ECL on trade 
receivables – – – (1,902) – (1,902)

Amortisation of intangible 
assets (15,634) – – – (1,421) (17,055)

Depreciation of property, 
plant and equipment (13,429) – – (11) (13,177) (26,617)

Depreciation of right-of-use 
assets – – – (304) (5,757) (6,061)

Loss on disposals of niches (2,293) – – – – (2,293)
Gain on disposals of 

residential serviced 
apartments

 

6,295 – – – – 6,295
Imputed interest income on 

finance lease receivables 17,953 – – – – 17,953
Loss arising on change in fair 

value of financial assets at 
FVTPL – (16,904) – – – (16,904)

Loss arising on change in 
fair value of investment 
properties (50,911) – – – – (50,911)

Impairment loss on property, 
plant and equipment (12,659) – – – – (12,659)

Written-off of property, plant 
and equipment – – – – (19) (19)

       

5. 
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5. 5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Property
investment

Sale of
financial

assets
Money

lending

Sale
of jewelry
products

Golf club
operation Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Amount included in the 
measure of segment 
(loss)/profit and segment 
assets

Additions to property, plant 
and equipment 65,517 – – 23 3,383 68,923

Allowance for ECL on loan 
receivables – – (132,972) – – (132,972)

Allowance for ECL on trade 
receivables – – – (120) – (120)

Amortisation of intangible 
assets (16,975) – – – (360) (17,335)

Depreciation of property, 
plant and equipment (22,509) – – (13) (3,310) (25,832)

Depreciation of right-of-use 
assets (4,371) – – (280) (1,457) (6,108)

Gain on disposals of niches 74 – – – – 74
Gain on disposals of 

residential serviced 
apartments

 

18,411 – – – – 18,411
Imputed interest income on 

finance lease receivables 20,329 – – – – 20,329
Interest income on other 

receivables 410 – – – – 410
Loss arising on change in fair 

value of financial assets at 
FVTPL – (11,036) – – – (11,036)

Loss arising on change in 
fair value of investment 
properties (2,026) – – – – (2,026)

Reversal of allowance for 
ECL on other receivables 363 – – – – 363

Reversal of impairment loss 
on property, plant and 
equipment 1,600 – – – – 1,600

Written-off of property, plant 
and equipment – – – – (259) (259)
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5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Geographical information

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the 
PRC. The Group’s revenue from external customers 
and information about its non-current assets by 
geographical location are detailed below:

Revenue from external 
customers Non-current assets

  

2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Asia 361 – – –
Australia 1,637 1,142 – –
Europe 8,039 8,505 – –
Hong Kong 76,446 113,735 283,035 369,566
Middle East 196 – – –
North America 74 40 – –
The PRC 137,220 73,272 1,627,112 1,862,063
      

223,973 196,694 1,910,147 2,231,629
       

Note:

Non-current assets excluded deferred tax assets, equity 
instruments at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL and finance 
lease receivables.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding 
years contributing over 10% of the total revenue of 
the Group are as follows:

For the year ended
31 December

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Customer 11 11 N/A * 33,205
Customer 22 22 – 27,526
Customer 41 41 N/A * 20,934
     

1 Revenue from sale of jewelry products.
2 Revenue from property investment.
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 

10% of the total revenue of the Group.

5. 

10%

1 
2 
* 10%
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6. REVENUE

For the year ended
31 December

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Disaggregation of revenue from 
contracts with customers within 
the scope of HKFRS 15

15  
 

Disaggregated by types of goods and 
services

Sale of jewelry products 69,284 83,421
Club activities 65,529 10,871
Food and beverage 15,328 4,314
Membership fees 34,375 24,718
Property management 1,723 1,576
    

186,239 124,900

Revenue from other sources
Sale of financial assets at FVTPL, net

(7,637) 4,165
Rental income 24,325 36,155
Interest income on loans 21,046 31,474
    

Total revenue 223,973 196,694
    

Timing of revenue recognition
– a point in time – 150,141 98,606
– over time – 36,098 26,294
    

Revenue from contracts with 
customers 186,239 124,900

    

6. 
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6. REVENUE (Continued)

Revenue from sale of financial assets at FVTPL is 
recorded on a net basis, details of which are as 
follows:

For the year ended
31 December

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Proceeds from sale of financial assets 
at FVTPL 11,242 29,786

Carrying amounts of financial assets at 
FVTPL sold plus transaction costs

(18,879) (25,621)
    

(7,637) 4,165
     

7. INVESTMENT AND OTHER INCOME

For the year ended
31 December

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Dividend income 459 1,142
Imputed interest income on finance 

lease receivables
 

17,953 20,329
Interest income on bank deposits 292 304
Interest income on other receivables — 410
Sundry income 396 424
    

19,100 22,609
     

6. 

7. 
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8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

For the year ended
31 December

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

(Loss)/gain on disposals of niches (2,293) 74
Gain on disposals of residential 

serviced apartments 6,395 18,411
(Loss)/gain on modification of terms of 

guaranteed secured notes
 

(22,885) 33,445
Impairment loss on goodwill (189,029) (51,779)
Loss arising on change in fair value of 

financial assets at FVTPL (16,904) (11,036)
Loss arising on change in fair value of 

investment properties (50,911) (2,026)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of  

impairment loss on property, plant 
and equipment

 

(12,659) 1,600
Written-off of property, plant and 

equipment (19) (259)
   

(288,305) (11,570)
     

8. 
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8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES (Continued)

G a i n  o n  d i s p o s a l s  o f  r e s i d e n t i a l  s e r v i c e d 
apartments is recorded on a net basis, details of 
which are as follows:

For the year ended
31 December

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Discounted proceeds from disposals of 
residential serviced apartments (net 
of value-added tax) 19,303 48,585

Related assets of the relevant 
residential serviced apartments 
recorded in property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets, and 
right-of-use assets disposed of

 
 
 

(12,908) (30,174)
    

6,395 18,411
     

9. ALLOWANCE FOR EXPECTED CREDIT 
LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

For the year ended
31 December

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

(Reversal of allowance)/allowance for 
ECL on loan receivables:

 

– 12 months ECL – 12 (330) 3,802
– lifetime ECL credit-impaired – 

38,184 129,170
    

37,854 132,972
Reversal of allowance for ECL on other 

receivables:
– 12 months ECL – 12 – (363)
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables

1,902 120
    

39,756 132,729
    

8. 

9. 
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10. FINANCE COSTS

For the year ended
31 December

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Interest on amount due to an associate 676 493
Interest on amounts due to directors 

and related party
 

5,567 1,047
Interest on bank borrowings 7,435 8,045
Interest on lease liabilities 13,795 14,035
Interest on other borrowings 24,099 21,241
Interest on others 11 11
Interest on guaranteed secured notes 7,155 –
Imputed interest on guaranteed 

secured notes 21,688 30,362
    

80,426 75,234
Less: interest on lease liabilities 

capitalised in the cost of 
qualifying assets (8,563) (8,631)

    

71,863 66,603
     

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

For the year ended
31 December

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax
– current tax – (4,481) (1,817)
Deferred tax expense (3,181) (17,299)
    

(7,662) (19,116)
     

10. 

11. 
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the 
first HK$2,000,000 of profits of the qualifying group 
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above 
HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits 
of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered 
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at 
a flat rate of 16.5%.

Acco rd ing l y,  t he  Hong  Kong  P ro f i t s  Tax  i s 
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2,000,000 of 
the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% 
on  the  es t imated  assessab le  p ro f i t s  above 
HK$2,000,000 for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income 
Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation 
of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries 
is 25% for both years.

The income tax expense for the year can be 
reconc i l ed  to  t he  l oss  be fo re  t axa t i on  pe r 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income as follows:

For the year ended
31 December

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Loss before taxation (408,037) (256,036)
    

Taxation at domestic income tax rate (83,603) (46,420)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax 

purpose
 

(4,993) (2,670)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible 

for tax purpose
 

81,352 41,985
Tax effect of estimated tax losses not 

recognised
 

15,223 40,418
Utilisation of tax losses previously not 

recognised
 

(317) (14,197)
    

Income tax expense 7,662 19,116
     

11. 

2,000,000 8.25%
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16.5%
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12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging/
(crediting):

For the year ended
31 December

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Amortisation of intangible assets 
(included in administrative expenses)

 
17,055 17,335

Auditors’ remuneration:
– audit services – 1,100 1,500
– non-audit services – 100 100

  

1,200 1,600
Cost of inventories sold 56,115 69,709
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment 26,617 25,832
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 6,061 6,108
Net foreign exchange loss 116 18
Staff costs (including directors’ 

emoluments):
– salaries and allowances – 70,523 67,747
– discretionary bonuses – 262 123
– contributions to retirement benefits 

scheme
– 

9,881 5,588
  

80,666 73,458
     

12. 
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS

The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid or 
payable to the directors and the chief executive 
off icer  of  the Company dur ing the year  was 
H K $ 1 , 6 7 7 , 0 0 0  ( 2 0 2 3 :  H K $ 2 0 , 9 6 5 , 0 0 0 )  a n d 
was inc luded in  “admin is t ra t i ve  expenses” . 
The emoluments of each director and the chief 
executive officer for the years ended 31 December 
2024 and 2023 disclosed pursuant to the applicable 
L is t ing  Ru les  and the  Hong Kong Company 
Ordinance are as follows:

Fees
Salaries and
allowances

Discretionary
bonuses

Contributions 
to retirement

benefit schemes Total

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

                

Executive directors

Mr. Lei Hong Wai,  
the chief executive 
officer

 

– – – 8,400 – – 15 18 15 8,418
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton – – – 8,400 – – 15 18 15 8,418
Mr. Chan Kin Wah Billy 

(resigned on 10 July 
2023)

 

– – – 2,529 – – – 9 – 2,538
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fan 120 120 969 894 60 198 18 18 1,167 1,230

Independent non-
executive directors

 

Mr. Wan Shing Chi 120 120 – – – – – – 120 120
Mr. Ng Heung Yan 120 120 – – – – – – 120 120
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen 

(resigned on 1 July 
2024)

 

60 120 – – – – – – 60 120
Ms. Leung Man Yee Fanny 

(appointed on 28 
December 2023)

120 1 – – – – – – 120 1
Mr. Law Kwok Ho Kenward 

(appointed on 1 July 
2024

 

60 – – – – – – – 60 –
            

Total emoluments 600 481 969 20,223 60 198 48 63 1,677 20,965
            

The executive directors’ and the chief executive 
officer’s emoluments shown above were mainly for 
their services in connection with the management 
of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The 
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments 
shown above were mainly for their services as 
directors.

13. 

1,677,000
20,965,000
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Lei 
Hong Wai and Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton waived 
emoluments of HK$8,400,000 each. Except the 
above arrangement, there was no arrangement 
under which a director or the chief executive officer 
of the Company waived or agreed to waive any 
remuneration during the year ended 31 December 
2024 (2023: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no 
emoluments have been paid by the Group to any 
of the directors and the chief executive officer as 
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group as 
compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).

The executive directors and the chief executive 
off icer of the Company are ent i t led to bonus 
payments which are determined based on their 
duties and responsibilities in the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no 
executive directors were granted share options 
or awarded shares for their services to the Group 
under the share schemes of the Company (2023: 
Nil).

Details of the share option schemes are set out in 
note 49.

14. TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR 
CONTRACTS IN WHICH DIRECTORS 
OF THE COMPANY HAVE MATERIAL 
INTERESTS

Save as disclosed in note 52, no transaction, 
arrangement and contract of significance in relation 
to the Group’s business to which the Company or 
any subsidiaries of the Company was a party and 
in which a director had a material interest, whether 
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the 
reporting period or at any time during the reporting 
period.

13. 

8,400,000

49

14. 

52
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15. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group 
during the year included one (2023: three) directors, 
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 
13. Details of the remuneration for the year of the 
remaining four (2023: two) highest paid employees 
who are neither a director nor the chief executive 
officer of the Company are as follows:

For the year ended
31 December

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Salaries and allowances 10,747 6,299
Discretionary bonuses – –
Contributions to retirement benefits 

scheme 29 –
    

10,776 6,299
     

The number of the highest paid employees who 
are not the directors of  the Company whose 
remuneration fell within the following bands is as 
follows:

Number of employees

2024 2023

    

HK$1,500,001 – HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 2,000,000 1 1
HK$2,500,000 – HK$3,000,000 2,500,000 3,000,000 2 –
HK$4,000,001 – HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 4,500,000 1 –
HK$4,500,001 – HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 5,000,000 – 1
     

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023, none of the non-director and the non-chief 
executive highest paid employee was granted share 
options or awarded shares for their services to the 
Group under the share schemes of the Company.

Details of the share option schemes are set out in 
note 49.

15. 

13

49
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16. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share 
attributable to the owners of the Company is based 
on the following data:

For the year ended
31 December

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Loss for the purpose of basic and 
diluted loss per share

Loss for the year attributable to owners 
of the Company (415,699) (275,152)

     

For the year ended
31 December

2024 2023

’000 ’000

    

Number of ordinary shares

Weighted average number of ordinary 
shares less weighted average number 
of shares held for share award plan for 
the purpose of basic and diluted loss 
per share 3,695,296 3,695,296

     

The computation of diluted loss per share does not 
assume the issuance of the Company’s outstanding 
share award since it would result in a decrease in 
loss per share for the year ended 31 December 
2024.

No diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 
December 2023 was presented as there were no 
potential ordinary shares in issue.

The computation of diluted loss per share does 
not assume the exercise of the Company’s share 
options because the exercise price of those share 
options was higher than the average market price 
for shares for the years ended 31 December 2024 
and 2023.

17. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of 
any final dividend for the year ended 31 December 
2024 (2023: Nil).

16. 

17. 
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings
Golf

courses
Construction

in progress

Plant
and

machinery
Leasehold

improvements
Office

equipment
Motor

vehicles

Furniture
and

fixtures Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

           

Cost
At 1 January 2023 571,078 62,428 360,407 2,158 42,481 2,406 2,981 3,307 1,047,246
Additions – 3,045 65,473 217 – 177 – 11 68,923
Reclassified as held for sale  

(note 34)
 

34 (4,729) – – – – – – – (4,729)
Disposals (6,687) – – – – – – – (6,687)
Written-off – – – – (1,005) – – – (1,005)
Exchange alignment (5,316) (1,701) (5,522) (61) (833) (39) (51) (28) (13,551)
           

At 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024

 
 

554,346 63,772 420,358 2,314 40,643 2,544 2,930 3,290 1,090,197
Additions – – 40,405 70 459 11 – 633 41,578
Disposals – – – (606) – (2) – (5) (613)
Written-off – – – (5) – (5) (78) – (88)
Exchange alignment (7,027) (1,311) (9,598) (41) (624) (32) (58) (29) (18,720)
           

At 31 December 2024  
547,319 62,461 451,165 1,732 40,478 2,516 2,794 3,889 1,112,354

           

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment

At 1 January 2023 90,403 20,668 – 1,381 21,133 2,148 2,449 1,690 139,872
Charge for the year 18,427 2,743 – 242 3,756 91 273 300 25,832
Reclassified as held for sale 

(note 34)
 

34 (120) – – – – – – – (120)
Eliminated upon disposals (141) – – – – – – – (141)
Eliminated upon written-off – – – – (746) – – – (746)
Reversal of impairment loss 

recognised (1,600) – – – – – – – (1,600)
Exchange alignment (811) (310) – (22) (240) (17) (21) (8) (1,429)
           

At 31 December 2023 and 
1 January 2024

 
 

106,158 23,101 – 1,601 23,903 2,222 2,701 1,982 161,668
Charge for the year 19,071 3,101 – 81 4,013 68 11 272 26,617
Eliminated upon disposals – – – (587) – (2) – (5) (594)
Eliminated upon written-off – – – (5) – (5) (78) – (88)
Impairment loss recognised 12,659 – – – – – – – 12,659
Exchange alignment (1,519) (541) – (28) (425) (28) (56) (15) (2,612)

           

At 31 December 2024  
136,369 25,661 – 1,062 27,491 2,255 2,578 2,234 197,650

           

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2024  

410,950 36,800 451,165 670 12,987 261 216 1,655 914,704
           

At 31 December 2023  
448,188 40,671 420,358 713 16,740 322 229 1,308 928,529

           

18. 
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the 
Group capitalised depreciation of right-of-use 
assets and incurred interest expense on lease 
liabilities of HK$2,935,000 (2023: HK$2,985,000) 
a n d  H K $ 8 , 5 6 3 , 0 0 0  ( 2 0 2 3 :  H K $ 8 , 6 3 1 , 0 0 0 ) 
respectively to construction in progress.

All of the Group’s buildings, golf courses and 
construction in progress located in the PRC are 
held on medium-term lease. The Group’s buildings 
located in Hong Kong are also held on medium-
term lease.

The Group has pledged its buildings located in 
Hong Kong with an aggregate carrying amounts of 
HK$145,100,000 (2023: HK$164,755,000) to secure 
the Group’s bank borrowings.

Impairment assessment

The management of the Group concluded there 
was an indication for reversal of impairment and 
conducted a fair value assessment on the Group’s 
buildings located in Hong Kong.

The recoverable amounts of buildings located in 
Hong Kong have been determined individually 
based on their fair value less costs of disposal. 
The Group uses direct comparison to estimate 
the fair value less costs of disposal of the assets 
which is based on the recent transaction prices 
for similar properties adjusted for nature, location 
and condit ions of the property. The fair value 
measurement is categorised into Level  2 fair 
value hierarchy. Accordingly, impairment loss of 
HK$12,659,000 (2023: a reversal of impairment loss 
of HK$1,600,000) was recognised in profit or loss 
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

18.  
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(Continued)

Impairment assessment (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment relating to the 
properties erected on a piece of 580 Chinese 
acre land adjacent to the Club (the “Subject 
Land”)

The Sub ject  Land has  been deve loped in to 
seven blocks of three-storey residential serviced 
apartments comprising 279 residential serviced 
apartments, together with two blocks of three-
storey office buildings. The residential serviced 
apartments and the office buildings are offered for 
lease out by the Group on a long-term or short-
term lease basis.

During the development stage, construction costs 
are capitalised in construction in progress under 
property, plant and equipment. Upon completion of 
the development, the construction costs capitalised 
in construction in progress are transferred to 
buildings under property, plant and equipment.

The leasing of properties erected on the Subject 
Land under long-term leases is treated as finance 
leases as the committed lease term of the long-
term leases substantially covers the remaining 
period of the operating rights in respect of the 
Subject Land. The related property, plant and 
equipment of the residential serviced apartments 
are derecognised upon the commencement of the 
long-term leases.

The leasing of properties erected on the Subject 
Land under  shor t - te rm leases  i s  t rea ted  as 
operating leases. The related property, plant and 
equipment of these residential serviced apartments 
are transferred to investment properties upon the 
commencement of the short-term leases.

18.  

580

 

279
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment relating to the 
properties erected on a piece of 580 Chinese 
acre land adjacent to the Club (the “Subject 
Land”) (Continued)

Disposals

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no 
long-term lease (2023: 1 long-term lease) relating 
to  leas ing  a  res ident ia l  se rv iced  apar tment 
commenced. The re lated property,  p lant and 
equipment of the residential serviced apartment of 
HK$Nil (2023: HK$6,546,000) were derecognised 
upon the commencement of the long-term lease.

Reclassified as held for sale

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no long-
term lease (2023: 1 long-term lease) relating to 
leasing a residential serviced apartment had yet to 
commence. The long-term leases was expected 
to commence within 12 months. Accordingly, 
the related property, plant and equipment of the 
residential serviced apartment of HK$Nil (2023: 
HK$4,609,000) were reclassified as held for sale.

Transfer to investment properties

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023, no short-term leases relating to leasing 
resident ia l  serviced apartments commenced. 
There was no transfer from the property, plant and 
equipment of residential serviced apartments to 
investment properties.

18.  

580
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Driving
range

Staff
dormitory The Club

The
Subject

Land
Office

premises Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

At 1 January 2023 27,316 4,918 71,470 118,420 194 222,318
Addition – – – – 607 607
Depreciation charge (3,385) (1,908) (2,443) (2,985) (280) (11,001)
Reclassified as held for sale 

(note 34) 34 – – – (617) – (617)
Disposals – – – (877) – (877)
Exchange alignment (371) (59) (1,008) (1,668) – (3,106)
        

At 31 December 2023  
and 1 January 2024

 
 

23,560 2,951 68,019 112,273 521 207,324
Depreciation charge (3,344) (2,931) (2,413) (2,935) (304) (11,927)
Exchange alignment (454) (20) (1,419) (2,358) – (4,251)
        

At 31 December 2024  
19,762 – 64,187 106,980 217 191,146

        

For the year ended
31 December

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Depreciation charge 11,927 11,001
Less:  depreciation capitalised in the 

cost of qualifying assets
 

(2,935) (2,985)
depreciation charged to the 

lessee (2,931) (1,908)
    

6,061 6,108
    

19. 
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For the year ended
31 December

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Expense relating to short-term leases 160 –
Total cash outflow of leases 19,258 20,212
    

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, 
the Group leases (i) an office, (ii) the staff dormitory, 
(i i i) the driving range, (iv) the Club, and (v) the 
Subject Land. Lease contracts are entered into for 
fixed term of 2 to 50 years.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the 
Group did not enter into any new lease agreement 
in Hong Kong and the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the 
Group entered into a new lease agreement for an 
office in Hong Kong. The new lease agreement of 
the office is entered into for a fixed term of 2 years. 
Lease terms were negotiated on an individual 
basis and contain a wide range of different terms 
and conditions. In determining the lease term and 
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, 
the Group applies the definition of a contract and 
determines the period for which the contract is 
enforceable.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

Lease  l i ab i l i t i es  o f  HK$269 ,128 ,000  (2023 : 
HK$281,114,000) are recognised with the related 
right-of-use assets of HK$191,146,000 (2023: 
HK$207,324,000) at 31 December 2024. The lease 
agreements do not impose any covenants other 
than the security interests in the leased assets that 
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be 
used as security for borrowing purposes.

19. 
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment assessment

Details of impairment assessment of right-of-use 
assets belonging to the CGU engaged in property 
investment business and gol f  c lub operat ion 
business in Beijing, the PRC, namely Smart Title, 
including the staff dormitory, the driving range, the 
Club, and the Subject Land, are disclosed in note 
24.

Right-of-use asset in respect of the Subject 
Land relating to the properties erected on the 
Subject Land

The Sub ject  Land has  been deve loped in to 
seven blocks of three-storey residential serviced 
apartments comprising 279 residential serviced 
apartments, together with two blocks of three-
storey office buildings. The residential serviced 
apartments and the office buildings are offered for 
lease out by the Group on a long-term or short-
term lease basis.

The leasing of properties erected on the Subject 
Land under long-term leases is treated as finance 
leases as the committed lease term of the long-
term leases substantially covers the remaining 
period of the operating rights in respect of the 
Subject Land. The related right-of-use asset in 
respect of the Subject Land of the residential 
serviced apartments is derecognised upon the 
commencement of the long-term leases.

The leasing of properties erected on the Subject 
Land under  shor t - te rm leases  i s  t rea ted  as 
operating leases. The related right-of-use asset 
in respect of the Subject Land of the residential 
serviced apartments is transferred to investment 
properties upon the commencement of the short-
term leases.

Disposals

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no 
long-term lease (2023: 1 long-term lease) relating 
to  leas ing  a  res ident ia l  se rv iced  apar tment 
commenced. The related right-of-use asset in 
respect of the Subject Land of the residential 
serviced apartment of HK$Nil (2023: HK$877,000) 
was derecognised upon the commencement of the 
long-term lease.

19. 

Smart Title
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Right-of-use asset in respect of the Subject 
Land relating to the properties erected on the 
Subject Land (Continued)

Reclassified as held for sale

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no long-
term lease (2023: 1 long-term lease) relating to 
leasing a residential serviced apartment had yet 
to commence. The long-term lease was expected 
to commence within 12 months. Accordingly, the 
related right-of-use asset in respect of the Subject 
Land of the residential serviced apartment of 
HK$Nil (2023: HK$617,000) was reclassified as 
held for sale.

Transfer to investment properties

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023, no short-term leases relating to leasing 
residential serviced apartments commenced. There 
was no transfer from the right-of-use asset in 
respect of the Subject Land of residential serviced 
apartments to investment properties.

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out certain office units in Hong 
Kong under non-cancellable operating leases with 
rentals receivables monthly. The leases run for a 
period of 1 year (2023: 1 year) and do not contain 
the unilateral rights to extend the leases at the end 
of the leases.

The Group also leases out 5 (2023: 8) residential 
serviced apartments erected on the Subject Land 
under operating leases with rentals payable yearly. 
The leases typically run for a period of three to five 
years (2023: three to five years) and do not contain 
the unilateral rights to extend the leases at the end 
of the leases.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency 
risk as a result of the lease arrangements related 
to certain off ice units in Hong Kong and the 
residential serviced apartments erected on the 
Subject Land, as all leases are denominated in the 
respective functional currencies of group entities. 
The lease contracts do not contain residual value 
guarantee and lessee’s option to purchase the 
leased properties at the end of lease term.

19. 
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20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023, no short-term leases relating to leasing 
residential serviced apartments commenced. There 
was no transfer from related assets in property, 
plant and equipment in respect of the residential 
serviced apartments erected on the Subject Land, 
and right-of-use asset in respect of Subject Land 
to investment properties.

The  fa i r  va lue  o f  these  res ident ia l  se rv iced 
apartments was determined based on a valuation 
carried out by APAC Appraisal and Consulting 
Limited (“APAC”).

Please refer to notes 18, 19, and 22 for details.

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Fair value
At 1 January 261,698 233,991
Additions – 33,156
Disposals (17,215) (2,430)
Loss arising on change in fair value 

recognised in profit or loss
 

(50,911) (2,026)
Exchange alignment (1,387) (993)
    

At 31 December 192,185 261,698
    

Unrealised loss on change in fair 
value of investment properties 
included in the Other gains and 
losses  line item in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income

 
 
 

(50,911) (2,026)
    

20. 

18 19 22
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20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

All of the Group’s properties’ interests held under 
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation purpose are measured using the fair 
value model and are classified and accounted for 
as investment properties.

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Investment properties located in Hong 
Kong held on medium-term lease

 
129,877 194,275

Investment properties located in the 
PRC held on medium-term lease

 
62,308 67,423

    

192,185 261,698
    

I n v e s t m e n t  p r o p e r t i e s  l o c a t e d  i n  H o n g 
Kong  amoun ted  to  HK$116 ,000 ,000  ( 2023 : 
HK$163,700,000) have been pledged to secure the 
Group’s bank borrowings.

20. 

116,000,000
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* For identification only * 

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Details of the Group’s investment properties are as 
follows:

Location Existing use Tenure

Attributable 
interest to the 

Group

    

Whole of Unit Nos. 1201, 1202, 
1212 and the corridor on 
12th Floor, Shun Tak Centre, 
West Tower, 168-200 
Connaught Road Central, 
Hong Kong

Commercial Medium-term lease 100%

168-200  
12  

1201 1202  
1212

Rooms 206, 209, and 306 of 
Block 1, Rooms 206 and 207 
of Block 2, and Rooms 206, 
207, and 306 of Block 3, 
Star-rated Club House Area, 
Beihu No. 9 Golf Course, 
Anwai, Lai Guang Ying Town, 
Chaoyang District, Beijing, the 
PRC*

Residential Medium-term Lease 100%

 
 

 
1 206 209 306  
2 206 207  

3 206 207 306

11 niches at Po Fook Hill Commercial Medium-term Lease 100%
11

20. 
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21. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF 
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(a) Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of 
the Group’s investment properties measured at 
the end of the reporting period on a recurring 
basis, categorised into the three-level fair 
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair 
Value Measurement . The level into which a 
fair value measurement is determined with 
reference to the observability and significance 
of the inputs used in the valuation technique 
as follows:

• Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured 
using only Level 1 inputs, i.e. unadjusted 
quoted pr ices in  act ive markets for 
ident ica l  assets  or  l iab i l i t ies  at  the 
measurement date;

• Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured 
using Level 2 inputs, i .e. observable 
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not 
using significant unobservable inputs. 
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which 
market data are not available; and

• Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured 
using significant unobservable inputs.

21.  

(a) 

13
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21. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF 
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Fair value measurement categorised into

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
1 2 3

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 31 December 2024

Recurring fair value 
measurement

Investment properties 
located in Hong Kong – 116,000 13,877 129,877

Investment properties 
located in the PRC – – 62,308 62,308

      

– 116,000 76,185 192,185
      

At 31 December 2023

Recurring fair value 
measurement

Investment properties 
located in Hong Kong – 163,700 30,575 194,275

Investment properties 
located in the PRC – – 67,423 67,423

      

– 163,700 97,998 261,698
      

During the years ended 31 December 2024 
and 2023, there were no transfers between 
Levels 1 and 2, or transfers into or out of Level 
3.

The Group’s investment propert ies were 
measured at fair value at 31 December 2024 
and 2023. For the year ended 31 December 
2024 and 2023, the valuations were carried 
out by APAC and Grant Sherman Appraisal 
Limited (“Grant Sherman”). APAC and Grant 
Sherman have among i ts  staff  members 
with appropriate qualif ications and recent 
experience in the locations and categories of 
properties being valued. The directors have 
discussion with APAC and Grant Sherman 
on the valuation assumptions and valuation 
results when the valuations were performed at 
the end of each reporting period.

In estimating the fair value of the investment 
properties, the highest and best use of the 
investment properties is their current use.

21.  
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21. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF 
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(b) Valuation techniques and inputs used in 
Level 2 fair value measurements

The fair value of investment properties located 
in Hong Kong is determined using market 
comparison approach by reference to the 
recent sales price of comparable properties 
on a price per square foot basis using market 
data which is publicly available. The market 
price per square foot is positively correlated 
to the fair value measurement.

(c) Information about Level 3 fair value 
measurement

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs

Investment 
properties in 
Hong Kong

Direct comparison 
approach

Adjusted sales prices ranging from HK$1,188,000 
to HK$1,289,000 (2023: HK$1,086,000 to 
HK$1,314,000

1,188,000 1,289,000  
1,086,000 1,314,000 

Investment 
properties in the 
PRC

Income approach Monthly rent ranging from RMB279 to RMB346 
(2023: RMB279 to RMB342) per square meter

279 346  
279 342

Expected rental growth rate of 3% (2023: 3%)
3% 3%

Discount rate of 7.7% (2023: 7.5%)
7.7% 7.5%

The fair value of the investment properties 
located in Hong Kong is determined by using 
direct comparison approach based on market 
observable transactions of similar properties 
and  ad jus ted  to  re f l ec t  the  f loo r  l eve l , 
orientation and locations of the investment 
properties.

21.  

(b) 2

(c) 3
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21. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF 
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(c) Information about Level 3 fair value 
measurement (Continued)

The fair value of the investment properties 
located in the PRC is determined by using 
an income approach based on a discounted 
cash f low generated from the investment 
properties covering a 37-year period for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 38-year 
period), representing the remaining period of 
the operating rights of the Subject Land. The 
valuation takes into account the signed leases 
in respect of the investment properties and the 
expected rental growth rate. The discount rate 
used has been adjusted for the type, quality, 
and location of the investment properties. The 
fair value measurement is positively correlated 
to the monthly rent and the expected rental 
growth, and negat ively correlated to the 
discount rate.

The movements during the years in the balance  
of this Level 3 fair value measurements are as 
follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 January 97,998 70,191
Addition – 33,156
Loss arising on change in fair value 

recognised in profit or loss (3,211) (1,926)
Disposal (17,215) (2,430)
Exchange alignment (1,387) (993)
    

At 31 December 76,185 97,998
    

21.  

(c) 3  
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38
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22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Operating
rights in

respect of the
Subject Land

Operating
rights in

respect of
the Club

Software
and

licenses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Cost

At 1 January 2023 746,106 53,288 37 799,431
Reclassified as held for 

sale (note 34)
 

34 (3,956) – – (3,956)
Disposals (5,595) – – (5,595)
Exchange alignment (10,609) (761) (1) (11,371)
      

At 31 December 2023 and 
1 January 2024

 
 

725,946 52,527 36 778,509
Exchange alignment (15,533) (1,123) (1) (16,657)
      

At 31 December 2024  
710,413 51,404 35 761,852

      

Accumulated 
amortisation

At 1 January 2023 114,994 10,425 37 125,456
Charge for the year 15,907 1,428 – 17,335
Reclassified as held for 

sale (note 34)
 

34 (667) – – (667)
Eliminated upon disposals (922) – – (922)
Exchange alignment (1,724) (157) (1) (1,882)
      

At 31 December 2023 and 
1 January 2024

 
 

127,588 11,696 36 139,320
Charge for the year 15,641 1,414 – 17,055
Exchange alignment (2,964) (271) (1) (3,236)
      

At 31 December 2024  
140,265 12,839 35 153,139

      

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2024  

570,148 38,565 – 608,713
      

At 31 December 2023  
598,358 40,831 – 639,189

      

22. 
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22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. 
Such intangible assets are amortised on a straight-
line basis over the following periods:

Operating rights in respect 
 of the Subject Land 47 years
Operating rights in respect of the Club 37 years
Software and licenses 3 years

Operating rights in respect of the Subject Land

The operating rights in respect of the Subject Land 
were acquired through a business combination 
completed on 6 October 2015. The operating rights 
represent (i) the rights to develop and operate the 
Subject Land, and (ii) the rights to manage the 
properties erected on the Subject Land up to 30 
January 2062. The operating rights in respect of 
the Subject Land were granted to 

 (Beijing Bayhood No. 9 Business 
Hotel Company Limited, “Bayhood No. 9 Co.”), 
a  whol ly-owned subsid iary  of  the Company, 
under the cooperation construction and operating 
agreements. The cost of the operating rights of 
HK$938,061,000 represents the fair value of such 
assets as at 6 October 2015, being the completion 
date of the business combination.

The operating rights in respect of the Subject Land 
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses, if any.

Amortisation charge for the year is included in 
the “Administrative expenses” l ine item in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

The  Sub ject  Land has  been deve loped in to 
seven blocks of three-storey residential serviced 
apartments comprising 279 residential serviced 
apartments, together with two blocks of three-
storey office buildings. The residential serviced 
apartments and the office buildings are offered for 
lease out by the Group on a long-term or short-
term lease basis.

22. 

 47

 37
 3

(i)
(ii)

9
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22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Operating rights in respect of the Subject Land 
(Continued)

The leasing of properties erected on the Subject 
Land under long-term leases is treated as finance 
leases as the committed lease term of the long-
term leases substantially covers the remaining 
period of the operating rights in respect of the 
Subject Land. The related operating r ights in 
respect of the Subject Land of the residential 
serviced apartments are derecognised upon the 
commencement of the long-term leases.

The leasing of properties erected on the Subject 
Land under  shor t - te rm leases  i s  t rea ted  as 
operating leases. The related operating rights 
in respect of the Subject Land of the residential 
serviced apartments are transferred to investment 
properties upon the commencement of the short-
term leases.

Disposals

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no 
long-term lease (2023: 1 long-term lease) relating 
to  leas ing  a  res ident ia l  se rv iced  apar tment 
commenced. The related operating rights in respect 
of the Subject Land of the residential serviced 
apartment of HK$Nil (2023: HK$4,673,000) were 
derecognised upon the commencement of these 
long-term leases.

Reclassified as held for sale

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023, no long-term lease (2023: 1 long-term lease) 
relating to leasing a residential serviced apartment 
had yet  to commence.  The long-term leases 
was expected to commence within 12 months. 
Accordingly, the related operating rights in respect 
of the Subject Land of the residential serviced 
apartment of HK$Nil (2023: HK$3,289,000) were 
reclassified as held for sale.

22. 
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22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Operating rights in respect of the Subject Land 
(Continued)

Transfer to investment properties

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023, no short-term leases relating to leasing 
residential serviced apartments commenced. There 
was no transfer from the operating rights in respect 
of Subject Land of residential serviced apartments 
to investment properties.

Part icu lars of  the impairment  test ing on the 
operating rights in respect of the Subject Land are 
disclosed in note 24.

Operating rights in respect of the Club

The operating rights in respect of the Club were 
acquired through a business combinat ion as 
completed on 6 October 2015. The operating 
rights represent the rights to construct and operate 
the club facilities of the Club up to 31 December 
2051.  The operat ing r ights in  respect  of  the 
Club were granted to Bayhood No. 9 Co. under 
another cooperation construction and operating 
agreements. The cost of the operating rights of 
HK$57,948,000 represents the fair value of such 
assets as at 6 October 2015, being the completion 
date of the business combination.

The operating rights in respect of the Club are 
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses, if any.

Amortisation charge for the year is included in 
the “Administrative expenses” l ine item in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

Part icu lars of  the impairment  test ing on the 
operating rights in respect of the Club are disclosed 
in note 24.

22. 
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22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Software and licenses

Software and licenses were acquired through a 
business combination as completed on 6 October 
2015.

Software and l icenses are stated at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, 
if any.

23. GOODWILL

Total

HK$’000

   

Cost
At 1 January 2023 319,618
Exchange alignment (4,568)
   

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024  
315,050

Exchange alignment (6,741)
   

At 31 December 2024 308,309
   

Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 January 2023 74,350
Impairment loss recognised in the year 51,779
Exchange alignment (1,356)
   

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023  
124,773

Impairment loss recognised in the year 189,029
Exchange alignment (5,493)
   

At 31 December 2023 308,309
   

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2024 –
   

At 31 December 2023 190,277
   

Particulars of impairment testing on goodwill are 
disclosed in note 24.

22. 

23. 

24
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24. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, 
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-
USE ASSETS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND 
GOODWILL

On 3 April 2023, Smart Title received an advance 
notice from the lessee of the assets of the Club for 
the termination of the club lease agreement by 5 
October 2023. Upon such termination on 5 October 
2023, Smart Tit le expanded into the golf club 
operation business by operating and managing the 
Club by itself.

The carry ing amounts of  r ight-of-use assets 
relating to the driving range, the staff dormitory, the 
Club, and the Subject Land, intangible assets in 
respect of the operating rights, and goodwill (net of 
accumulated impairment losses) belonging to the 
CGU engaged in property investment business and  
golf club operation business in Beijing, the PRC, 
namely Smart Title, are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Right-of-use assets
– driving range – 19,762 23,560
– dormitory – – 2,951
– the Club – 64,187 68,019
– the Subject Land – 106,980 112,273

Intangible assets
– operating rights in respect of the 

Subject Land
– 

570,148 598,358
– operating rights in respect of the 

Club
– 

38,565 40,831
Goodwill – 190,277
    

799,642 1,036,269
    

In addition to right-of-use assets, intangible assets, 
and goodwill above, property, plant and equipment 
that generate cash flows are also included in the 
CGU engaged in property investment business and  
golf club operation business in Beijing, the PRC for 
the purpose of impairment assessment.

24. 
 

 

Smart Title
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Smart Title
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24. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, 
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-
USE ASSETS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND 
GOODWILL (Continued)

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the recoverable 
amount of the CGU engaged in property investment 
business and golf club operation in Beijing, the 
PRC, was determined based on the value in use 
calculations of the property investment business 
of the Subject Land and the golf club operation 
business of the Club.

(a) Property investment business of the 
Subject Land

The value in use calculation of the property 
investment business of the Subject Land for 
the year ended 31 December 2024 has been 
determined with reference to a valuat ion 
prepared by APAC. The calculation uses cash 
flow projection based on the financial budget 
approved by management covering a 37-year 
period (2023: 38-year period) for the property 
investment business on the Subject Land. 
The budget period represents the remaining 
period of the rights to develop and operate 
the Subject Land, pursuant to the signed 
cooperat ion construct ion and operat ing 
agreements. The pre-tax discount rate used 
for property investment business is 16% 
(2023: 15%).The pre-tax discount rate used 
reflects the estimated weighted average cost 
of capital, stage of development, and specific 
risks relating to the operations. Cash flow 
projection during the budget period for the 
property investment business of the Subject 
Land is based on the budgeted revenue, 
gross margin, operating expenses, capital 
expenditures incurred, and expected inflation 
during the budget period, which has been 
determined based on the signed agreements 
and leases, and management’s expectations 
fo r  the  fu tu re  pe r fo rmance  and  marke t 
development with reference to the industry 
and macro-economic data.

24. 
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24. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, 
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-
USE ASSETS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND 
GOODWILL (Continued)

(a) Property investment business of the 
Subject Land (Continued)

The key assumptions for the value in use 
calculation are as follows:

(i) Renta l  income per  square  meter  o f 
residential serviced apartments is based 
on the signed leases, with a 5% annual 
increment in 2025 and 2026 for long-term 
leases (2023: with a 5% annual increment 
in 2024 and 2025) and a 10% increment 
in every three years for short-term leases 
(2023: 10%).

(ii) Long-term and short-term lease ratios for 
residential serviced apartments are 68% 
(2023: 65%) and 32% (2023: 35%).

(iii) Rental income per square meter of office 
premises is based on the current market 
rate for comparable properties nearby, 
with a 4% annual increment (2023: 4%).

(iv) Office premises are 100% under short-
term leases (2023: 100%).

(v) Building management fee income per 
square meter of resident ia l  serviced 
apartments and office premises based on 
the current charge rate, with a 4% annual 
increment (2023: 4%).

24. 
 

 

(a)  

(i) 

5%

5%

10% 10%

(ii) 
68%

65% 32%
35%

(iii) 

4%
4%

(iv) 100%
100%

(v) 

4% 4%



203

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

For the year ended 31 December 2024  

24. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, 
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-
USE ASSETS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND 
GOODWILL (Continued)

(a) Property investment business of the 
Subject Land (Continued)

(vi) Rental income of restaurants area and car 
parks are based on the current market 
rate for comparable properties nearby, 
with a 4% annual increment (2023: 4%).

(vii) O p e r a t i n g  e x p e n s e s  a re  b a s e d  o n 
management’s estimation, with a 3% 
annual increment (2023: 3%).

(viii) Development costs are budgeted to 
be  RMB730,000 ,000  (equ iva len t  to  
HK$788,305,000) (2023: RMB730,000,000 
(equivalent to HK$805,555,000)).

24. 
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24. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, 
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-
USE ASSETS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND 
GOODWILL (Continued)

(b) Golf club operation business of the Club

The value in use calculation of the golf club 
operation business of the Club for the year 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 has been 
determined with reference to a valuat ion 
prepared by APAC. The calculation uses cash 
flow projection based on the financial budget 
approved by management covering a 27-year 
period (2023: 28-year period) for operating 
and managing the Club by Smart Title itself. 
The budget period represents the remaining 
period of the rights to construct and operate 
the club facilities of the Club, pursuant to the 
signed cooperation construction and operating 
agreements. The pre-tax discount rate used 
for golf club operation business is 17% (2023: 
15%). The pre-tax discount rate used reflects 
the estimated weighted average cost of capital 
and specific risks relating to the operations. 
Cash flow projection during the budget period 
for the golf club operation business of the 
Club is based on the budgeted revenue, 
gross margin, operating expenses, capital 
expenditures incurred, and expected inflation 
during the budget period, which has been 
determined based on the past performance of 
the Club operated and managed by the lessee 
and management’s expectations for the future 
performance and market development with 
reference to the industry and macro-economic 
data.

The key assumptions for the value in use 
calculation are as follows:

(i) R e v e n u e  i s  b a s e d  o n  t h e  p a s t 
performance of the Club operated and 
managed by the lessee with a 7% in 2025 
and 2% afterwards (2023: 7%) annual 
increment.

(ii) Operating expenses are based on the 
past performance of the Club operated 
and managed by the lessee with a 2% 
(2023: 2%) annual increment.

(iii) Annual capital expenditures are based on 
management’s estimation.

24. 
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24. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, 
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-
USE ASSETS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND 
GOODWILL (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the directors 
performed impairment tests for the right-of-use 
assets, intangible assets, goodwill, and property, 
p lant  and equ ipment  be long ing  to  the  CGU 
engaged in property investment business and golf 
club operation business in Beijing, the PRC, with 
reference to the valuations prepared by APAC. 
As the carry ing amount of  the CGU engaged 
in property investment business and golf club 
operation business in Beijing, the PRC, exceeded 
its recoverable amount, an impairment loss on 
goodwill of HK$189,029,000 (2023: HK$51,779,000) 
was recognised in the “Other gains and losses” line 
item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income.

The  impa i rment  loss  fo r  the  year  ended 31 
December  2024 and 2023 arose f rom ( i )  the 
removal of the residential serviced apartments 
delivered under long-term leases (being treated as 
disposals for accounting purposes) from the value 
in use calculation, with the correspondence gain on 
disposals being recognised in the “Other gains and 
losses” line item in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, and 
(ii) the use of longer delivery dates for residential 
serviced apartments and office premises in the 
value in use calculation to reflect the prevailing 
market  condi t ions and management ’s  la test 
estimation.

As the CGU engaged in property investment 
bus iness  and  go l f  c lub  opera t ion  bus iness 
in Bei j ing,  the PRC, has been reduced to i ts 
recoverable amount of HK$1,387,633,000 (2023: 
HK$1,637,594,000), any adverse change in the key 
assumptions used in the calculation of recoverable 
amount would result in further impairment losses.

24. 
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25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Listed shares in Hong Kong
– China Healthwise Holdings Limited 

(“China Healthwise”)
– 

– 965

Unlisted shares in Hong Kong
– China Hong Kong Money Limited 

( China Hong Kong Money )
– 

590 590
– Elite Prosperous Investment Limited 

( Elite Prosperous )
–  Elite Prosperous 

Investment Limited Elite 
Prosperous 2,809 2,713

    

3,399 4,268
    

Cost of investments in associates 58,944 58,944
Amount due from an associate 38,437 38,437
Share of post-acquisition loss, other 

comprehensive expense, net 
dividends received and reserve (93,982) (93,113)

    

3,399 4,268
    

Market value of listed shares
– China Healthwise – 26,202 6,931
    

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had 
interests in the following associates:

Name of entity
Country/place of
incorporation

Principal place 
of business

Proportion of 
ownership interest 
and voting power
held by the Group Principal activities

2024 2023

China Healthwise (Note (i))
(i)

Cayman Islands Hong Kong 21.94% 21.94% Sales of Chinese health 
products, money lending 
business and investment 
in financial instruments

China Hong Kong Money Hong Kong Hong Kong 30% 30% Dormant

Elite Prosperous (Note (ii))  
(ii)

British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 49% 49% Investment Holding

25. 
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25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group 
acquired 3,380,000 shares in China Healthwise at 
an aggregate consideration of HK$197,000 and the 
Group’s shareholdings in China Healthwise increased 
to 21.94% at 31 December 2023 accordingly. The 
Group recognised a gain on bargaining purchase of 
HK$273,000 in the “Share of results of associates” line 
item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 
December 2023 resulted from the acquisition.

The market value of the shares of China Healthwise 
he ld  by  the  Group as  a t  31  December  2024 is 
HK$26,202,000 (2023: HK$6,931,000).

At 31 December 2024, the Group held 169,042,824 
shares (2023: 169,042,824 shares) in China Healthwise 
of which, with a fair value of HK$25,318,000 (2023: 
HK$6,697,000), have been pledged to secure the 
secured other borrowing – securities margin financing 
facility granted to the Group.

(ii) On 31 August 2017, the Group subscribed for 49 
ordinary shares which represent 49% equity interests 
in Elite Prosperous at a consideration of US$49. Elite 
Prosperous is an investment holding company.

On 5 September 2017, the Group and the other 
shareholder of Elite Prosperous, an independent third 
party, as lenders entered into the shareholders’ loan 
agreement with Elite Prosperous as borrower. Pursuant 
to the shareholders’ loan agreement, the Group has 
agreed to provide a shareholder’s loan in the amount 
of US$4,900,000 equivalent to HK$38,421,000, to 
Elite Prosperous, being the Group’s pro rata share 
of the shareholders’ loan in the principal amount of 
US$10,000,000, equivalent to HK$78,410,000, in 
aggregate to be provided by all of the shareholders 
o f  E l i te  Prosperous.  The shareho lders ’  loan o f 
US$10,000,000 is solely for the purpose of financing 
Elite Prosperous’ operating and investment needs. The 
shareholders’ loan of US$10,000,000 is unsecured, 
non-interest bearing, and repayable on demand. On 
the same date, the Group made the shareholder’s 
loan of US$4,900,000 to Elite Prosperous. The Group 
classified the shareholder’s loan of US$4,900,000 
to Elite Prosperous as “interests in associates”. The 
maximum amount of the shareholder’s loan outstanding 
to the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 
was HK$38,437,000 (2023: HK$38,437,000).

25. 
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25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Al l  of the associates are accounted for using 
the equity method in the consolidated financial 
statements.

Summarised financial information of material 
associates

Summarised financial information in respect of the 
Group’s material associates is set out below. The 
summarised financial information below represents 
amounts  shown in  the  assoc ia tes ’  f inanc ia l 
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

China Healthwise

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current assets 8,796 10,015
    

Current assets 113,250 139,655
    

Current liabilities (72,998) (142,953)
    

Non-current liabilities (67,428) (2,319)
    

For the
year ended

31 December
2024

For the
year ended

31 December
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue for the year 113,575 146,317
    

Loss for the year (40,281) (134,558)
    

Other comprehensive income for the 
year 3 307

    

Total comprehensive expense for the 
year (40,278) (134,251)

    

25. 
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25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material 
associates (Continued)

China Healthwise (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial 
information to the carrying amount of the interest 
in the associate recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Net (liabilities)/assets of China 
Healthwise (18,380) 4,398

Proportion of the Group’s ownership 
interest in China Healthwise 21.94% 21.94%

The Group’s share of net assets of  
China Healthwise – 965

    

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest 
in China Healthwise – 965

    

26. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Unlisted equity securities – 8,645
    

The above unlisted equity securities represent 
the Group’s equity interests in two private entities 
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and Hong 
Kong, which are engaging in trading and supply of 
tea and food-related products. The directors of the 
Company have elected to designate this investment 
in unlisted equity securities as at FVTOCI as the 
Group’s strategy of holding these investments is for 
long-term purposes and realising their performance 
potential in the long run.

25. 

26. 
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26. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME (Continued)

The fair value measurement of the unlisted equity 
securities at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was 
classified under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy 
and was based on the valuation performed by 
Access Par tner  Consul tancy and Appra isa ls 
Limited (“Access Partner”), an independent firm 
of professional valuers, using income approach. 
Detai ls  of  the fa i r  value measurement of  the 
unlisted equity securities at 31 December 2024 and 
2023 are set out in note 54.

27. INVENTORIES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Raw materials 7,315 8,095
Work-in-progress 751 464
Finished goods 22,402 25,925
    

30,468 34,484
    

28. LOAN RECEIVABLES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Loans to customers 929,868 948,192
Accrued interest receivables 55,652 55,328
    

985,520 1,003,520
Less: accumulated allowance for ECL (813,704) (754,906)

    

171,816 248,614
    

26. 

3

54

27. 

28. 



211

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

For the year ended 31 December 2024  

28. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

All loans are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. 
The loan receivables carry effective interest ranging 
from 8% to 20% per annum (2023: 8% to 20% per 
annum). Loans contain a repayable on demand 
clause and are classified under current assets. 
A maturity profile of the loan receivables (net of 
accumulated allowance for ECL) at 31 December 
2024 and 2023, based on the maturity date is as 
follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Within one year 171,816 248,614
    

Du r i ng  the  yea r  ended  31  December  2024 , 
an net al lowance for ECL on loan receivables 
o f  H K $ 3 7 , 8 5 4 , 0 0 0  w a s  re c o g n i s e d  ( 2 0 2 3 : 
HK$132,972,000).

At 31 December 2024, 4 loans (2023: 7 loans) 
in the aggregate outstanding principal amount 
of  HK$343,518,000 (2023:  HK$553,619,000) 
are secured by corporate guarantees, 3 loan 
(2023: Nil) in the aggregate outstanding principal 
amount of HK$210,101,000 (2023: HK$Nil) are 
secured by corporate guarantees and a pledge 
over the r ight  of  use for  the 4,000 ancestra l 
tablets in Hong Kong, 1 loan (2023:1 loan) in the 
outstanding principal amount of HK$165,000,000 
(2023: HK$165,000,000) is secured by a corporate 
guarantee, a share charge of a private company, 
and a share pledge over certain part icipating 
shares of a closed-end private fund, and 1 loan 
(2023:1 loan) in the outstanding principal amount of 
HK$10,958,000 (2023: HK$15,132,000) is secured 
by a share charge.

Included in the carrying amount of loan receivables 
a t  3 1  D e c e m b e r  2 0 2 4  i s  a n  a c c u m u l a t e d 
al lowance for ECL of HK$813,704,000 (2023: 
HK$754,906,000).

Details of ECL assessment of loan receivables for 
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are 
set out in note 54.
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29. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trade receivables 39,646 38,890
Less: accumulated allowance for ECL (2,890) (988)

    

36,756 37,902
    

The  fo l low ing  i s  an  ag ing  ana lys is  o f  t rade 
receivables (net of accumulated allowance for ECL) 
at the end of the reporting period presented based 
on the invoice dates:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

0-30 days 0 30 5,036 6,616
31-60 days 31 60 6,795 6,558
61-90 days 61 90 6,628 4,957
91-120 days 91 120 4,103 3,544
121-180 days 121 180 10,052 11,514
Over 180 days 180 4,142 4,713
    

36,756 37,902
    

The Group allows credit period ranging from 0 to 
270 days to its customers. The directors assess the 
credit status and impose credit limits for customers 
in accordance with the Group’s credit policy. The 
credit limits are closely monitored and subject to 
periodic reviews.

Dur ing  the  yea r  ended  31  December  2024 , 
an al lowance for ECL on trade receivables of 
HK$1,902,000 was recognised (2023: HK$120,000).

Included in the carrying amount of trade receivables 
at 31 December 2024 is an accumulated allowance 
for ECL of HK$2,890,000 (2023: HK$988,000).

Details of ECL assessment of trade receivables for 
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are 
set out in note 54.

29. 
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30. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 
RECEIVABLES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Deposits 7,260 7,258
Prepayments 34,820 37,336
Other receivables 73,481 70,310
    

115,561 114,904
Less:  accumulated allowance for ECL  

on other receivables (22,935) (23,436)
    

92,626 91,468
Less:  prepayments and other  

receivables classified as  
non-current assets – (344)

    

92,626 91,124
    

Du r i ng  the  yea r  ended  31  December  2023 , 
an al lowance for ECL on other receivables of 
HK$363,000 was reversed, which was related to 
the loan to a third party.

Details of ECL assessment of other receivables for 
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are 
set out in note 54.

Movements in the accumulated allowance for ECL 
on other receivables during the year are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 January 23,436 24,412
Allowance for ECL reversed  

during the year – (363)
Exchange alignment (501) (613)
    

At 31 December 22,935 23,436
    

30. 
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31. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Key management personnel life 
insurance policy 10,135 9,846

Listed equity securities in Hong Kong 64,323 97,316
    

74,458 107,162
Less: key management personnel life 

insurance policy classified as 
non-current asset (10,135) (9,846)

    

64,323 97,316
    

The Group entered into a life insurance policy with 
an insurance company to insure against the death 
and permanent disability of an executive director. 
Under the policy, the beneficiary and policy holder 
are a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
namely Max Winner Investments Limited, and the 
total insured sum is USD2,215,000. The contracts 
will be terminated on the occurrence of the earliest 
of the death of the key management personnel 
insured or other terms pursuant to the contracts. 
The total insurance premium paid at the inception 
of the policy was USD1,284,700. The total initial 
p remium cha rge  pa id  was  USD77 ,000 .  The 
Group may request a surrender of the contracts 
at any time and receive cash back based on the 
cash value at the date of withdrawal, which is 
determined by the gross premium paid at inception 
plus accumulated guaranteed interest earned and 
minus insurance premium charged. A guaranteed 
interest rate, starting from 9 January 2023, was 
increased from 3.9% per annum to 4.3% per 
annum applied to the contract. The fair value is 
based on account value quoted by the insurance 
company.

31. 
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31. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

L is ted equ i ty  secur i t ies  in  Hong Kong were 
measured at fair value at the end of the reporting 
period. The fair value of the listed equity securities 
in Hong Kong were determined with reference to 
quoted market closing price.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, a loss 
arising on change in fair value of financial assets at 
FVTPL of HK$16,904,000 (2023: HK$11,036,000) 
was recognised in the “Other gains and losses” line 
item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income.

32. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

The Sub ject  Land has  been deve loped in to 
seven blocks of three-storey residential serviced 
apartments comprising 279 residential serviced 
apartments, together with two blocks of three-
storey office buildings. The residential serviced 
apartments and the office buildings are offered for 
lease out by the Group on a long-term or short-
term lease basis.

31. 

16,904,000
11,036,000

32. 

279
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32. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The leasing of properties erected on the Subject 
Land under long-term leases is treated as finance 
leases as the committed lease term of the long-
term leases substantially covers the remaining 
period of the operating rights in respect of the 
Subject Land.

Dur ing  the  yea r  ended  31  December  2024 ,  
2 finance leases (2023: 2 finance leases) relating 
to residential serviced apartments erected on the 
Subject Land commenced. The payment term of 
the finance leases ranges from 5 to 15 years. The 
inherent interest rates in the finance leases are 
fixed at the contract date over the lease term. The 
risk arising from the unguaranteed residual value 
on the residential serviced apartments under the 
leases is considered insignificant.

Minimum lease payments
Present value of 

minimum lease payments

2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Finance lease receivables 
comprise:
Within one year 35,945 32,527 26,319 22,664
In the second year 35,290 33,516 15,727 12,789
In the third year 33,610 34,716 16,089 15,652
In the fourth year 34,736 32,949 19,262 15,920
In the fifth year 35,863 34,050 22,938 19,047
After five years 98,896 129,730 76,275 95,816

      

Gross investment in the 
lease 274,340 297,488 176,610 181,888

Less:  unearned finance 
income (97,730) (115,600) – –

      

Present value of minimum 
lease payment 
receivables 176,610 181,888 176,610 181,888

    

Less:  finance lease 
receivables 
classified as  
non-current assets (150,291) (159,224)

      

Finance lease receivables 
classified as current 
assets 26,319 22,664

      

32. 

5 15
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32. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Interest rates implicit in the above finance leases 
are 13% (2023: 13%).

All finance lease receivables are denominated in 
RMB. The Group is not exposed to foreign currency 
risk as a result of the finance lease arrangements, 
as al l  f inance leases are denominated in the 
functional currencies of group entities.

Deta i ls  o f  ECL assessment  of  f inance lease 
receivables are set out in note 54.

33. PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED 
BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Cash at bank and on hand 30,345 36,417
Less: pledged and restricted bank 

deposits (23) (18,058)
    

Cash and cash equivalents 30,322 18,359
    

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and 
cash equiva lents  of  the Group denominated 
in Renminbi (“RMB”) and United States dollar 
( “USD” )  amounted to  HK$27,114,000 (2023: 
H K $ 2 8 , 9 9 1 , 0 0 0 )  a n d  H K $ 5 1 0 , 0 0 0  ( 2 0 2 3 : 
HK$1,647,000) respectively.

The RMB is not  f reely convert ib le into other 
currencies, however, under the PRC’s Foreign 
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration 
of  Sett lement ,  Sale and Payment of  Fore ign 
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to 
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks 
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Bank balances earn interests at f loating rates 
based on dai ly bank deposit  rates. The bank 
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks 
with no recent history of default.

At 31 December 2024, bank deposits of HK$23,000 
(2023: HK$23,000) were pledged to secure the 
bank borrowings.

32. 

13%
13%

54

33. 
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33. PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED 
BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

At 31 December 2023, certain bank accounts of the 
Group amounted to RMB16,344,000 (equivalent to 
HK$18,035,000) were frozen by a civil ruling issued 
by a court in the PRC. During 31 December 2024, 
the certain bank accounts were unfrozen.

Details of bank borrowings at 31 December 2024 
and 2023 are set out in note 39.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, 
the Group performed ECL assessment on bank 
balances and concluded that the probability of 
defaults of the counterparty banks are insignificant 
and accordingly, no allowance for ECL is provided. 
Details of ECL assessment of bank balances for the 
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are set 
out in note 54.

34. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

The Sub ject  Land has  been deve loped in to 
seven blocks of three-storey residential serviced 
apartments comprising 279 residential serviced 
apartments, together with two blocks of three-
storey office buildings. The residential serviced 
apartments and the office buildings are offered for 
lease out by the Group on a long-term or short-
term lease basis.

The leasing of properties erected on the Subject 
Land under long-term leases is treated as finance 
leases as the committed lease term of the long-
term leases substantially covers the remaining 
period of the operating rights in respect of the 
Subject Land. The related property, plant and 
equipment, right-of-use asset in respect of the 
Subject Land, and operating rights in respect of the 
Subject Land of the residential serviced apartments 
are derecognised upon the commencement of the 
long-term leases.

33. 
 

16,344,000
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34. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023, two long-term leases relating to leasing 
residential serviced apartments entered in the prior 
year commenced respectively. Accordingly, the 
related property, plant and equipment, right-of-use 
asset in respect of the Subject Land, and operating 
rights in respect of the Subject Land of these 
residential serviced apartments of HK$12,908,000 
(2023: HK$18,078,000) were derecognised upon 
the commencement of these long-term leases.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no 
long-term lease (2023: 1 long-term lease) relating 
to leasing a residential serviced apartment was 
entered but not yet commenced. Accordingly, the 
related property, plant and equipment, right-of-use 
asset in respect of the Subject Land, and operating 
rights in respect of the Subject Land of these 
residential serviced apartments of HK$Nil (2023: 
HK$8,515,000) were classified as held for sale.

At 31 December 2024, 1 long-term lease (2023: 
3 long-term leases) relating to leasing residential 
serviced apartments had yet to commence. These 
long-term leases were expected to commence 
within 12 months. The related property, plant and 
equipment, right-of-use asset in respect of the 
Subject Land, and operating rights in respect of 
the Subject Land of these residential serviced 
apartments amounted HK$13,527,000 (2023: 
HK$26,816,000).

34.  

12,908,000
18,078,000

8,515,000
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34. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 
(Continued)

The net proceeds of disposals (net of value-added 
tax) are expected to exceed the net carrying 
amount of the assets classified as held for sale and 
accordingly, no impairment loss was recognised.

The major classes of assets related to residential 
serviced apartments, which have been presented 
separate ly  in  the consol idated statement  of 
financial position as assets classified as held for 
sale, are as follows:

Property, plant
And equipment

Right-of-use
assets

Intangible
assets Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 18) (note 19) (note 22)
18 19 22

      

At 1 January 2023 19,945 2,671 14,236 36,852
Reclassified as held for sale 4,609 617 3,289 8,515
Disposal (9,785) (1,310) (6,983) (18,078)
Exchange alignment (256) (34) (183) (473)

      

At 31 December 2023 and 
1 January 2024  

14,513 1,944 10,359 26,816
Disposal (6,986) (936) (4,986) (12,908)
Exchange alignment (206) (28) (147) (381)
     

At 31 December 2024
7,321 980 5,226 13,527

      

35. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of shares Share capital

  

2024 2023 2024 2023

’000 ’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Ordinary shares of 
HK$0.01 each

0.01

Authorised:
At 1 January and  

31 December 10,000,000 10,000,000 100,000 100,000
      

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January and  

31 December 3,819,606 3,819,606 38,196 38,196
      

34.  

35. 
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36. TRADE PAYABLES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trade payables 43,006 55,253
    

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables 
at the end of the reporting period presented based 
on the invoice dates:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

0 – 30 days 0 30 1,555 2,367
31 – 60 days 31 60 3,084 369
61 – 90 days 61 90 726 38
91 – 120 days 91 120 84 397
Over 120 days 120 37,557 52,082
    

43,006 55,253
    

The average credit period on purchase of goods 
and services is 120 days. The Group has financial 
risk management policies in place to ensure that all 
payables are settled within the credit time frame.

36. 

120
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37. DEPOSITS RECEIVED, ACCRUALS AND 
OTHER PAYABLES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Deposits received 391 404
Accruals 80,529 72,047
Contract liabilities 105,389 104,415
Other payables 81,086 70,335
    

267,395 247,201
Less: deposits received and other 

payables classified as  
non-current liabilities (72,503) (68,525)

    

194,892 178,676
    

As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted 
to HK$99,279,000.

The following table shows how much of the revenue 
recognised relates to carried-forward contract 
liabilities and how much relates to performance 
obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Membership income recognised by 
the Group that was included in the 
contract liabilities balance at the 
beginning of the year

 

28,900 13,922
Membership income recognised by the 

lessee of the Club that was included 
in the contract liabilities balance at the 
beginning of the year

 

– 9,943
    

37. 

99,279,000
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38. RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Rental in respect of the properties 
erected on the Subject Land

 
34,750 36,984

Others 21,803 19,627
    

56,553 56,611
    

39. BANK BORROWINGS

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Secured bank borrowings 137,825 144,196
    

Carrying amounts that contain a 
repayable on demand clause (shown 
under current liabilities) but repayable:

Within one year 6,208 7,727
More than one year, but not 

exceeding two years 6,588 7,921
More than two years, but not 

exceeding five years 22,301 24,898
Over five years 102,728 103,650

    

137,825 144,196
Less:  amounts shown under current 

liabilities (137,825) (144,196)
    

Amounts shown under non-current 
liabilities – –

    

38. 

39. 
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39. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

At 31 December 2024, the Group had the following 
bank borrowings:

(a) a secured installment loan of HK$91,971,000 
(2023: HK$96,841,000), which is interest-
b e a r i n g  a t  1 %  p e r  a n n u m  o v e r  o n e -
month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate 
(“HIBOR”) or 2.25% per annum below the 
prime rate quoted by the bank from time to 
t ime, whichever is lower, secured by ( i )  a 
first legal charge over the Group’s buildings 
and investment properties located in Hong 
Kong with an aggregate carrying amount of 
HK$261,100,000 (2023: HK$328,455,000), (ii) 
a charge over a bank deposit of HK$23,000 
( 2 0 2 3 :  H K $ 2 3 , 0 0 0 )  o f  a  w h o l l y - o w n e d 
subsidiary of  the Company,  namely Max 
Winner Investments Limited, (ii i) a charge/
mortgage over the structured investment 
p roduc ts ,  s tocks ,  and  o the r  secu r i t i es 
with a fair value of HK$15,384,000 (2023: 
H K $ 1 9 , 2 3 4 , 0 0 0 )  h e l d  b y  M a x  W i n n e r 
Investments  L imi ted,  and ( iv )  a  charge/
mortgage over the key management personnel 
l i fe  insurance pol icy with a fa i r  value of 
HK$10,135,000 (2023: HK$9,846,000) held by 
Max Winner Investments Limited, guaranteed 
by the Company and two whol ly-owned 
subsidiaries of the Company, namely K E 
Group Limited and Om Gem Limited and 
repayable by 159 equal monthly installments 
ending on 18 March 2038;

(b) a secured term loan of HK$36,361,000 (2023: 
HK$37,580,000), which is interest-bearing 
at 1% per annum over one-month HIBOR, 
secured by (i) the first legal charge over the 
Group’s buildings and investment properties 
located in Hong Kong with an aggregate 
carrying amount of HK$261,100,000 (2023: 
HK$328,455,000), (ii) the charge over a bank 
deposit of HK$23,000 (2023: HK$23,000) 
of  Max Winner Investments L imited,  ( i i i ) 
the charge/mortgage over the structured 
investment  products ,  s tocks,  and other 
securities with a fair value of HK$15,384,000 
(2023: HK$19,234,000) held by Max Winner 
Investments  L imi ted,  and ( iv )  a  charge/
mortgage over the key management personnel 
l i fe  insurance pol icy with a fa i r  value of 
HK$10,135,000 (2023: HK$9,846,000) held by 
Max Winner Investments Limited, guaranteed 
by the Company, K E Group Limited and Om 
Gem Limited and repayable by 207 equal 
monthly instal lments ending on 10 March 
2042;

39. 
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39. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

(c) a  s e c u re d  t e r m  l o a n  o f  U S $ 1 , 2 1 9 , 0 0 0 
( e q u i v a l e n t  t o  H K $ 9 , 4 9 3 , 0 0 0 )  ( 2 0 2 3 : 
US$1,248,000 (equivalent to HK$9,775,000)), 
which is interest-bearing at 1% per annum 
over  one month DBS Bank (Hong Kong) 
Limited’s cost of funds on the outstanding 
amount, secured by (i) the first legal charge 
over the Group’s buildings and investment 
propert ies located in Hong Kong with an 
aggregate carrying amount of HK$261,100,000 
(2023: HK$328,455,000), (ii) the charge over a 
bank deposit of HK$23,000 (2023: HK$23,000) 
of  Max Winner Investments L imited,  ( i i i ) 
the charge/mortgage over the structured 
investment  products ,  s tocks,  and other 
securities with a fair value of HK$15,384,000 
(2023: HK$19,234,000) held by Max Winner 
Investments  L imi ted,  and ( iv )  a  charge/
mortgage over the key management personnel 
l i fe  insurance pol icy with a fa i r  value of 
HK$10,135,000 (2023: HK$9,846,000) held by 
Max Winner Investments Limited, guaranteed 
by the Company, K E Group Limited and Om 
Gem Limited and repayable by 212 equal 
monthly installments ending on 25 August 
2042.

As the secured installment loan and the secured 
term loans contain a repayable on demand clause, 
the entire outstanding balance of the secured 
installment loan and the secured term loans were 
classified under current liabilities.

All bank borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong 
dollars.

40. OTHER BORROWINGS

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Secured other borrowings –  
securities margin financing facilities

 –  
49,388 53,874

Unsecured other borrowings 203,148 200,874
    

252,536 254,748
    

39. 
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40. OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the securities margin 
f inancing fac i l i t ies  of  HK$33,386,000 (2023: 
HK$38,550,000) granted by a securities brokerage 
firm, which are interest bearing at prime rate plus 
3% per annum and secured by ( i )  the Group’s 
listed equity securities in Hong Kong held in the 
margin securities trading account with a fair value 
of HK$61,103,000 (2023: HK$65,737,000),  of 
which HK$47,751,000 (2023: HK$59,040,000) is 
related to the Group’s financial assets at FVTPL 
and HK$13,352,000 (2023: HK$ HK$6,697,000) is 
related to part of the Group’s listed investments 
in associate, and (ii) a personal guarantee given 
by Mr. Lei Hong Wai, the Chairman of the board of 
directors and an executive director.

As at 31 December 2024, the securities margin 
f i nanc ing  f ac i l i t y  o f  HK$16 ,002 ,000  ( 2023 : 
HK$15,324,000) granted by a securities brokerage 
firm, which is interest bearing at a fixed rate of 6% 
per annum and secured by (i) the Group’s listed 
equity securities in Hong Kong held in the margin 
securit ies trading account with a fair value of 
HK$13,154,000 (2023: HK$19,041,000), which is 
related to the Group’s financial assets at FVTPL, 
and (ii) a personal guarantee given by Mr. Lei Hong 
Wai.

Upon the maturity of the unsecured other borrowing 
of HK$200,000,000, the finance company agreed 
to the Company that the repayment date of the 
fixed loan was extended from 25 May 2023 to 1 
April 2025. Save and except for the extension of 
the repayment date, all terms and conditions of the 
loan agreement remain unchanged and continue in 
full force and effect.

As at 31 December 2023, the unsecured other 
borrowing of HK$200,000,000, which is interest-
bearing at 8% per annum for the period from the 
date of the first drawdown to 31 March 2024 and 
10% per annum from 1 April 2024, secured by 
(i) the post-dated cheques drawn in favour of a 
finance company for payment of the principal and 
the interests stipulated under the loan agreement, 
and (ii) a personal guarantee given by Mr. Lei Hong 
Wai, and maturing on 1 April 2025. The unsecured 
other borrowing contains a repayable on demand 
clause.

40. 
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40. OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

During the year, in respect of other borrowing with 
a carrying amount of HK$200,000,000 as at 31 
December 2024, the Group breached certain of the 
terms of the other borrowing, which are primarily 
related to the default clause of interest is not 
paid by the Group when due. On discovery of the 
breach, the directors of the Company informed the 
lender and commenced a renegotiation of the terms 
of the loan with the relevant financial provider. As 
at 31 December 2024, those negotiations had not 
been concluded. Since the lender has not agreed to 
waive its right to demand immediate payment as at 
the end of the reporting period, the loan has been 
classified as a current liability as at 31 December 
2024. Up to the date of approval for issuance of the 
consolidated financial statements, the negotiations 
are still in progress. In any event, should the lender 
cal l  for immediate repayment of the loan, the 
directors of the Company believe that adequate 
alternative sources of f inance are available to 
ensure that there is no threat to the continuing 
operations of the Group. The interest is calculated 
at 16% per annum on the default payment from the 
date of default until the sum is paid.

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding balance 
of  the revo lv ing loan fac i l i t ies  granted by a 
finance company amounted to HK$84,000 (2023: 
HK$874,000), which is unsecured, interest-bearing 
at the prime rate plus 3% per annum, and maturing 
on 21 March 2025.

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding balance 
of the cash advance granted by an independent 
third party amounted to HK$3,064,000, which is 
unsecured, interest-bearing at a fixed rate of 4% 
per annum, and maturing on 21 October 2025.

40. 
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41. LEASE LIABILITIES

Minimum
lease payments

Present value
of minimum

lease payments

2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Lease liabilities payable:
Within one year 16,852 19,384 4,123 6,106
More than one year, 

but not exceeding 
two years 17,076 17,231 4,562 4,209

More than two years, 
but not exceeding 
five years 52,467 52,814 15,101 14,695

Over five years 503,821 533,086 245,342 256,104
      

590,216 622,515 269,128 281,114
Less:  future finance 

charge (321,088) (341,401) – –
      

Present value of lease 
liabilities 269,128 281,114 269,128 281,114

    

Less:  lease liabilities 
classified as 
non-current 
liabilities (265,005) (275,008)

      

Lease liabilities 
classified as current 
liabilities 4,123 6,106

      

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease 
liabilities range from 4.90% to 6.78% (2023: from 
2.22% to 6.78%).

The lease liabilities are denominated in currencies 
set out below:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Hong Kong dollar 210 509
RMB 268,918 280,605
    

269,128 281,114
    

41. 
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42. GUARANTEED SECURED NOTES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Guaranteed secured notes 174,267 165,245
    

174,267 165,245
Less:  guaranteed secured notes classified 

as non-current liabilities – (141,120)
    

174,267 24,125
    

HK$’000

At 1 January 2023 197,000
Imputed interest on guaranteed secured 

notes 30,362
Interest paid and payable (24,672)
Recognition of guaranteed secured notes 162,555
Derecognition of guaranteed secured notes (196,000)
Redemption (4,000)
    

At 31 December 2023  
and 1 January 2024 165,245

Imputed interest on guaranteed secured 
notes 21,688

Interest paid and payable (7,969)
Recognition of guaranteed secured notes 179,584
Derecognition of guaranteed secured notes (168,694)
Loss on modification of terms of  

guaranteed secured notes 11,995
Redemption (27,582)
    

At 31 December 2024 174,267
    

42. 
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42. GUARANTEED SECURED NOTES 
(Continued)

Guaranteed Secured Notes due 2023

On 29 December 2022, the Company as issuer, Mr. 
Lei Hong Wai and Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton as 
guarantors entered into a subscription and note 
instrument agreement with the subscriber, pursuant 
to which the Company issues and the subscriber 
subscribed for the guaranteed secured notes 
due 2023 in the aggregate principal amount of 
HK$197,000,000 (the “Guaranteed Secured Notes 
due 2023”). Pursuant to the terms and conditions 
of the subscription and note instrument agreement, 
the proceeds of the Guaranteed Secured Notes 
due 2023 were fully set off against the outstanding 
principal amount of the Guaranteed Secured Notes 
due 2022. On 29 December 2022, the Company 
issued the Guaranteed Secured Notes due 2023 in 
the aggregate principal amount of HK$197,000,000 
to the subscriber.

The Guaranteed Secured Notes due 2023 were 
interest bearing at 17% per annum and payable 
semi-annually in arrears, secured by a share charge 
over 100% of the issued share capital in Eternity 
Investment (China) Limited, guaranteed by Mr. Lei 
Hong Wai and Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton, and 
maturing on 23 September 2023.

The effect ive interest rate of the Guaranteed 
Secured Notes due 2023 was 17.85% per annum.

As at 1 January 2023, the outstanding principal 
amount of the Guaranteed Secured Notes due 2023 
was HK$197,000,000.

Dur ing  the  yea r  ended  31  December  2023 , 
the  Company made a  par t ia l  redempt ion  o f 
HK$1,000,000 of the Guaranteed Secured Notes 
due 2023.

Upon the maturity of the Guaranteed Secured 
Notes due 2023, the noteholders have agreed to (i) 
extend the maturity date from 24 September 2023 
to 23 September 2025 and (ii) modify the terms 
relating to interest rate, interest payment dates, 
and partial redemption of the Guaranteed Secured 
Notes due 2023. Save and except for the above 
modifications, all terms and conditions remain 
unchanged and continue in full force and effect.

42. 
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42. GUARANTEED SECURED NOTES 
(Continued)

Guaranteed Secured Notes due 2023 (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding principal 
amount of the guaranteed secured notes due on 
23 September 2025 was HK$193,000,000 (the 
“Guaranteed Secured Notes due 2025”), which 
are (i) interest-bearing at 17% per annum for the 
period from 24 September 2022 to 22 January 
2024 and 10% per annum from 23 January 2024, 
(ii) secured by a share charge over 100% of the 
issued share capital in Eternity Investment (China) 
Limited, (iii) guaranteed by Mr. Lei Hong Wai and 
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton, and (iv) repayable 
by 18 partial redemptions during the period from 
23 September 2023 to 23 March 2025 and final 
redemption on 23 September 2025.

The effect ive interest rate of the Guaranteed 
Secured Notes due 2025 is 14.51% per annum.

Guaranteed Secured Notes due 2025

Under the Guaranteed Secured Notes due 2025, the 
Company covenants with the noteholders that from 
the issue date and for so long as any Guaranteed 
Secured Notes due 2025 are outstanding, (i) the 
Group wil l  not create any encumbrance upon 
the whole or any part of i ts present or future 
undertaking, assets or revenue of the Group to 
secure any present or future indebtedness incurred 
or to secure any guarantee or indemnity in respect 
of any guarantee or indemnity in respect of (subject 
to the exceptions as set out in the Guaranteed 
Secured Notes due 2025), and (ii) the Company will 
ensure the consolidated tangible net worth of the 
Group will not be less than HK$850,000,000. The 
Company complied with the covenant throughout 
the period from 29 December 2022 to 31 December 
2023.

With the extension of the maturity date for two 
years, the Guaranteed Secured Notes due 2025 
were measured at fair value at modification date 
with reference to a valuation prepared by Grant 
Sherman using the discounted cash flow method. 
Based on the valuation, the outstanding principal 
amount of the Guaranteed Secured Notes due 
2025 of HK$196,000,000 exceeded its fair value 
by HK$33,445,000. Accordingly, the Company 
recognised the gain on modification of terms of 
guaranteed secured notes of  HK$33,445,000 
in the “Other gains and losses” line item in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

42. 
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42. GUARANTEED SECURED NOTES 
(Continued)

Guaranteed Secured Notes due 2025 (Continued)

Dur ing  the  yea r  ended  31  December  2023 , 
t he  Company  made  pa r t i a l  redempt ions  o f 
HK$3,000,000 of the Guaranteed Secured Notes 
due 2025.

The  Company  had  the  op t i on  to  repay  the 
outstanding principal amount of the Guaranteed 
Secured Notes due 2025 at  any t ime before 
the maturity date. The option was regarded as 
embedded derivatives in the host contract. The 
directors assessed the fair value of the option 
with reference to the valuat ion performed by 
Grant Sherman, which assessed the fair value of 
the option using the discount cash flow method 
and determined that the fair value of the option 
was insignificant on initial recognition and at 31 
December 2023. Accordingly, the option was not 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year, in respect of guaranteed secured 
notes with a carrying amount of HK$174,267,000 as 
at 31 December 2024, the Group breached certain 
of the terms of the Guaranteed Secured Notes due 
2025, which are primarily related to the default 
clause of interest is not paid by the Group when 
due. On discovery of the breach, the directors of 
the Company informed the lender and commenced 
a renegot iat ion of  the loan with the re levant 
financial provider. As at 31 December 2024, those 
negotiations had not been concluded. The loan 
has been classified as a current liability as at 31 
December 2024. Up to the date of approval for 
issuance of the consolidated financial statements, 
the negotiations are still in progress. In any event, 
should the lender call for immediate repayment 
of the loan, the directors of the Company believe 
that adequate alternative sources of finance are 
available to ensure that there is no threat to the 
continuing operations of the Group. The interest 
is calculated at 18% per annum on the default 
payment from the date of default until the sum is 
paid.

42. 
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43. 

7,426,000 9,210,000 

3%

1,959,000 1,959,000 

44. 

43. AMOUNTS DUE TO ASSOCIATES

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding balance 
of  amount due to an associate amounted to 
HK$7,426,000 (2023: HK$9,210,000), which is 
unsecured, interest-bearing at the prime rate plus 
3% per annum, and maturing on 21 March 2025 
(2023: 21 March 2024). The amount due to an 
associate contains a repayable on demand clause.

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding balance 
of  amount due to an associate amounted to 
HK$1,959,000 (2023: HK$1,959,000), is unsecured, 
non-interest bearing, and repayable on demand.

44. AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS AND 
RELATED PARTY

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Mr. Lei Hong Wai 12,945 121
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fan 600 3,400
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton 7,481 32,335
Ms. Chan Mei Sau Teresina 52,470 53,859
    

73,496 89,715
    

As at 31 December 2024, the cash advances from  
Mr. Lei Hong Wai are interest-bearing at 21.60% 
per annum, unsecured, and repayable on demand 
(2023:  non- interest  bear ing,  unsecured,  and 
repayable demand).

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the cash 
advances from Mr. Cheung Kwok Fan are non-
interest bearing, unsecured, and repayable on 
demand.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the cash 
advances from Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton are 
interest-bearing at a one-month HIBOR quoted 
by Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited plus 1.3% 
per annum or 2.25% per annum below the prime 
rate for Hong Kong dollars quoted by Bank of 
China (Hong Kong) Limited, whichever is lower, 
unsecured, and repayable on demand.

21.60%

1.3%

2.25%
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44. AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS AND 
RELATED PARTY (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the cash 
advances from Ms. Chan Mei Sau Teresina, the 
spouse of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai Elton, are interest-
bearing at a one-month HIBOR quoted by Bank 
of East Asia Limited plus 1.3% per annum or 
2.50% per annum below the prime rate for Hong 
Kong dollars quoted by Bank of East Asia Limited, 
whichever is lower, unsecured, and repayable on 
demand.

45. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated 
statement of financial position, certain deferred 
tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The 
fo l lowing is  the analys is  of  the deferred tax 
balances for financial reporting purposes:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Deferred tax assets 62,570 69,892
Deferred tax liabilities (179,357) (187,027)
    

(116,787) (117,135)
    

44.  

1.3%
2.50%

45. 
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45. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 
(Continued)

The followings are the major deferred tax assets 
and liabilities recognised and movements thereon:

Tax
losses

Fair value 
adjustment on

acquisition
of subsidiaries

Right-of-use 
assets

Lease 
liabilities

Allowance
for

ECL Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

At 1 January 2023 738 (195,495) (59,282) 71,581 80,117 (102,341)
Credited/(charged) 

profit or loss – 6,672 1,458 (912) (24,517) (17,299)
Exchange alignment – 1,796 1,798 (1,018) (71) 2,505
        

At 31 December 2023 and 
1 January 2024 738 (187,027) (56,026) 69,651 55,529 (117,135)

Credited/(charged) 
profit or loss – 4,609 1,439 (946) (8,283) (3,181)

Exchange alignment – 3,061 2,049 (1,475) (106) 3,529
        

At 31 December 2024 738 (179,357) (52,538) 67,230 47,140 (116,787)
        

At 31 December 2024, the Group had unused 
estimated tax losses of HK$567,415,000 (2023: 
HK$486,176,000) available for offsetting against 
future taxable profits. A deferred tax asset has 
been recognised in respect of HK$4,473,000 (2023: 
HK$4,473,000) of such losses. No deferred tax 
asset has been recognised in respect of remaining 
HK$562,942,000 (2023: HK$481,703,000) due to 
the unpredictability of future profit streams.

45. 
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE 
COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the 
Company

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

ASSETS
Non-current asset
Interests in subsidiaries 1,523,324 1,741,337
    

Current assets
Prepayments 518 366
Cash and cash equivalents 188 1,777
    

706 2,143
    

Total assets 1,524,030 1,743,480
    

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable  

to owners of the Company
Share capital 38,196 38,196
Shares held for share award plan (24,455) (24,455)
Reserves 1,018,396 1,259,277
    

Total equity 1,032,137 1,273,018
    

46.  
 

(a) 



237

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

For the year ended 31 December 2024  

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE 
COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Statement of financial position of the 
Company (Continued)

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accruals and other payable 18,192 7,484
Amounts due to subsidiaries 19,445 13,997
Amounts due to directors and 

related party 65,415 73,652
Amount due to an associate 7,426 9,210
Other borrowings 203,148 200,874
Guaranteed secured notes 174,267 24,125
    

487,893 329,342
    

Non-current liability
Other payable 4,000 –
Guaranteed secured notes – 141,120
    

Total liabilities 491,893 470,462
    

Total equity and liabilities 1,524,030 1,743,480
    

Net current liabilities (487,187) (327,199)
    

Total assets less current liabilities 1,036,137 1,414,138
    

Approved and authorised for issue by the 
board of directors on 31 March 2025 and 
signed on its behalf by:

Lei Hong Wai

Director

Cheung Kwok Wai Elton

Director

46. 
 

(a) 



238 ETERNITY INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 December 2024  

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE 
COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Reserve of the Company

Shares held
for share

award plan
Share

premium
Contributed

surplus

Equity-
settled 
share-
based

payment
reserve

Accumulated
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
a b c

        

At 1 January 2023 (24,455) 1,807,051 488,016 16,377 (595,213) 1,691,776
Loss and total comprehensive 

expense for the year – – – – (456,954) (456,954)
        

At 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024 (24,455) 1,807,051 488,016 16,377 (1,052,167) 1,234,822

Loss and total comprehensive 
expense for the year – – – – (241,686) (241,686)

Release for the lapse of share 
option – – – (16,377) 16,377 –

Recognition of equity-settled 
share-based payment – – – 805 – 805

        

At 31 December 2024 (24,455) 1,807,051 488,016 805 (1,277,476) 993,941
        

46. 
 

(b) 
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE 
COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Reserve of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

(a) The Company’s shares purchased under the 
share award plan and held by the trustee of the 
share award plan are presented as “shares held 
for share award plan” and deducted from total 
equity.

(b) Contributed surplus represents the net amount 
t r ans fe r red  f rom sha re  cap i ta l  and  sha re 
premium to retained profits pursuant to the 
special resolutions passed at the special general 
meetings held on 22 August 2003, 30 April 2008 
and 12 December 2011.

Under the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda (as 
amended), the contributed surplus is available for 
distribution. However, the Company cannot make 
a distribution out of the contributed surplus if: 
(i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to 
pay its liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the 
realisable value of its assets would thereby be 
less than its liabilities.

(c) Equity-settled share-based payment reserve 
represents the fair value of services estimated 
to be received in exchange for the grant of the 
relevant share options over the relevant vesting 
periods, the total of which is based on the fair 
value of the share options at grant date. The 
amount for each reporting period is determined 
by spreading the fair value of the share options 
over the relevant vesting periods (if any) and is 
recognised as staff costs and related expenses 
with a corresponding increase in equity-settled 
share-based payment reserve.

46. 
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47. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessor

Rental income from investment properties earned 
during the year amounted to HK$7,382,000 (2023: 
HK$9,303,000). The investment properties are 
expected to generate rental yields of 4.14% (2023: 
4.03%) on an ongoing basis.  The investment 
propert ies have committed lessees next four 
months to 3 years (2023: the next four months to 3 
years).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had 
contracted with lessees for the following future 
minimum lease payments receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall due as 
follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Within one year 3,825 6,850
In the second to fifth year inclusive 1,255 7,138
    

5,080 13,988
    

48. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had 
the following capital commitments which were 
contracted but not provided for.

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Capital expenditures for the Subject 
Land 227,201 255,967

    

47. 
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49. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Share option schemes

2011 Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the 
shareholders on 12 December 2011, the Company 
adopted a new share option scheme (the “2011 
Share Option Scheme”) to replace the share 
option scheme adopted on 21 January 2002. 
Details of the 2011 Share Option Scheme are set 
out in the Company’s circular dated 18 November 
2011.  A summary of  the  2011 Share  Opt ion 
Scheme is as follows:

(a) Purpose

The  purpose  o f  the  2011  Share  Opt ion 
Scheme is to enable the Company to grant 
share options to selected eligible participants 
as incentives or rewards for their contribution 
or potential contribution to the Group.

(b) Participants

The eligible participants include directors, 
employees, shareholders, business or joint 
venture partners, customers, and suppliers 
of the Group and any person who, at the 
sole discretion of the board of directors, has 
contributed or may contribute to the Group.

(c) Total number of shares available for issue

As at the date of the annual report, the total 
number of shares available for issue in respect 
of the outstanding share options granted 
under the 2011 Share Option Scheme was 
171,760,000,  represent ing 4.50% of  the 
Company’s shares in issue.

49.  

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

171,760,000
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49. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share option schemes (Continued)

2011 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(d) Maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by the shareholders, the 
total  number of shares issued and to be 
issued upon exercise of the share options 
granted to each eligible participant (including 
both exercised and outstanding share options) 
in any 12-month must not exceed 1% of the 
Company’s shares in issue.

Any share options to a substantial shareholder 
or an independent non-executive director 
or any of their respective associates, where 
the total number of shares issued and to be 
issued upon exercise of al l  share options 
granted or to be granted (including share 
options exercised, cancelled, outstanding 
share options) to such person in any 12-month 
period exceed 0.1% of the Company’s shares 
in  issue and wi th an aggregate va lue in 
excess of HK$5,000,000, are subject to the 
shareholders’ approval.

(e) Period within which the share options may be 
exercised

The exercise period of the share options 
g ran ted  i s  de te rm ined  by  the  board  o f 
directors, but in any event no later than ten 
years from the date of the grant.

(f) Vesting period

There is no specif ied minimum period for 
which a share option must be held before it 
can be exercised.

(g) Amount payable on acceptance of the share 
options and the period within which payments 
must be made

The acceptance of an offer of a grant of share 
options must be made within 30 days from 
the date of the offer with a payment of a non-
refundable nominal consideration of HK$1 by 
the grantee.

49.  
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49. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share option schemes (Continued)

2011 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(h) Basis of determining the exercise price

The exerc ise  pr ice  of  a  share  opt ion to 
subscribe for the Company’s shares shall be 
not less than the highest of: (i) the closing 
price of the shares as stated in the Exchange’s 
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer, 
(ii) the average closing prices of the shares 
as stated in the Exchange’s daily quotations 
sheets for the five business days immediately 
preceding the date of the offer, and (iii) the 
nominal value of the shares on the date of the 
offer.

(i) Remaining life

The 2011 Share Option Scheme expired on 11 
December 2021. Upon its expiry, no further 
share options can be granted under the 2011 
Share Option Scheme, but the provisions of 
the 2011 Share Option Scheme remain in full 
force and effect in respect of the outstanding 
share options granted before its expiry.

Details of specific categories of share options 
granted under the 2011 Share Option Scheme are 
as follows:

Share
option type Date of grant Vesting date

Performance
target Exercise period Exercise price

Closing price of 
shares prior
to the date of
grant

2021 4 June 2021 100% of the share 
options was 
vested 
on 4 June 2021 

100%

Nil 4 June 2021 to 
3 June 2024 

HK$0.298 
0.298

HK$0.290 
0.290

49.  
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49. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share option schemes (Continued)

2011 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The following table discloses the movements of the 
2011 Share Option Scheme during the year ended 
31 December 2024:

Number of share options

Share option type

Outstanding
As at

1 January
2024

Granted
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Cancelled
during

the year

Lapsed
during

the year

Outstanding
as at

31 December
2024

        

2021 171,760,000 – – – (171,760,000) –
        

Exercisable at the end 
of the reporting 
period –

        

Weighted average 
exercise price

HK$0.298
0.298

        

The following table discloses the movements for 
the 2011 Share Option Scheme during the year 
ended 31 December 2023:

Number of share options

Share option type

Outstanding
As at

1 January
2023

Granted
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Cancelled
during

the year

Lapsed
during

the year

Outstanding
as at

31 December
2023

        

2021 171,760,000 – – – – 171,760,000
        

Exercisable at the end 
of the reporting 
period 171,760,000

        

Weighted average 
exercise price

HK$0.298
0.298

        

49.  
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49. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share option schemes (Continued)

2011 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The fair value of the share options granted during 
the year ended 31 December 2021 was determined 
based on the  va luat ion  per formed by Grant 
Sherman using a binomial option pricing model. 
The inputs into the model were as follows:

Share 
option type

2021

   

Grant date share price HK$0.295
0.295

Exercise price HK$0.298
0.298

Expected life 3 years
3

Expected volatility 53.28%

Expected dividend yield 0%

Risk-free interest rate 0.399%
   

Expected volat i l i ty  was determined by using 
the historical volatil ity of the Company’s share 
price over the previous year. The expected life 
used in the model has been adjusted, based 
on the directors’ best estimate, for the effects 
of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and 
behavioural considerations.

The binomial option pricing model has been used 
to estimate the fair value of the share options. 
The variables and assumptions used in computing 
the fair value of the share options are based on 
the directors’ best estimate. The value of a share 
option varies with different variables of certain 
subjective assumptions.

49.  
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49. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share option schemes (Continued)

2021 Share Option Scheme

As the 2011 Share Option Scheme expired on 11 
December 2021, the Company adopted a new 
share option scheme (the “2021 Share Option 
Scheme”)  pursuant to an ordinary resolut ion 
passed by the shareholders at the special general 
meeting held on 15 December 2021. Details of 
the 2021 Share Option Scheme are set out in the 
Company’s circular dated 25 November 2021. A 
summary of the 2021 Share Option Scheme is as 
follows:

(a) Purpose

The  purpose  o f  the  2021  Share  Opt ion 
Scheme is to enable the Company to grant 
share options to selected eligible participants 
as incentives or rewards for their contribution 
or potential contribution to the Group.

(b) Participants

The eligible participants include directors, 
employees, shareholders, business or joint 
venture partners, customers, and suppliers 
of the Group and any person who, at the 
sole discretion of the board of directors, has 
contributed or may contribute to the Group.

(c) Total number of shares available for issue

As at the date of the annual report, the total 
number of shares available for issue under the 
2021 Share Option Scheme is 381,960,648, 
representing 10.00% of the Company’s shares 
in issue.

49.  

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

381,960,648
10.00%
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49. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share option schemes (Continued)

2021 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(d) Maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by the shareholders, the 
total  number of shares issued and to be 
issued upon exercise of the share options 
granted to each eligible participant (including 
both exercised and outstanding share options) 
in any 12-month must not exceed 1% of the 
Company’s shares in issue.

Any share options to a substantial shareholder 
or an independent non-executive director 
or any of their respective associates, where 
the total number of shares issued and to be 
issued upon exercise of al l  share options 
granted or to be granted (including share 
options exercised, cancelled, outstanding 
share options) to such person in any 12-month 
period exceed 0.1% of the Company’s shares 
in  issue and wi th an aggregate va lue in 
excess of HK$5,000,000, are subject to the 
shareholders’ approval.

(e) Period within which the share options may be 
exercised

The exercise period of the share options 
g ran ted  i s  de te rm ined  by  the  board  o f 
directors, but in any event no later than ten 
years from the date of the grant.

(f) Vesting period

There is no specif ied minimum period for 
which a share option must be held before it 
can be exercised.

(g) Amount payable on acceptance of the share 
options and the period within which payments 
must be made

The acceptance of an offer of a grant of share 
options must be made within 30 days from 
the date of the offer with a payment of a non-
refundable nominal consideration of HK$1 by 
the grantee.

49.  

(d) 

12

1%

12

0.1%
5,000,000

(e) 

(f) 

(g) 
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49. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share option schemes (Continued)

2021 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(h) Basis of determining the exercise price

The exerc ise  pr ice  of  a  share  opt ion to 
subscribe for the Company’s shares shall be 
not less than the highest of: (i) the closing 
price of the shares as stated in the Exchange’s 
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer, 
(ii) the average closing prices of the shares 
as stated in the Exchange’s daily quotations 
sheets for the five business days immediately 
preceding the date of the offer, and (iii) the 
nominal value of the shares on the date of the 
offer.

(i) Remaining life

The 2021 Share Option Scheme shall be valid 
and effective for a period of ten years from 
the date of adoption ending on 15 December 
2031.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023, no share options were granted under the 
2021 Share Option Scheme.

On 15 August 2024, in view of the amendments to 
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules relating to share 
scheme which came into effect on 1 January 2023, 
the Company terminated the 2021 Share Option 
Scheme.

49.  

(h) 

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(i) 

17
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49. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share option schemes (Continued)

2024 Share Option Scheme

In view of the amendments to Chapter 17 of the 
List ing Rules relat ing to share scheme which 
came into effect on 1 January 2023, the Company 
adopted a new share option scheme (the “2024 
Share Option Scheme”) pursuant to an ordinary 
resolut ion passed by the shareholders at the 
special general meeting held on 15 August 2024. 
Details of the 2024 Share Option Scheme are set 
out in the Company’s circular dated 29 July 2024. 
A summary of the 2024 Share Option Scheme is as 
follows:

(a) Purpose

The  purpose  o f  the  2024  Share  Opt ion 
Scheme is to recognise and acknowledge 
the contributions which the selected eligible 
participants have made or may make to the 
Group.

(b) Participants

The eligible participants include directors, 
e m p l o y e e s ,  s u p p l i e r s ,  c o n t r a c t o r s , 
distributors, agents, consultants and advisers, 
provided that the board of directors may have 
absolute discretion to determine whether or 
not one falls within the above category. The 
eligibility of each of the eligible participant 
shall be determined by the board of directors 
or a committee of the board of directors from 
time to time and on a case-by-case basis

(c) Total number of shares available for issue

As at the date of the annual report, the total 
number of shares available for issue under the 
2024 Share Option Scheme is 381,960,648, 
representing 10.00% of the Company’s shares 
in issue.

49.  

17

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

381,960,648
10.00%
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49. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share option schemes (Continued)

2024 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(d) Maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by the shareholders, the 
total  number of shares issued and to be 
issued upon exercise of the share options 
granted to each eligible participant (including 
both exercised and outstanding share options) 
in any 12-month must not exceed 1% of the 
Company’s shares in issue (excluding treasury 
shares of the Company).

Any share options to a substantial shareholder 
or an independent non-executive director 
or any of their respective associates, where 
the total number of shares issued and to be 
issued upon exercise of al l  share options 
granted or to be granted (including share 
options exercised, cancelled, outstanding 
share options) to such person in any 12-month 
period exceed 0.1% of the Company’s shares 
in issue (excluding treasury shares of the 
Company), are subject to the shareholders’ 
approval.

(e) Period within which the share options may be 
exercised

The exercise period of the share options 
g ran ted  i s  de te rm ined  by  the  board  o f 
directors, but in any event no later than ten 
years from the date of the grant.

(f) Vesting period

Save for the circumstances prescribed in the 
Company’s circular dated 29 July 2024, the 
share options must be held by the grantee for 
at least twelve (12) months before the share 
options can be exercised.

49.  

(d) 

12

1%

12

0.1%

(e)  
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49. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share option schemes (Continued)

2024 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(g) Amount payable on acceptance of the share 
options and the period within which payments 
must be made

The acceptance of an offer of a grant of share 
options must be made within 30 days from 
the date of the offer with a payment of a 
nonrefundable nominal consideration of HK$1 
by the grantee.

(h) Basis of determining the exercise price

The exerc ise  pr ice  of  a  share  opt ion to 
subscribe for the Company’s shares shall be 
not less than the highest of: (i) the closing 
price of the shares as stated in the Exchange’s 
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer, 
(ii) the average closing prices of the shares 
as stated in the Exchange’s daily quotations 
sheets for the five business days immediately 
preceding the date of the offer, and (iii) the 
nominal value of the shares on the date of the 
offer.

(i) Remaining life

The 2024 Share Option Scheme shall be valid 
and effective for a period of ten years from the 
date of adoption ending on 15 August 2034.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023, no share options were granted under the 
2024 Share Option Scheme.

Share award scheme

On 16 September 2021, the board of directors 
resolved to adopt a share award scheme. At the 
special general meeting of the Company held on 
15 August 2024, certain amendments to be made 
to the share award scheme to, among other things, 
bring it in line to reflect the latest amendments to 
the requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing 
Rules which took effect on 1 January 2023 was 
approved by the shareholders of the Company. 
Details of the share Option Scheme are set out 
in the Company’s circular dated 29 July 2024. A 
summary of the share award plan is as follows:

49.  

(g) 
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1

(h) 

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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49. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share award plan (Continued)

(a) Purpose

The purpose of the share award scheme is 
(i) to recognise and reward the contribution 
of certain eligible participants to the growth 
and development of the Group and to provide 
incentives in order to retain them for the 
continual operation and development of the 
Group, and (ii) to attract suitable personnel for 
further development of the Group.

(b) Participants

The eligible participants include directors, 
e m p l o y e e s ,  s u p p l i e r s ,  c o n t r a c t o r s , 
distributors, agents, consultants and advisers, 
provided that the board of directors may have 
absolute discretion to determine whether or 
not one falls within the above category. The 
eligibility of each of the eligible participant 
shall be determined by the board of directors 
or a committee of the board of directors from 
time to time and on a case-by-case basis.

(c) Total number of shares available for awards

The maximum number of shares which may be 
awarded under the share award scheme shall 
not exceed 10% of the total number of the 
Company’s shares in issue from time to time.

The number of shares available for award 
under the existing scheme mandate of the 
share award scheme on 1 January 2024 was 
381,960,648 shares and on 31 December 
2024 and the date of the annual report was 
343,960,648 shares.

49.  

(a) 

(i)

(ii)

(b) 

(c) 

10%

381,960,648
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49. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share award plan (Continued)

(d) Administration of the share award plan

The share award scheme shall be subject to 
the administration of the board of directors 
whose  dec is ions  on  a l l  mat te rs  a r i s ing 
in relat ion to the share award scheme or 
i ts interpretat ion or effect shal l  be f inal , 
conclusive and binding on all persons who 
may be affected thereby, provided that such 
administration shall not prejudice:

(A) the powers of the trustee as provided 
under the trust deed, or 

(B) t h e  p o w e r s  o f  t h e  r e m u n e r a t i o n 
committee of the board of directors (or 
such committee or such sub-committee 
or person(s) delegated with such power 
and authority by the board of directors) 
on recommending and/or deciding (on 
and subject to the terms and conditions 
provided under the share award scheme) 
the selection of the selected participants, 
the number of awarded shares to be 
awarded to the respect ive se lected 
participants and other related matters 
as expressly provided under the share 
award scheme. 

A se lected part ic ipant  shal l  ensure that 
the acceptance, vest ing and the holding 
of  any awarded shares  under  the share 
award scheme and the exercise of all rights 
attaching thereto are valid and comply with all 
laws, legislation and regulations including all 
applicable exchange control, fiscal and other 
laws to which he/she is subject. The Board 
may, as a condit ion precedent of making 
an Award, require an Eligible Participant to 
produce such evidence as it may reasonably 
require for such purpose.

49.  

(d) 

(A) 

(B) 
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49. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share award plan (Continued)

(e) Maximum entitlement of each selected eligible 
participant

The maximum number of shares which may be 
allotted and issued in respect of all awards to 
be granted under the share award scheme and 
any options and awards to be granted under 
any other schemes to an eligible participant 
shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total 
number of shares in issue (excluding treasury 
shares) as at the date of approval of the share 
award scheme ( i .e.  381,960,648 shares) . 
Notwithstanding that the group contribution 
threshold may be suff ic ient to subscribe 
or purchase such number of shares that is 
greater than the scheme mandate limit, the 
board of directors shall not instruct the trustee 
(or SPV, if so established and subsisting and 
authorised by the trustee) to subscribe or 
purchase any shares for the purpose of the 
share award scheme when such subscription 
or purchase will result in the scheme mandate 
limit, if any, being exceeded.

The maximum number of shares which may 
be awarded under the share award scheme 
and any other schemes to a service provider 
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of 
shares in issue (excluding treasury shares) as 
at the date of approval of the shareholders 
at a general meeting (i.e. 38,196,064 shares) 
unless otherwise determined by independent 
shareholders in general meeting. For the 
avoidance of doubt, the service provider 
sublimit is a sub-limit within and subject to the 
scheme mandate limit.

49.  

(e)  

10% 381,960,648

1% 38,196,064
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49. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share award plan (Continued)

(e) Maximum entitlement of each selected eligible 
participant (Continued)

The maximum number of shares issued or 
to be issued in respect of all options and 
awards granted to a selected participant at 
any one time or in aggregate under the share 
award scheme and all other share schemes 
(excluding any options and awards lapsed in 
accordance with the terms of the respective 
share schemes) in any 12-month period up 
to and including the date of such relevant 
grant should not exceed 1% of the issued 
share capital  of the Company (excluding 
treasury shares) i.e. the individual limit. Where 
any grant  to a se lected part ic ipant  may 
result in exceeding the individual limit, the 
Company shall not grant such shares unless 
it is separately approved beforehand by the 
shareholders in general meeting, with such 
selected participant and his close associates 
(or associates if the selected participant is a 
connected person) abstaining from voting. The 
number and terms of awards to be granted to 
such selected Participant must be fixed before 
the shareholders’ approval.

(f) Vesting period

Save for the circumstances prescribed in the 
Company’s circular dated 29 July 2024, the 
vesting period shall not be less than twelve (12) 
months.

(g) Amount payable on acceptance of awards

No consideration is required to be paid by the 
selected eligible participants on acceptance 
of awards under the share award scheme.

49.  

(e) 
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(f) 
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49. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share award plan (Continued)

(h) Remaining life

Unless it is early terminated by the board of 
directors, the share award scheme shall be 
valid and effective for a term of ten years 
commencing on the date of adoption and 
ending on 15 September 2031.

Movements of the Company’s shares held for the 
share award scheme are as follows:

Number of shares held
for share award scheme

Shares held for
share award scheme

  

  

2024 2023 2024 2023

’000 ’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

At 1 January 124,310 124,310 24,455 24,455
Shares purchased for 

share award plan – – – –
      

At 31 December 124,310 124,310 24,455 24,455
      

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023, the share award plan did not acquire any 
shares of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of 
the shares purchased was awarded under the share 
award plan.

The following table discloses movements in the 
share awards granted under the Company’s share 
award scheme adopted on 16 September 2021 (as 
amended on 15 August 2024) during the year:

Name or category  
of grantee

Date of 
grant

Unvested as 
at 1 January 

2024

Granted 
during the 

year
Vested during 

the year

Cancelled/
forfeited 

during the 
year

Lapsed 
during the 

year

Unvested 
as at 31 

December 31 
2024

Vesting 
date

Purchase 
price of share 

awards

Closing price 
immediately 

before the 
date of grant

 

           

Consultant

Mr. Wong Chun Hung 
Hanson

4 September  
2024

– 38,000,000 – – – 38,000,000 4 September  
2025

Nil HK$0.065

   0.065

49.  

(h) 
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50. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

With effect from 1 December 2000, the Group has 
set up a defined contribution retirement scheme, 
the MPF Scheme for all the eligible employees of 
the Group. The Group did not provide retirement 
benefits for its employees prior to set up of the 
MPF Scheme.

Under  the  MPF Scheme,  the  employees are 
required to contribute 5% of their monthly salaries 
up to a maximum of HK$1,500 per employee and 
they can choose to make additional contributions. 
T h e  e m p l o y e r ’s  m o n t h l y  c o n t r i b u t i o n s  a re 
calculated at 5% of each employee’s monthly 
sa lar ies  up to  a  maximum of  HK$1,500 ( the 
“Mandatory Contribution”). The employees are 
entitled to 100% of the Mandatory Contribution 
upon their retirement at the age of 65 years old, 
death or total incapacity.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the 
PRC are members of state-managed retirement 
benefit schemes operated by the PRC government. 
The  subs id ia r ies  a re  requ i red  to  cont r ibu te 
a specif ic percentage of payrol l  costs to the 
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The 
only obligation of the Group with respect to the 
retirement benefits schemes operated by the PRC 
government is made the specified contributions 
under the schemes. The contributions are charged 
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income as incurred.

At  31  December  2024  and 2023 ,  the re  was 
no for fe i ted cont r ibut ion  under  any  def ined 
contribution retirement schemes available which 
may be used by the Group to reduce the existing 
level of contributions, nor any contribution under 
any defined contribution retirement schemes was 
forfeited by the Group during the year ended 31 
December 2024 and 2023.

50. 

 

5% 1,500
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51. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES AND 
CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITY

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 
December 2024 are set out as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Country/place of
incorporation or
operation

Class of
shares held/
registered
capital

Proportion of
ownership interest and
voting power held by

the Company

Issued and fully 
paid share capital/
registered capital Principal activities

 

2024 2023

% %       

Adelio Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100 100 US$1

1
Investment holding

Angel Wish Group Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100 100 US$1
1

Investment holding

Bayhood No. 9 Coµ

9 µ

The PRC Registered 100 100 RMB50,000,000
50,000,000

Provision of recreational 
and wellness services 
through the management 
of a membership-based 
golf club and resort

Best Season Holdings Corp. British Virgin Islands Ordinary 75 75 US$100
100

Dormant

Bluelagoon Investment Holdings 
Limited

British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100 100 US$1
1

Dormant

Eternity Finance Group Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100 100 HK$100,000,000
100,000,000

Investment holding

Eternity Investment (China) 
Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 HK$1
1

Investment holding

Gainful Fortune Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100 100 HK$160,000,100
160,000,100

Dormant

Golden Stone Management 
Limited

British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100 100 US$1
1

Investment holding

51.  
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51. 
 

Name of subsidiary

Country/place of
incorporation or
operation

Class of
shares held/
registered
capital

Proportion of
ownership interest and
voting power held by

the Company

Issued and fully 
paid share capital/
registered capital Principal activities

 

2024 2023

% %       

Hong Kong Builders Finance 
Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 HK$2
2

Money lending

K E G Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100 100 US$1
1

Investment holding

K E Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 HK$10,000
10,000

Design and sale of jewelry 
products

Legend Rich Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100 100 US$1
1

Investment holding

Max Winner Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 HK$1
1

Property holdings
and sale of financial assets

New Cove Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100 100 US$1
1

Investment holding

Om Gem Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 HK$10,000
10,000

Design and sale of jewelry 
products

One Synergy Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 HK$1
1

Investment holding

Open Heart Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100 100 US$1
1

Investment holding

Rexdale Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 HK$10,000,000
10,000,000

Property holdings

Riche Advertising Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100 100 US$1
1

Sale of financial assets

51. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES AND 
CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITY 
(Continued)

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 
December 2024 are set out as follows: (Continued)
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Name of subsidiary

Country/place of
incorporation or
operation

Class of
shares held/
registered
capital

Proportion of
ownership interest and
voting power held by

the Company

Issued and fully 
paid share capital/
registered capital Principal activities

 

2024 2023

% %       

RICHE (BVI) LIMITED British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100 100 US$1,000
1,000

Investment holding

Riche Distribution Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 HK$1,000,000
1,000,000

Property holding

Riche Multi-Media Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 HK$2
2

Dormant

Riche Pictures Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100 100 US$1
1

Investment holding

Simple View Investment Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100 100 US$1
1

Sale of financial assets

Smart Field Management Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 HK$1
1

Investment holding

Smart Sphinx Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100 100 US$1
1

Investment holding

Smart Title British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100 100 US$1
1

Investment holding

Stable Income Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 HK$1,000,000
1,000,000

Dormant

Victory Peace Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100 100 US$1
1

Sale of financial assets

Yuan Shun Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100 100 US$1
1

Investment holding

( )  # The PRC Registered 100 100 RMB6,657,085
6,657,085

Investment holding

51. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES AND 
CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITY 
(Continued)

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 
December 2024 are set out as follows: (Continued)

51. 
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Name of subsidiary

Country/place of
incorporation or
operation

Class of
shares held/
registered
capital

Proportion of
ownership interest and
voting power held by

the Company

Issued and fully 
paid share capital/
registered capital Principal activities

 

2024 2023

% %       

( )  ß The PRC Registered 100 100 RMB100,000
100,000

Investment holding

µ The PRC Registered 100 100 RMB10,000,000
10,000,000

Provision of property 
management services

µ The PRC Registered 100 100 RMB10,000,000
10,000,000

Investment holding

@

The PRC Registered 100 70 RMB10,000,000
10,000,000

Managing and operating 
cultural forum and 
related cultural activities

# limited liability company (solely invested by Taiwan, 
Hong Kong or Macao legal person) established in the 
PRC.

μ l imited l iabil ity company (solely invested by legal 
person) established in the PRC.

ß limited liability company (solely invested by foreign 
owned enterprise) established in the PRC.

@ other limited liability company established in the PRC.

51. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES AND 
CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITY 
(Continued)

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 
December 2024 are set out as follows: (Continued)

# 

 

ß 

@ 

51. 
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51. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES AND 
CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITY 
(Continued)

The Company directly holds the interest in RICHE 
(BVI) LIMITED. All other subsidiaries are indirectly 
held by the Company.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt 
securities at the end of the year or during the year.

The directors consider that Best Season Holdings 
Corp.,  Gainful  Fortune Limited and ,  the 
non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have non-
contro l l ing interests,  are not  mater ia l  to the 
Group. Accordingly, the financial information of 
Best Season Holdings Corp.,  Gainful Fortune 
Limited and  is not separately presented in the 
consolidated financial statements.

Details of the Company’s controlled structured 
entity as at 31 December 2024 are set out as 
follows:

Name of controlled
structured entity

Country/place of
incorporation or
operation

Class of
shares held

Proportion of
ownership interest and
voting power held by

the Company
Issued and fully
paid share capital Principal activities

2024 2023

% %
       

Victory Success 
(Hong Kong) Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 HK$2
2

Purchases, administers 
and holds the Company’s 
shares for the benefit 
of selected eligible 
participants under the 
share award plan

The Company has the power to direct the relevant 
activities of Victory Success (Hong Kong) Limited, 
and it has the ability to use its power over Victory 
Success (Hong Kong) Limited to affect its exposure 
to returns. Therefore, Victory Success (Hong Kong) 
Limited is considered as a controlled structured 
entity of the Group.

51. 
 

RICHE (BVI) LIMITED

Best Season Holdings Corp.
Gainful Fortune Limited

Best Season Holdings 
Corp. Gainful Fortune Limited

Victory Success (Hong 
Kong) Limited

Victory Success (Hong Kong) 
Limited
Victory Success (Hong Kong) Limited
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52. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS

Dur ing  the  years  ended 31  December  2024 
and 2023, the Group entered into the following 
transactions and balances with related parties:

(a) Transactions/balances with associates

Amounts due from/(to) associates

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Amount due from an associate  
(note 25)

 
25 38,437 38,437

Amounts due to associates (note 43) 43 (9,385) (11,169)
     

The amounts from/(to) associates do not 
constitute connected transactions as defined 
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Income received/receivable  f rom and 
(expenses) paid/payable to associates

For the year ended
31 December

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Rental income received/receivable 
from an associate 1,540 1,656

Interest expense paid/payable to an 
associate (676) (493)

     

The above transactions do not constitute 
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 
14A of the Listing Rules.

52.  

(a) 

14A

14A
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52. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Compensation for key management 
personnel

The remunerat ion of  execut ive di rectors 
and the chief executive officer, who are key 
management, during the year was as follows:

For the year ended
31 December

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Short-term employee benefits 1,149 20,539
Post-employment benefits 48 63
    

1,197 20,602
     

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” 
(see note 12).

The remuneration of executive directors and 
the chief executive officer is approved by the 
board of directors on the recommendation of 
the Remuneration Committee having regard to 
the duties and responsibilities of individuals 
and market trends.

52.  

(b)  

12
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52. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Transactions with the directors and 
substantial shareholders of the Company

(i) On 29 November 2018, Mr. Lei Hong Wai, 
the Chairman of the board of directors 
and an execut ive d i rector,  provided 
a personal  guarantee to  secure the 
Company’s repayment obligations under 
the loan of HK$200,000,000 granted by 
the finance company. No consideration 
was paid by the Company to Mr. Lei 
Hong Wai for providing the personal 
guarantee. No security over the assets of 
the Group was provided for the personal 
guarantee given by Mr. Lei Hong Wai.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the 
provision of the personal guarantee by 
Mr. Lei Hong Wai remained in full force 
and effect.

(ii) On 9 March 2020, Mr.  Lei  Hong Wai 
provided a personal guarantee to secure 
the  Group’s  repayment  ob l iga t ions 
under the securities margin financing 
facility granted by a securities brokerage 
f i rm with an outstanding balance of 
HK$24,336,000 at 31 December 2024. 
No consideration was paid by the Group 
to Mr. Lei Hong Wai for providing the 
personal guarantee. No security over the 
assets of the Group was provided for the 
personal guarantee given by Mr. Lei Hong 
Wai.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the 
provision of the personal guarantee by 
Mr. Lei Hong Wai remained in full force 
and effect.

52.  

(c)  

(i) 

200,000,000

(ii) 

24,336,000
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52. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Transactions with the directors and 
substantial shareholders of the Company 
(Continued)

(iii) On 22 October 2020, Mr. Lei Hong Wai 
provided a personal guarantee to secure 
the  Group’s  repayment  ob l iga t ions 
under the securities margin financing 
facility granted by a securities brokerage 
f i rm with an outstanding balance of 
HK$16,002,000 at 31 December 2024. 
No consideration was paid by the Group 
to Mr. Lei Hong Wai for providing the 
personal guarantee. No security over the 
assets of the Group was provided for the 
personal guarantee given by Mr. Lei Hong 
Wai.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the 
provision of the personal guarantee by 
Mr. Lei Hong Wai remained in full force 
and effect.

(iv) On 29 December 2022, each of Mr. Lei 
Hong Wai and Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai 
Elton provided a personal guarantee to 
guarantee the punctual performance by 
the Company’s obligations under the 
Guaranteed Secured Notes due 2023 of 
HK$197,000,000 issued by the Company 
on  29  December  2022  pu rsuan t  to 
the subscription and note instrument 
agreement dated 29 December 2022. 
No  cons ide ra t i on  was  pa id  by  t he 
Company to Mr. Lei Hong Wai and/or Mr. 
Cheung Kwok Wai Elton for providing the 
personal guarantees. No security over 
the assets of the Group was provided for 
the personal guarantees given by Mr. Lei 
Hong Wai and/or Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai 
Elton.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the 
provision of the personal guarantees by 
Mr. Lei Hong Wai and Mr. Cheung Kwok 
Wai Elton remained in ful l  force and 
effect.

52.  

(c) 

(iii) 

16,002,000

(iv) 

197,000,000
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52. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Transactions with the directors and 
substantial shareholders of the Company 
(Continued)

(v) On 18 August 2024, Mr. Lei Hong Wai 
provided a personal guarantee to secure 
the Group’s repayment obligations under 
the securities margin financing facility 
granted by the secur i t ies brokerage 
f irm mentioned in ( i i )  above, with an 
outstanding balance of HK$9,049,000 as 
at 31 December 2024. No consideration 
was paid by the Group to Mr. Lei Hong 
Wai for providing the personal guarantee. 
No security over the assets of the Group 
was provided for the personal guarantee 
given by Mr. Lei Hong Wai.

As at 31 December 2024, the provision of 
the personal guarantee by Mr. Lei Hong 
Wai remained in full force and effect.

All of the above transactions also constitute 
c o n n e c t e d  t r a n s a c t i o n s  a s  d e f i n e d  i n 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, 
these transactions are ful ly exempt from 
the connected transaction requirements in 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules under Rule 
14A.90.

52.  

(c) 
 

(v) 
(ii)

9,049,000

14A

14A 14A.90
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53. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital 
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern and maintain healthy 
ratios in order to support its business and enhance 
shareholders’ value.

The Group manages i ts capital  structure and 
makes adjustments to i t ,  in  l ight  of  changes 
in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust 
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the 
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders, issue of new shares or redemption of 
existing shares as well as raise or repay debts. The 
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 
prior years.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, 
which is total debt divided by equity attributable 
to owners of the Company. The Group’s policy 
is  to  mainta in  the gear ing rat io  be low 65%. 
Debt includes interest bearing bank and other 
borrowings, amounts due to directors and related 
party, amounts due to associates and guaranteed 
secured notes. Equity attributable to owners of the 
Company includes share capital, retained profits 
and other reserves. The gearing ratio as at the end 
of the reporting periods was as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Total debt 647,509 663,113
    

Equity attributable to owners of the 
Company 1,058,200 1,507,246

    

Gearing ratio 61% 44%
    

53. 

65%
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Financial assets
Amortised cost 473,333 558,953
Equity instruments at FVTOCI  

– 8,645
Financial assets at FVTPL  

74,458 107,162
    

547,791 674,760
    

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 1,121,649 1,144,226
    

1,121,649 1,144,226
    

At the end of the reporting period:

(a) loan receivables, trade receivables, deposits 
a n d  o t h e r  r e c e i v a b l e s ,  f i n a n c e  l e a s e 
receivables, pledged bank deposits, restricted 
bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents 
are categorised as “amortised cost” under 
financial assets; and

(b) trade payables, deposits received, accruals 
and other payables, bank borrowings, other 
borrowings,  amounts due to associates, 
amounts due to directors and related party, 
lease liabilities, and guaranteed secured notes 
are categorised as “amortised cost” under 
financial liabilities.

54. 

(a) 

(b) 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include 
key management personnel life insurance policy 
and listed equity securities in Hong Kong classified 
at FVTPL, unlisted equity securities at FVTOCI, 
loan receivables, trade receivables, deposits 
and other receivables, finance lease receivables, 
pledged bank deposits, restricted bank deposits, 
cash and cash equ iva lents ,  t rade payables , 
deposits received, accruals and other payables, 
bank borrowings, other borrowings, amounts due 
to associates, amounts due to directors, lease 
liabilities, guaranteed secured notes. Details of the 
financial instruments are disclosed in respective 
notes. The risks associated with these financial 
instruments include market risk (foreign currency 
risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk), credit 
r isk and l iquidity r isk. The policies on how to 
mitigate these risks are set out below.

The management manages and monitors these 
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are 
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group’s operations are mainly in Hong 
Kong and the PRC. An ent i ty  wi th in the 
Group is exposed to foreign currency risk 
from commercial transactions and monetary 
assets and liabilities that are denominated in 
a currency that is not the entity’s functional 
currency.

The Group engages in property investment 
and golf club operation businesses in the 
PRC through its local subsidiaries, which 
use RMB as their functional currency. These 
PRC subsidiaries are not exposed to foreign 
currency risk as their commercial transactions 
and monetary  assets  and l iab i l i t i es  a re 
denominated in RMB.

Several subsidiaries of the Group with Hong 
Kong dollar as their functional currency have 
commercial transactions and monetary assets 
and liabilities that are denominated in USD, 
Pound Sterling and Euro.

54.  

 

(a) 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(a) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign 
currency hedging pol icy.  I t  manages i ts 
foreign currency risk by closely monitoring 
financial position and cash flow exchange risk 
exposures and where considered appropriate 
using financial instruments, such as forward 
exchange contracts, foreign currency options 
and forward rate agreements, to hedge the 
foreign currency risk.

As  a t  31  December  2024 ,  t he  G roup ’s 
entit ies with functional currency of Hong 
Kong dollar had the aggregate net monetary 
assets denominated in USD amounted to 
HK$3,600,000 (2023: HK$8,358,000). Given 
that Hong Kong dollar are pegged to USD, the 
directors consider that there is no significant 
foreign currency risk exposure with respect to 
USD.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s entities 
with functional currency of Hong Kong dollar 
had the aggregate  net  monetary  assets 
denominated in Pound Ster l ing and Euro 
amounted to HK$99,000 (2023: HK$268,000). 
Given that the aggregate net monetary assets 
denominated in Pound Sterling and Euro is 
less than 1.00% (2023: less than 1.00%) of 
the Group’s net assets at 31 December 2024, 
the directors consider that the net monetary 
assets of Pound Sterling and Euro are not 
significant to the Group at the end of the 
reporting period. Accordingly, no sensitivity 
analysis is prepared and disclosed.

54.  
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest 
rate risk in relation to its bank borrowings, 
amount due to an associate, amounts due 
to directors and related party, an unsecured 
other  borrowing c lass i f ied under  “other 
borrowings” and two of the securities margin 
financing facil it ies classified under “other 
borrowings” respectively with variable rates 
(the “Borrowings”). The Group’s cash flow 
interest rate risk is concentrated on fluctuation 
of HIBOR and prime rate arising from the 
above borrowings denominated in Hong Kong 
dollar and United States dollar. The Group’s 
certain other borrowings, an unsecured other 
borrowing and guaranteed secured notes carry 
fixed interest rates, which are not exposed to 
cash flow interest rate risk.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate 
benchmarks is being undertaken globally, 
including the replacement of some interbank 
offered rates (“IBORs”) with alternative nearly 
risk-free rates. Details of the impacts on the 
Group’s risk management strategy arising 
from the interest rate benchmark reform 
and the progress towards implementation of 
alternative benchmark interest rates are set 
out under “interest rate benchmark reform” in 
this note.

The Group currently does not have an interest 
rate hedging policy. It manages its interest 
rate risk by closely monitoring the interest rate 
movements and where considered appropriate 
using f inancial  instruments to hedge the 
interest rate risk.

As at 31 December 2024, if interest rates 
of the borrowings had been 50 basis points 
(2023: 50 basis points) higher/lower, with all 
other variables remain constant, the Group’s 
loss and total comprehensive expense for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 would have 
increased/decreased by HK$1,117,000 (2023: 
HK$1,229,000).

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b) Interest rate risk (Continued)

The sensi t iv i ty  analys is  above has been 
determined based on the exposure to a 
change in interest rates for the Borrowings at 
the end of the reporting period. The analysis is 
prepared assuming that the change in interest 
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting 
period and had been applied to re-measure 
the Borrowings which expose the Group to 
cash flow interest rate risk at the end of the 
reporting period. The impact on the Group’s 
loss and total comprehensive expense for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 is estimated as 
an annualised impact on interest expense of 
such change in interest rates. The sensitivity 
analysis is performed on the same basis for 
2023.

(c) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk 
arising from listed equity securities in Hong 
Kong held by it classified as financial assets 
at FVTPL. The Group’s listed equity securities 
in Hong Kong are listed on the Exchange.

The Group manages its equity price risk by 
regularly monitoring equity portfolio to address 
any portfolio issues promptly and spreading 
price risk exposure by investing a number of 
listed equity securities in Hong Kong.

The sensitivity analyses have been determined 
based on the exposure to equity price risk at 
the reporting date.

As at 31 December 2024, if  the prices of 
the l isted equity securit ies in Hong Kong 
with quoted market price held by the Group 
had been 15% (2023: 15%) higher/ lower, 
with all other variables remain constant, the 
Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 
2024 would have decreased/increased by 
HK$8,056,000 (2023: HK$12,189,000).

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from 
restricted bank deposits, pledged bank deposits, 
bank balances, trade receivables, loan receivables, 
other receivables and finance lease receivables. 
The exposures to these credit risks are regularly 
monitored on an ongoing basis by established 
c red i t  po l i c ies  in  each  o f  the  Group’s  core 
businesses.

(a) P ledged bank deposi ts ,  rest r ic ted bank 
deposits and bank balances

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising 
f rom p ledged  bank  depos i t s  and  bank 
balances is limited because the counterparties 
are high-credit-quality banks and/or financial 
institutions, for which the Group considers to 
have low credit risk.

(b) Trade receivables

Trade receivables arise from the Group’s sale 
of jewelry products business. The Group 
trades only with recognised and creditworthy 
third parties. The Group allows credit period 
ranging from 0 to 270 days to its customers. 
Before accepting any new customer, credit 
evaluation is performed by the responsible 
executive director to assess the potential 
customer ’s  cred i t  qua l i ty  and def ine i ts 
credit limit. Credit evaluations are reviewed 
regularly. Other monitoring procedures are 
in place to ensure that follow-up action is 
taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, 
the directors of the Company consider the 
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(b) Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group performs ECL assessment by 
applying the HKFRS 9 simplified approach, 
which uses lifetime ECL allowance as basis 
for all trade receivables with reference to a 
valuation on the allowance for ECL prepared 
by Grant  Sherman,  an independent  f i rm 
of professional  valuer.  The ECL of t rade 
receivables is calculated as the product of 
the three factors: gross credit  exposure, 
probabi l i ty  of  defaul t ,  and recovery rate 
in case of insolvency in Hong Kong. The 
probability of default is derived through the 
application of a l inear multiple regression 
mode l ,  wh ich  es t ima tes  the  s ta t i s t i ca l 
relationship between a dependent variable 
and multiple independent variables. To reflect 
any current or forward-looking information 
affecting the customers’ abilit ies to settle 
the trade receivables, certain adjustments 
have been made in the process of deriving 
the appropriate probability of default. The 
calculation reflects the probability-weighted 
outcome,  the  t ime va lue of  money,  and 
reasonable and supportable information that 
is available at the end of the reporting period 
about past events, current conditions and 
forecasts of future economic conditions.

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(b) Trade receivables (Continued)

The fol lowing table provides information 
about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and 
allowance for ECL on trade receivables at 31 
December 2024 and 2023:

2024

Past due status ECL rate

Gross
carrying
amount

Allowance
for ECL

recognised

Net
carrying
amounts

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Current (not past due) 0.41% 36,058 (149) 35,909
1 - 30 days past due 1 30 13.34% 742 (99) 643
31 - 90 days past due 31 90 14.47% 76 (11) 65
More than 90 days past due 90 94.98% 2,770 (2,631) 139

      

39,646 (2,890) 36,756
      

2023

Past due status ECL rate

Gross
carrying
amount

Allowance
for ECL

recognised

Net
carrying
amounts

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Current (not past due) 0.41% 34,997 (144) 34,853
1 - 30 days past due 1 30 0.42% 471 (2) 469
31 - 90 days past due 31 90 7.84% 51 (4) 47
More than 90 days past due 90 24.86% 3,371 (838) 2,533

      

38,890 (988) 37,902
      

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(b) Trade receivables (Continued)

Movements in allowance for ECL on trade 
receivables:

Lifetime ECL 
(not credit-

impaired)

Lifetime ECL 
(credit-

impaired) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

At 1 January 2023  
868 – 868

Allowance for ECL recognised 120 – 120
    

At 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024

988 – 988
Transfer to credit impaired (798) 798 –
Allowance for ECL recognised 116 1,786 1,902
    

At 31 December 2024
306 2,584 2,890

     

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(b) Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables are written off when there 
is information indicating that the customer is 
in severe financial difficulty and there is no 
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the 
customer has been placed under liquidation or 
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or 
the trade receivables are over 270 days past 
due, whichever occurs earlier.

(c) Loan receivables

Loan receivables ar ise f rom the Group’s 
money lending business.

T h e  G r o u p ’s  m o n e y  l e n d i n g  b u s i n e s s 
only provides loan financing. The Group’s 
cus tomers  p r inc ipa l l y  i nc lude  h igh  ne t 
worth indiv iduals,  pr ivate companies,  or 
listed companies introduced to the staff and 
management of the Group through business/
personal networks or are referred to the Group 
by its existing or former customers.

The Group has developed a credit policy and 
procedures manual for i ts money lending 
business. The credit policy and procedures 
manual specifies the Group’s credit policy 
towards its money lending business, the risk 
management of the Group’s money lending 
business, and the credit procedures for the 
Group’s money lending business,  which 
include, among others, the loan application, 
credit approval, loan closing, and monitoring 
ongoing credit risk procedures. All customers 
of the Group are subject to loan application 
procedures, which include customer due 
di l igence, reference check for credit and 
character, and financial background check. 
The following internal control procedures are 
put in place:

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

(i) Credit risk assessment of customers

Prior to grant of a loan to a customer, the 
Group carries out credit risk assessment 
on the customer, taking into account, 
among other things, the following factors:

(1) background and character of the 
customer,  i f  the customer is  an 
individual;

(2) shareholders’ background, character, 
and management capability, if the 
customer is a company;

(3) purpose of the loan;

(4) source of repayment;

(5) value of collateral and guarantee(s), 
if any; and

(6) the financial strength of the customer, 
shareholder(s), and guarantor(s).

For renewal/extension of any granted 
loans, the Group carries out an update 
assessment on the customer. In addition, 
the Group also considers the customer’s 
repayment behavior in the past.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

(ii) Mechanism in determining loan terms

T h e  t e r m s  o f  a  l o a n  a re  n o r m a l l y 
de te rm ined  fo l l ow ing  a rm’s  l eng th 
negotiation between the Group and the 
customer, taking into account the factors 
set out in (i) above. Normally, the Group 
tends to grant loans under loan tenure 
of not more than two years, subject to 
renewals by mutual consent. The Group 
expects the interest rate of a loan to be 
not less than the best lending rate quoted 
by The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking 
Corporat ion Limited plus 3.00% per 
annum. The Group would normally test 
the customer’s will ingness/reluctance 
to provide collateral/guarantee to the 
loan, but will take a pragmatic approach 
in  o rde r  to  ma in ta in  f l ex ib i l i t y  and 
competitiveness as compared to banking 
institutions who can normally offer better 
rates to the customer if they can provide 
collateral/guarantee.

(iii) Approval process for granting loans, and 
related checks and balances

The approval process for granting or 
renewing loans is normally as follows:

(1) t h e  G r o u p  w o u l d  r e q u e s t  t h e 
customer to complete the Loan 
Application Form, the Know Your 
Customer Form, and the Personal 
Financial Information Form;

(2) t h e  F i n a n c e  a n d  A c c o u n t i n g 
Department would seek to verify 
t h e  i n f o r m a t i o n  p r o v i d e d  b y 
the customer, collect supporting 
documents, and complete the Loan 
Recommenda t i on  Fo rm on  the 
customer’s loan appl icat ion and 
submit to the responsible directors;
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

(iii) Approval process for granting loans, and 
related checks and balances (Continued)

(3) the responsible directors would 
review the recommendation from 
t h e  F i n a n c e  a n d  A c c o u n t i n g 
D e p a r t m e n t ,  s p o t  c h e c k  t h e 
supporting documents, and indicate 
the i r  approva l  (w i th  o r  w i thout 
modification) or rejection of the loan 
application;

(4) t h e  F i n a n c e  a n d  A c c o u n t i n g 
D e p a r t m e n t  w i l l  c a r r y  o u t 
c o m p l i a n c e  p ro c e d u re s  o n  a l l 
l oan  app l i ca t ions  approved  by 
the responsible directors. Under 
the credit policy and procedures 
manua l ,  i f  t he  g ran t  o f  a  l oan 
does not const i tute a not i f iable 
transaction under Chapter 14 of the 
Listing Rules and the customer is 
not a connected person, the grant 
of the loan would only be required 
to be approved by the responsible 
directors;

(5) if the grant of a loan constitutes 
a  n o t i f i a b l e  a n d / o r  c o n n e c t e d 
transaction under Chapter 14 or 
14A of the Listing Rules, the grant 
of the loan would be required to be 
submitted to the board of directors 
for approval; and

(6) t h e  F i n a n c e  a n d  A c c o u n t i n g 
Department would prepare the loan 
documentat ion for  s igning,  and 
the announcement if the grant of a 
loan constitutes a notifiable and/or 
connected transaction.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

(iv) Monitoring loan repayment

The following procedures are in place for 
monitoring loan repayment:

(1) m o n t h l y  l o a n  r e p a y m e n t  a n d 
interest  payment schedules are 
p r e p a r e d  b y  t h e  F i n a n c e  a n d 
Accounting Department to enable 
t h e  r e s p o n s i b l e  d i r e c t o r s  t o 
monitor the timely payment of each 
customer. If a customer does not 
make loan repayment or interest 
payment in accordance with the 
loan agreement, the Finance and 
Accoun t i ng  Depa r tmen t  wou ld 
promptly report to the responsible 
directors; and

(2) the responsible directors conduct 
t h e  f o l l o w i n g  l o a n  m o n i t o r i n g 
procedures twice a year for each 
l o a n ,  w h i c h  i n c l u d e :  a  re v i e w 
of  the  pat te rn  o f  c red i t  usage, 
contact with the customer, review 
of periodic f inancial statements/
p o s i t i o n  o f  t h e  c u s t o m e r,  a n d 
monitor compliance with existing 
covenants or other conditions of the 
loan. The conducting of semi-annual 
loan monitoring not only enables 
the responsible directors to identify 
p rob lema t i c  l oans  on  a  t ime l y 
basis, but also serves as an input 
for loan classification in calculating 
the  a l lowance  fo r  ECL on  loan 
receivables for financial reporting 
purposes.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

(v) Actions for recovering delinquent loans

T h e  a c t i o n s  t a k e n  f o r  r e c o v e r i n g 
delinquent loans would normally include 
the following:

(1) examine and evaluate the delinquent 
loan situation;

(2) discuss with the customer of the 
delinquent loan;

(3) discuss internally to formulate an 
action plan of recovery; and

(4) recovery strategy can involve a wide 
range of actions, which includes 
t h e  re v i s i n g  o f  t h e  re p a y m e n t 
t e r m s ,  a d d i n g  o f  c o l l a t e r a l s /
guarantees, reaching of settlement, 
t h e  c o m m e n c e m e n t  o f  l e g a l 
actions against the customer, and/
o r  en fo rcement  on  co l l a te ra l s /
guarantees.

The directors of the Company consider 
that the above internal control procedures 
significantly reduce the Group’s credit 
risk.

The board of directors is responsible to 
ensure the credit policy and procedures 
manual is appropriate to the market 
need and the procedures as set out in 
the manual are str ict ly fol lowed and 
carried out by the staff. The board of 
directors has appointed Infinity Concept 
Ripple Limited, an independent firm of 
professional accountants, to conduct 
independent review on adequacy and 
effectiveness of the risk management and 
internal control systems of the Group’s 
money lending business.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

The Group applies the general approach, 
wh ich  i s  o f ten  re fe r red  to  “ th ree-s tage 
model”, under HKFRS 9, in which ECL of loan 
receivable are determined based on (i) the 
changes in credit quality of the loan receivable 
since initial recognition, and (ii) the estimated 
expectation of an economic loss of the loan 
receivable under consideration.

Under the general approach, there are two 
measurement bases for allowance for ECL:

(i) 12-months ECL,  which are  the ECL 
that result from default events that are 
possible with in 12 months af ter  the 
reporting date and are calculated as the 
allowance for ECL on a loan receivable 
weighted by the probability of default 
accumulated over the 12 months after 
the reporting date.

(ii) l i fet ime ECL, which are the ECL that 
result from all possible default events 
over the expected life of a loan receivable 
and are calculated as the allowance for 
ECL on a loan receivable weighted by the 
probability of default accumulated over 
the entire life of the loan receivable.

The allowance for ECL on loan receivables are 
derived from gross credit exposure, recovery 
rate, and probability of default. The Group 
uses the following ECL formula to calculate 
the allowance for ECL on its loan receivables:

Allowance for ECL = gross credit exposure x 
adjusted probability of default x (1 - recovery 
rate)

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

For  ECL assessment ,  the  Group ’s  loan 
receivables are classified as follows:

(i) Stage 1 ( ini t ia l  recognit ion) includes 
loan receivables that have not had a 
significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition or that have low credit 
r isk at the report ing date. For these 
loan receivables,  12-month ECL are 
recognised.

(ii) Stage 2 (significant increase in credit 
risk) includes loan receivables that have 
had a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition (unless they have 
low credit risk at the reporting date) but 
that do not have objective evidence of 
impairment. For these loan receivables, 
lifetime ECL are recognised.

(iii) Stage 3 (credit-impaired) includes loan 
receivables that have objective evidence 
of impairment at the reporting date. For 
these loan receivables, lifetime ECL are 
recognised.

To ensure the adequacy of allowance for ECL 
on loan receivables, the Group engaged APAC 
(2023: Grant Sherman) an independent firm of 
professional valuers, to conduct a valuation 
on the allowance for ECL on loan receivables 
recognised for the reporting period.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

Movements in gross balance of loan receivables:

Year ended 31 December 2024

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
1 2 3

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 1 January 2024
254,266 – 749,254 1,003,520

Decrease in loan 
receivables (12,572) – (5,428) (18,000)

Transfer from stage 1 to 
stage 3

1  
3 (241,694) – 241,694 –

      

At 31 December 2024
– – 985,520 985,520

      

Year ended 31 December 2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
1 2 3

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 1 January 2023
273,427 62,437 698,139 1,034,003

Decrease in loan 
receivables (19,161) (2,931) (8,391) (30,483)

Transfer from stage 2 to 
stage 3

2  
3 – (59,506) 59,506 –

      

At 31 December 2023
254,266 – 749,254 1,003,520
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

The fol lowing table provides information 
about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and 
allowance for ECL on loan receivables at 31 
December 2024 and 2023:

2024

ECL rate

Gross
carrying
amount

Allowance
for ECL

recognised

Net
carrying
amounts

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Stage 1  
(initial recognition)

1  
– – – –

Stage 3  
(credit-impaired)

3  
82.57% 985,520 (813,704) 171,816

      

985,520 (813,704) 171,816
      

2023

ECL rate

Gross
carrying
amount

Allowance
for ECL

recognised

Net
carrying
amounts

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Stage 1  
(initial recognition)

1  
2.22% 254,266 (5,652) 248,614

Stage 3  
(credit-impaired)

3  
100% 749,254 (749,254) –

      

1,003,520 (754,906) 248,614
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

Movements in al lowance for ECL on loan 
receivables:

Year ended 31 December 2024

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
1 2 3

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 1 January 2024  
5,652 – 749,254 754,906

Transfer from stage 1 to 
stage 3

1  
3 (5,322) – 5,322 –

Unwinding of discount – – 20,944 20,944
Net allowance for ECL 

(reversed)/recognised (330) – 38,184 37,854
     

At 31 December 2024
– – 813,704 813,704

      

Year ended 31 December 2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
1 2 3

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 1 January 2023  
1,850 14,712 605,372 621,934

Transfer from stage 2 to 
stage 3

2  
3 – (14,712) 14,712 –

Allowance for ECL 
recognised 3,802 – 129,170 132,972

     

At 31 December 2023
5,652 – 749,254 754,906

      

As at 31 December 2024, the amounts of loan 
receivables (before accumulated allowance 
for ECL) from the largest customer and the 
five largest customers in aggregate amounted 
to HK$243,343,000 (2023: HK$243,343,000) 
and HK$898,541,000 (2023: HK$898,723,000) 
respectively. They accounted for 26.69% 
(2023: 24.25%) and 91.17% (2023: 89.56%) 
respectively of the loan receivables (before 
accumulated al lowance for ECL) as at 31 
December 2024.

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the balance of 
loan and interest receivables classified under 
stage 3 (credit- impaired)  that  the Group 
was legally entitled to recover amounting to 
HK$1,225,134,000 (2023: HK$932,176,000) 
and the  re levant  ad jus ted accumula ted 
allowance for ECL was HK$1,011,946,000 
(2023: HK$932,176,000).

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2024 are as 
follows:

Loan and 
interest 

receivables
(before 

accumulated 
allowance for 

ECL)
as at

31 December
2024

Accumulated 
allowance for 

ECL
as at

1 January
2024

Unwinding 
of discount for 
the year ended 

31 December 
2024

Reversal of 
allowance

for ECL
recognised for 
the year ended

31 December
2024

Loan and 
interest 

receivables
(after 

accumulated 
allowance 

for ECL
as at

31 December
2024

Interest 
rate per 

annum

Collateral 
and/or 

guarantee 
obtained Maturing on

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

         

Stage 1
1

Customer E – (126) – 126 – 9.00% No 14 July 2024
E

Customer O – (204) – 204 – 13.00% No 27 April 2024
O

     

– (330) – 330 –
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2024 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Loan and 
interest 

receivables
(before 

accumulated 
allowance for 

ECL)
as at

31 December
2024

Accumulated 
allowance for 

ECL
as at

1 January
2024

Unwinding 
of discount 
for the year 

ended 31 
December 

2024

(Allowance)/
reversal of 
allowance

for ECL
recognised 
for the year 

ended
31 December

2024

Loan and 
interest 

receivables
(after 

accumulated 
allowance 

for ECL
as at

31 December
2024

Interest 
rate per 

annum

Collateral 
and/or 

guarantee 
obtained Maturing on

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

         

Stage 3
3

Customer A (Note 1)
A 1

66,151 (1,481) – (12,508) 52,162 Hong Kong 
prime rate +3%

Yes 9 November 2024

– 3%
Customer A (Note 1)

A 1
56,822 (1,252) – (10,767) 44,803 Hong Kong 

prime rate +3%
Yes 9 November 2024

– 3%
Customer A (Note 1)

A 1
95,044 (2,096) – (18,097) 74,851 Hong Kong 

prime rate +3%
Yes 9 November 2024

3%
Customer D (Note 2) 138,355 (138,355) – – – 8.00% Yes 6 February 2022

D 2
Customer D (Note 2) 104,988 (104,988) – – – 8.00% Yes 24 May 2023

D 2
Customer I (Note 3) 102,033 (102,033) – – – 15.00% Yes 11 November 2021

I 3
Customer J (Note 4) 9,225 (9,225) – – – 12.00% Yes 14 July 2020

J 4
Customer H (Note 5) 148,039 (148,039) – – – 8.00% No 15 November 2021

H 5
Customer F (Note 6) 187,108 (187,108) (17,184) 17,184 – 13.00% Yes 5 November 2022

F 6
Customer L (Note 7) 43,121 (43,121) (2,337) 2,337 – 12.00% No 17 May 2023

L 7
Customer N (Note 8) 10,958 (16,385) (1,423) 6,850 – 20.00% Yes 31 March 2023

N 8
Customer G (Note 9) 23,676 (493) – (23,183) – 12.00% No 14 July 2024

G 9
     

985,520 (754,576) (20,944) (38,184) 171,816
     

985,520 (754,906) (20,944) (37,854) 171,816
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2024 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes:

1. The three loans are  secured by corporate 
gua ran tee  by  a  company  engaged  i n  t he 
columbarium business in Hong Kong, which the 
major asset of the guarantor is its stock inventory 
of niches. During the year ended 31 December 
2024, the three loan receivables from Customer 
A with the aggregate outstanding pr incipal 
amount of HK$210,101,000 were transferred 
from stage 1 ( init ial  recognit ion) to stage 3 
(credit-impaired) as Customer A failed to repay 
the loans on 9 November 2024, being the final 
repayment date. On 8 November 2024, the Group 
has conditionally extended the final repayment 
date to 9 November 2026 with the pledge over 
the right of use for the 4,000 ancestral tablets 
located in Hong Kong in favour of the Group.

Further details of the loans are set out in the 
Company’s announcements dated 21 February 
2017, 13 Apri l  2017, 11 February 2019, 10 
November 2020,  7 May 2021,  9 November 
2022, 8 November 2024, 29 November 2024, 31 
December 2024, 21 January 2025, 19 February 
2025, and 28 February 2025, and circular dated 
23 January 2025.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2024 are as 
follows: (Continued)

2. Further details of the loans are set out in the 
Company’s announcements dated 9 February 
2018, 7 February 2020, and 25 May 2021.

The  two  l oans  a re  secu red  by  co rpo ra te 
guarantees by a company in favour of the Group. 
The guarantor is wholly owned by Customer 
D and a substantial shareholder of a company 
listed on the Main Board of the Exchange. The 
major asset of the guarantor is its interests in the 
shares of that company.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the 
two loan receivables from Customer D with 
the aggregate outstanding principal amount 
o f  HK$234,293,000 were  t ransfer red f rom 
stage 1 (initial recognition) to stage 3 (credit-
impaired) as Customer D failed to repay one of 
the loans in the outstanding principal amount of 
HK$134,293,000 and the accrued and unpaid 
interest on 6 February 2022, being the final 
repayment date.

T h e  G ro u p  h a s  b e e n  i n  n e g o t i a t i o n  w i t h 
Customer D on the repayment of the two loan 
receivables with a view to entering into a binding 
settlement agreement. In March 2023, the Group 
instructed its legal adviser to send a demand 
letter to Customer D demanding his immediate 
settlement. In July 2023, the Group received 
a reply from Customer D proposing to repay 
the outstanding principal and the accrued and 
unpaid interest of the two loans in instalments. 
Since December 2023, the Group has been 
negotiating the terms of the settlement with 
Customer D. However,  no terms have been 
finalised yet, and the negotiation is still ongoing.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2024 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

3. Further details of the loan are set out in Note 
3 of the Company’s announcement dated 25 
November 2021.

The loan is secured by corporate guarantees 
given by two companies owned and controlled 
by Customer I in favour of the Group. One of 
which is the corporate vehicle holding Customer 
I’s shares in a company listed on the Main Board 
of the Exchange. The other guarantor is an 
investment holding company whose major asset 
is a debt with a face value of HK$117,000,000.

In September 2021, Customer I procured one 
of the guarantors to enter into an agreement 
(the “Debt Assignment Agreement”) to assign 
the debt with a face value of HK$117,000,000 
owned by the guarantor (the “Assigned Debt”) 
to the Group to enable the Group to demand 
payment and liquidate the Assigned Debt and 
to apply the proceeds, if any, from the recovery 
of the Assigned Debt to offset the loan due by 
Customer I.

A f t e r  e s t a b l i s h i n g  d i a l o g u e s  w i t h  t h e 
representative of the debtor of the Assigned 
Debt, the Group decided to abort the recovery 
act ion on the Assigned Debt and revert  to 
pu rsu ing  Cus tomer  I  and  the  gua ran to r s 
on the or ig inal  loan due by Customer I .  In 
August 2022, the Group terminated the Debt 
Assignment Agreement. In October 2022, the 
Group commenced civil proceedings in Hong 
Kong against Customer I and the guarantors for 
recovering the outstanding principal amount of 
the original loan together with the accrued and 
unpaid interest thereon.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2024 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

3. (Continued)

Subsequently, the Group was notif ied by its 
legal adviser that the writ of summons and the 
statement of claim delivered to Customer I and 
the guarantors were returned to the Group’s legal 
adviser and could not be served personally on 
them. 

The Group has instructed i ts  legal  adviser 
to apply to the High Court for an order for 
subst i tuted serv ice for  serv ing the wr i t  o f 
summons and the statement of claim against 
Customer I and the guarantors.

4. Further details of the loan are set out in Note 
4 of the Company’s announcement dated 25 
November 2021. As at  31 December 2024, 
the loan receivable from Customer J (before 
written-off of HK$15,775,000 and accumulated 
allowance for ECL of HK$9,225,000) amounted 
to HK$25,000,000.

The loan is secured by a corporate guarantee 
given by a property investment company in 
Mainland China in favour of the Group. Customer 
J indirectly owned 80% of the registered capital 
of the guarantor,  whose major asset was a 
property in Guangzhou City, Mainland China.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2024 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

4. (Continued)

The Group has commenced civil proceedings 
in the PRC against Customer J, the guarantor, 
and the shareholders  of  the guarantor  for 
recovering the outstanding principal amount of 
HK$25,000,000 together with the accrued and 
unpaid interest thereon. The first hearing of the 
civil proceedings took place on 17 March 2022. 
On 21 March 2022, the court handed down the 
first instance judgement ordering, among others, 
Customer J to repay the outstanding principal 
amount of the loan of HK$25,000,000, the unpaid 
interest of HK$748,000, and the default interest 
to the Group within ten days from the effective 
date of the first instance judgement and ordering 
the guarantor to guarantee the above payment 
obligations of Customer J.

On 15 June 2022, the Group received a notice 
from the court that a civil appeal was lodged 
by Customer J in respect of the first instance 
judgment. The hearing of the civil appeal lodged 
by Customer J was held on 12 September 
2023. On 22 September 2023, the court handed 
down the judgement of the civil appeal in which 
the court dismissed the civi l  appeal lodged 
by Customer J and upheld the first instance 
judgment.

In October 2023, the Group was approached by 
an independent third party purchaser proposing 
to acquire the loan receivable due from Customer 
J and the accrued and unpaid interest thereon 
by transferring the ownership of a number of 
propert ies located in Guangzhou, Mainland 
China, legally and beneficially owned by the 
independent third party to the Group. The Group 
is currently discussing the terms and conditions 
of such a proposal with the purchaser.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2024 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

5. Further details of the loan are set out in Note 
2 of the Company’s announcement dated 25 
November 2021.

The  Group ins t ruc ted  i t s  l ega l  adv ise r  to 
commence civil proceedings in the PRC against 
Customer H for  recover ing the loan in  the 
outstanding principal amount of HK$137,617,000 
together with the accrued and unpaid interest 
thereon, and obtained an asset preservation 
order from the court to freeze certain assets 
of Customer H in the PRC with an aggregate 
v a l u e  o f  R M B 1 2 6 , 1 8 0 , 0 0 0  ( e q u i v a l e n t  t o 
HK$141,256,000). The first court hearing was 
held on 16 May 2022, when Customer H raised a 
defense regarding the authenticity of his signature 
on the loan agreement. The Group was informed 
by its legal adviser that the court engaged an 
expert to ver i fy Customer H’s signature. In 
October 2022, the court retrieved 14 sets of 
documents previously signed and submitted 
by  Cus tomer  H  to  va r ious  admin i s t ra t i ve 
departments in the PRC to verify the authenticity 
of his signatures.

On 13 March 2023, the second court hearing was 
held. On 24 July 2023, the court handed down 
the first instance judgement ordering Customer H 
to repay the outstanding principal amount of the 
loan and the accrued and unpaid interest thereon 
to the Group within 30 days from the effective 
date of the first instance judgement. However, 
Customer H did not repay the outstanding 
principal amount of the loan and the accrued 
and unpaid interest thereon to the Group in 
accordance with the first instance judgement.

I n  O c t o b e r  2 0 2 3 ,  t h e  G ro u p  a p p l i e d  f o r 
c o m p u l s o r y  e n f o r c e m e n t  o f  t h e  a s s e t 
preservation order over Customer H’s assets 
in Mainland China.  In November 2023,  the 
Group received RMB383,000 (equivalent to 
HK$419,000) from enforcing Customer H’s bank 
accounts under the compulsory enforcement of 
the asset preservation order.

In  August  2024,  the court  handed down a 
notice that the enforcement was terminated as 
Customer H’s assets being frozen by the PRC 
Public Security Bureau.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2024 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

6. Further details of the loans are set out in the 
Company’s announcements dated 15 November 
2018 and 6 November 2020.

On 7 September 2021, the Group obtained 
a corporate guarantee provided by a private 
c o m p a n y  o w n e d  b y  C u s t o m e r  F  a n d  h e r 
spouse (“Customer F Guarantor”) to secure 
all of Customer F’ s obligations of the loan of 
HK$165,000,000 under the loan agreement. 
The major assets of Customer F Guarantor 
include 150,000 participating shares in a closed-
end private fund (the “Fund Interests”) and a 
commercial property located in the PRC (the 
“Property of Customer F Guarantor”). On the 
same date, the Group also obtained a share 
charge over the entire issued share capital of 
Customer F Guarantor and a share pledge over 
the Fund Interests as collateral for the loan. 
On 16 September 2021, Customer F Guarantor 
entered into another guarantee contract in favour 
of the Group, pursuant to which Customer F 
Guarantor, on top of the corporate guarantee 
already given, further designated the Property of 
Customer F Guarantor as collateral to fortify the 
repayment obligations of Customer F in respect 
of the loan of HK$165,000,000. In October 2021, 
the Group engaged a legal adviser to commence 
civil proceedings in the PRC with the view to 
enforcing the guarantee given by Customer F 
Guarantor and demanding Customer F Guarantor 
to repay the loan owed by Customer F.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2024 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

6. (Continued)

At 31 December 2021, the values of the Fund 
In terests  and the  Proper ty  o f  Customer  F 
Guarantor were estimated to be HK$45,000,000 
(net of a loan of HK$16,000,000 secured by a 
charge over 40,000 participating shares) and 
RMB100,000,000 (equivalent to HK$116,930,000) 
(net of a mortgage loan of RMB30,000,000 which 
is equivalent to HK$35,079,000), respectively. By 
way of prudent measures, the estimated values of 
the Fund Interests and the Property of Customer 
F Guarantor as at 31 December 2022 were both 
revised to nil to reflect the latest development of 
events which include, among other things, the 
updated financial information showing the Fund 
Interests being in a net liabilities position and the 
uncertainty in the time required for enforcing the 
Property of Customer F Guarantor.

In February 2023, the court arbitration handed 
down the arbitral award ordering Customer F 
Guarantor to pay the Group the outstanding 
principal amount of the loan of HK$165,000,000 
together with the outstanding interest plus the 
accrued interest up to and until the payment 
date. In June 2023, the Group instructed its legal 
adviser to make an application for compulsory 
enforcement to the court in Mainland China for 
enforcing directly on the Property of Customer F 
Guarantor.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2024 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

6. (Continued)

In August 2023, Customer F paid the Group 
HK$9,106,000 to settle part of the unpaid interest 
on the loan.

In November 2023, the Group took legal action 
against Customer F in Hong Kong by issuing the 
writ of summons and the statement of claim to 
Customer F. Customer F has put her residential 
property in Hong Kong on the market for sale 
and has made arrangements for the Group to 
share the proceeds of the property sale (after the 
payment of two outstanding mortgage loans) with 
other lenders. In September 2024, the residential 
property in Hong Kong was sold and the Group 
received the net proceeds of HK$17,184,000 as 
partial settlement of the unpaid interest on the 
loan. The Group discontinued the legal action 
against Customer F in Hong Kong.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2024 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

7. The loan of HK$55,000,000 was granted to 
Customer L on 18 May 2021. On 17 May 2022, 
the final repayment of the loan was extended to 
another 12 months, i.e., 17 May 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the 
loan was reclassified from stage 2 (significant 
increase in credit risk) to stage 3 (credit-impaired) 
as Customer L failed to repay the outstanding 
principal amount of the loan together with the 
accrued and unpaid interest thereon on 17 May 
2023, being the repayment date.

The Group has been negotiating with Customer 
L on the repayment of the loan receivables with 
a view to entering into a binding settlement 
agreement. During the negotiation, Customer 
L paid HK$230,000 in December 2023 and 
USD300,000 (equivalent to HK$2,337,000) in 
May 2024 to the Group to settle part of the 
unpaid interest on the loan. The negotiation is 
still ongoing.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2024 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

8. The loan of HK$20,000,000 was granted to 
Customer N on 1 November 2021. The loan is 
secured by a share charge over 100% of the 
issued shares in a company in favour of the 
Group. The principal activities of the company 
are investment holdings and the provision of 
security services. On 1 November 2022, the final 
repayment date of the loan was extended for one 
month to 30 November 2022. On 1 December 
2022, the final repayment date of the loan was 
further extended for one month to 31 December 
2022, and the interest rate increased from 12% 
per annum to 20% per annum. On 30 December 
2022, the f inal  repayment date of  the loan 
was further extended to 15 February 2023 as 
Customer N repaid HK$2,000,000 to the Group. 
On 20 March 2023, the final repayment date of 
the loan was further extended to 31 March 2023 
as Customer N further repaid HK$2,000,000 to 
the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the 
loan receivable was reclassified from stage 2 
(significant increase in credit risk) to stage 3 
(credit-impaired) as Customer N failed to repay 
the outstanding principal amount of the loan and 
the accrued and unpaid interest on 31 March 
2023, being the final repayment date.

The Group has been negotiating with Customer 
N on the repayment of the loan receivables with 
a view to entering into a binding settlement 
a g re e m e n t  s i n c e  d e f a u l t  i n  M a rc h  2 0 2 3 . 
Dur ing the negot iat ion,  Customer N repaid 
H K $ 2 , 1 4 1 , 0 0 0  d u r i n g  t h e  y e a r  e n d e d  3 1 
December 2023 and HK$850,000 during the year 
ended 31 December 2024 to the Group.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2024 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

8. (Continued)

In May 2024, the Group and Customer N entered 
into a settlement agreement, in which Customer 
N repaid HK$6,000,000 on 28 May 2024 and 
shall repay the remaining outstanding balance 
on or before 29 August 2024. Customer N failed 
to repay the remaining outstanding balance in 
August 2024. In October 2024, the Group took 
legal action against Customer N in Hong Kong by 
issuing the writ of summons and the statement 
of claim to Customer N.

9. The loan of HK$21,800,000 was granted to 
Customer G on 15 July 2020. On 12 July 2022, 
the final repayment of the loan was extended 
to another 24 months, i.e., 14 July 2024. As at 
31 December 2024, the loan receivable from 
Customer G (before accumulated allowance for 
ECL) amounted to HK$23,676,000.

Dur ing the year ended 31 December 2024, 
the loan was reclassified from stage 1 (initial 
recognit ion) to stage 3 (credit- impaired) as 
Customer G fai led to repay the outstanding 
principal amount of the loan together with the 
accrued and unpaid interest thereon on 14 July 
2024, being the repayment date.

The Group has been negotiating with Customer 
G on the repayment of the loan receivables with 
a view to entering into a binding settlement 
agreement. The negotiation is still ongoing.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2023 are as 
follows:

Loan and 
interest 

receivables
(before 

accumulated 
allowance for 

ECL)
as at

31 December
2023

Accumulated 
allowance for 

ECL
as at

1 January
2023

(Allowance)/
reversal of 
allowance

for ECL
recognised for 
the year ended

31 December
2023

Loan and 
interest 

receivables
(after 

accumulated 
allowance 

for ECL
as at

31 December
2023

Interest 
rate per 
annum

Collateral 
and/or 

guarantee 
obtained Maturing on

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Stage 1
1

Customer A (Note 1) 66,185 (155) (1,326) 64,704 Hong Kong prime rate +3% Yes 9 November 2024
A 1 3%

Customer A (Note 1) 56,896 (181) (1,071) 55,644 Hong Kong prime rate +3% Yes 9 November 2024
A 1 3%

Customer A (Note 1) 95,119 (252) (1,844) 93,023 Hong Kong prime rate +3% Yes 9 November 2024
A 1 3%

Customer E 5,572 (568) 442 5,446 9.00% No 14 July 2024
E

Customer G 21,638 (467) (26) 21,145 12.00% No 14 July 2024
G

Customer O 8,856 (227) 23 8,652 13.00% No 27 April 2024
O

    

254,266 (1,850) (3,802) 248,614
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2023 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Loan and 
interest 

receivables
(before 

accumulated 
allowance for 

ECL)
as at

31 December
2023

Accumulated 
allowance for 

ECL
as at

1 January
2023

(Allowance)/
reversal of 
allowance

for ECL
recognised for
the year ended

31 December
2023

Loan and 
interest 

receivables
(after 

accumulated 
allowance 

for ECL
as at

31 December
2023

Interest 
rate per 
annum

Collateral 
and/or 

guarantee 
obtained Maturing on

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Stage 3
3

Customer D (Note 2) 138,355 (85,364) (52,991) – 8.00% Yes 6 February 2022
D 2

Customer D (Note 2) 104,988 (64,078) (40,910) – 8.00% Yes 24 May 2023
D 2

Customer I (Note 3) 102,033 (102,033) – – 15.00% Yes 11 November 2021
I 3

Customer J (Note 4) 9,225 (9,225) – – 12.00% Yes 14 July 2020
J 4

Customer H (Note 5) 148,039 (148,458) 419 – 8.00% No 15 November 2021
H 5

Customer F (Note 6) 187,108 (196,214) 9,106 – 13.00% Yes 5 November 2022
F 6

Customer L (Note 7) 43,121 (13,954) (29,167) – 12.00% No 17 May 2023
L 7

Customer N (Note 8) 16,385 (758) (15,627) – 20.00% Yes 31 March 2023
N 8

    

749,254 (620,084) (129,170) –
    

1,003,520 (621,934) (132,972) 248,614
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2023 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes:

1. The interest rate is the Best Lending Rate for the 
Hong Kong dollar quoted by The Hong Kong and 
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited plus 3% 
per annum.

2. Further details of the loans are set out in the 
Company’s announcements dated 9 February 
2018, 7 February 2020, and 25 May 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the 
two loan receivables from Customer D with 
the aggregate outstanding principal amount 
o f  HK$234,293,000 were  t ransfer red f rom 
stage 1 (initial recognition) to stage 3 (credit-
impaired) as Customer D failed to repay one of 
the loans in the outstanding principal amount of 
HK$134,293,000 and the accrued and unpaid 
interest on 6 February 2022, being the final 
repayment date.

The Group has been in negotiation with Customer 
D on the repayment of the two loan receivables 
with a view to entering into a binding settlement 
agreement. The negotiation is still ongoing.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2023 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

3. Further details of the loan are set out in Note 
3 of the Company’s announcement dated 25 
November 2021.

As disclosed, the loan is guaranteed by certain 
guarantors. In September 2021, Customer I 
procured one of the guarantors to enter into 
the Debt Assignment Agreement to assign the 
Assigned Debt to the Group to enable the Group 
to demand payment and liquidate the Assigned 
Debt and to apply the proceeds, if any, from the 
recovery of the Assigned Debt to offset the loan 
due by Customer I.

A f t e r  e s t a b l i s h i n g  d i a l o g u e s  w i t h  t h e 
representative of the debtor of the Assigned 
Debt, the Group decided to abort the recovery 
act ion on the Assigned Debt and revert  to 
pu rsu ing  Cus tomer  I  and  the  gua ran to r s 
on the or ig inal  loan due by Customer I .  In 
August 2022, the Group terminated the Debt 
Assignment Agreement. In October 2022, the 
Group commenced civil proceedings in Hong 
Kong against Customer I and the guarantors for 
recovering the outstanding principal amount of 
the original loan together with the accrued and 
unpaid interest thereon.

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2023 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

4. Further details of the loan are set out in Note 
4 of the Company’s announcement dated 25 
November 2021. As at  31 December 2022, 
the loan receivable from Customer J (before 
written-off  of HK$15,775,000) amounted to 
HK$25,000,000.

The Group has commenced civil proceedings 
in the PRC against Customer J, the guarantor, 
and the shareholders  of  the guarantor  for 
recovering the outstanding principal amount of 
HK$25,000,000 together with the accrued and 
unpaid interest thereon. The first hearing of the 
civil proceedings took place on 17 March 2022. 
On 21 March 2022, the court handed down the 
first instance judgement ordering, among others, 
Customer J to repay the outstanding principal 
amount of the loan of HK$25,000,000, the unpaid 
interest of HK$748,000, and the default interest 
to the Group within ten days from the effective 
date of the first instance judgement and ordering 
the guarantor to guarantee the above payment 
obligations of Customer J.

On 15 June 2022, the Group received a notice 
from the court that a civil appeal was lodged 
by Customer J in respect of the first instance 
judgment.  As advised by the Group’s legal 
adviser, the case is now in the process of being 
transferred from the first instance court to the 
appellate court, and the appellate court will give 
guidance on further procedures and hearing 
date(s) as and when the case transfer process is 
done.

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2023 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

5. Further details of the loan are set out in Note 
2 of the Company’s announcement dated 25 
November 2021.

The  Group ins t ruc ted  i t s  l ega l  adv ise r  to 
commence civil proceedings in the PRC against 
Customer H for  recover ing the loan in  the 
outstanding principal amount of HK$137,617,000 
together with the accrued and unpaid interest 
thereon, and obtained an asset preservation 
order from the court to freeze certain assets 
of Customer H in the PRC with an aggregate 
v a l u e  o f  R M B 1 2 6 , 1 8 0 , 0 0 0  ( e q u i v a l e n t  t o 
HK$141,256,000). The first court hearing was 
held on 16 May 2022, when Customer H raised a 
defense regarding the authenticity of his signature 
on the loan agreement. The Group was informed 
by its legal adviser that the court engaged an 
expert to verify Customer H’s signature, and 
the next court hearing would be fixed after the 
court’s expert opinion was ready. In October 
2022, the court retrieved 14 sets of documents 
previously signed and submitted by Customer H 
to various administrative departments in the PRC 
to verify the authenticity of his signatures.

On 13 March 2023, the second court hearing was 
held. No judgement was handed down by the 
court up to the date of the annual report.

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2023 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

6. Further details of the loans are set out in the 
Company’s announcements dated 15 November 
2018 and 6 November 2020.

On 7 September 2021, the Group obtained a 
corporate guarantee provided by the Customer 
F Guarantor  to secure a l l  of  Customer F’s 
obl igat ions of  the loan of  HK$165,000,000 
under the loan agreement. The major assets of 
Customer F Guarantor include the Fund Interests 
and the Property of Customer F Guarantor. On 
the same date, the Group also obtained a share 
charge over the entire issued share capital of 
Customer F Guarantor and a share pledge over 
the Fund Interests as collateral for the loan. 
On 16 September 2021, Customer F Guarantor 
entered into another guarantee contract in favour 
of the Group, pursuant to which Customer F 
Guarantor, on top of the corporate guarantee 
already given, further designated the Property of 
Customer F Guarantor as collateral to fortify the 
repayment obligations of Customer F in respect 
of the loan of HK$165,000,000. In October 2021, 
the Group engaged a legal adviser to commence 
civil proceedings in the PRC with the view to 
enforcing the guarantee given by Customer F 
Guarantor and demanding Customer F Guarantor 
to repay the loan owed by Customer F.

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2023 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

6. (Continued)

At 31 December 2021, the values of the Fund 
In terests  and the  Proper ty  o f  Customer  F 
Guarantor were estimated to be HK$45,000,000 
(net of a loan of HK$16,000,000 secured by a 
charge over 40,000 participating shares) and 
RMB100,000,000 (equivalent to HK$116,930,000) 
(net of a mortgage loan of RMB30,000,000 which 
is equivalent to HK$35,079,000), respectively. By 
way of prudent measures, the estimated values of 
the Fund Interests and the Property of Customer 
F Guarantor as at 31 December 2022 were both 
revised to nil to reflect the latest development of 
events which include, among other things, the 
updated financial information showing the Fund 
Interests being in a net liabilities position and the 
uncertainty in the time required for enforcing the 
Property of Customer F Guarantor.

In February 2023, the court handed down the 
arbitral award ordering Customer F Guarantor to 
pay the Group the outstanding principal amount 
of the loan of HK$165,000,000 together with the 
outstanding interest plus the accrued interest 
up to and until the payment date. The Group 
has instructed its legal adviser to submit an 
enforcement application to the court in the PRC 
to seek to enforce directly on the Property of 
Customer F Guarantor.

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2023 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

7. The loan of HK$55,000,000 was granted to 
Customer L on 18 May 2021. On 17 May 2022, 
the final repayment of the loan was extended 
to another 12 months, i.e., 17 May 2023. As at 
31 December 2023, the loan receivable from 
Customer L (before accumulated allowance for 
ECL) amounted to HK$43,121,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the 
loan was reclassified from stage 2 (significant 
increase in credit risk) to stage 3 (credit-impaired) 
as Customer L failed to repay the outstanding 
principal amount of the loan together with the 
accrued and unpaid interest thereon on 17 May 
2023, being the repayment date.

The Group has been negotiating with Customer 
L on the repayment of the loan receivables with 
a view to entering into a binding settlement 
agreement. During the negotiation, Customer 
L paid HK$230,000 during the year ended 31 
December 2023 to the Group to settle part of the 
unpaid interest on the loan. The negotiation is 
still ongoing.

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(c) Loan receivables (Continued)

M a j o r  t e r m s  o f  t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  l o a n 
receivables as at 31 December 2023 are as 
follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

8. The loan of HK$20,000,000 was granted to 
Customer N on 1 November 2021. The loan is 
secured by a share charge over 100% of the 
issued shares in a company in favour of the 
Group. The principal activities of the company 
are investment holdings and the provision of 
security services. On 1 November 2022, the 
final repayment date of the loan was extended 
for one month to 31 December 2022, and the 
interest rate increased from 12% per annum to 
20% per annum. On 30 December 2022, the 
final repayment date of the loan was further 
extended to 15 February 2023 as Customer N 
repaid HK$2,000,000 to the Group. On 20 March 
2023, the final repayment date of the loan was 
further extended to 31 March 2023 as Customer 
N further repaid HK$2,000,000 to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the 
loan receivable was reclassified from stage 2 
(significant increase in credit risk) to stage 3 
(credit-impaired) as Customer N failed to repay 
the outstanding principal amount of the loan and 
the accrued and unpaid interest on 31 March 
2023, being the final repayment date.

The Group has been negotiating with Customer 
N on the repayment of the loan receivables with 
a view to entering into a binding settlement 
agreement. During the negotiation, Customer 
N paid HK$2,141,000 during the year ended 
31 December 2023 and HK$750,000 after 31 
December 2023 to the Group to repay part of 
the outstanding principal amount of the loan and 
settle part of the unpaid interest on the loan. The 
negotiation is still ongoing.

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL assessment (Continued)

(d) Other receivables

Other receivables arise from transactions 
outside the principal activities of the Group 
and main ly  represent  cash advances to 
various construction contractors and services 
providers in relation to the development of the 
Subject Land.

The directors performed an ECL assessment 
on the other receivables of HK$73,481,000 
(2023: HK$70,310,000) (before accumulated 
a l l o w a n c e  f o r  E C L  o f  H K $ 2 2 , 3 9 5 , 0 0 0 
(2023: HK$23,436,000)) at the end of the 
reporting period of the HK$73,481,000 (2023: 
HK$70,310,000) ,  HK$22,395,000 (2023: 
HK$23,436,000)  was cons idered cred i t -
impaired and the related allowance for ECL 
was fully made in previous financial years. 
As such, the directors performed the ECL 
assessment on the remaining other receivables 
of HK$51,086,000 (2023: HK$46,874,000). 
In view of the credit status and recurring 
business relationships with the debtors, the 
directors considered that the remaining other 
receivables were not credit-impaired and the 
related ECL rate was minimal. Accordingly, no 
allowance for ECL was recognised during the 
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

(e) Finance lease receivables

The Group’s finance lease receivables arise 
from leasing residential serviced apartments 
erected on the Subject Land under long-term 
leases. The directors assessed that there had 
been no significant increase in the credit risk 
of the finance lease receivables since initial 
recognition. In view of the credit status of 
each of the lessees, the directors considered 
the credit  r isk was minimal .  In addit ion, 
the credit risk associated with the finance 
lease receivables is also mitigated as the 
Group has the right to terminate the finance 
lease arrangement and takes possession 
of the residential serviced apartments if the 
lessees default in lease payments. Hence, the 
directors assessed that the 12-month ECL for 
finance lease receivables was insignificant 
and no allowance for ECL was recognised.
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

Ult imate responsibi l i ty for l iquidity r isk rests 
wi th  the board of  d i rectors ,  which has bu i l t 
a n  a p p ro p r i a t e  l i q u i d i t y  r i s k  m a n a g e m e n t 
framework to meet the Group’s short, medium 
and long-term funding and liquidity management 
requirements. The Group manages its l iquidity 
risk by regularly monitoring liquidity and financial 
position, maintaining appropriate liquidity to cover 
commitments, l imit ing l iquidity r isk exposure 
by investing only in securit ies l isted on major 
stock exchanges, and ensuring acceptable and 
appropriate finance in place, or believed to be 
available before committing investment projects.

At 31 December 2023, certain bank accounts of the 
Group amounted to RMB16,344,000 (equivalent to 
HK$18,035,000) were frozen by a civil ruling issued 
by a court in the PRC. These events or conditions 
indicate that a material uncertainty exists that 
may cast significant doubts on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. The certain bank 
accounts were unfrozen during the year ended 31 
December 2024.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining 
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. 
The tables have been drawn up based on the 
undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities 
based on the earliest date on which the Group can 
be required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings 
and unsecured other borrowing with a repayment 
on demand clause are included in the earliest time 
band regardless of the probability of the banks 
choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity 
dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities 
are based on the agreed repayment dates.

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The tables include both interest and principal cash 
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating 
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from 
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

Weighted
average
interest

rate

Within
1 year or

repayable
on demand

1 to 5
years

Over 5
years

Total
undiscounted

cash flows

Total
carrying
amount

1
1 5 5

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
        

2024
Non-derivative 

financial liabilities
Trade payables – 43,006 – – 43,006 43,006
Deposits received, 

accruals and other 
payables – 158,006 4,000 – 162,006 162,006

Guaranteed secured 
notes 11.95% 174,267 – – 174,267 174,267

Other borrowings 14.23% 252,536 – – 252,536 252,536
Bank borrowings 6.07% 137,825 – – 137,825 137,825
Amounts due to 

associates 6.53% 9,385 – – 9,385 9,385
Amounts due to 

directors 7.05% 73,496 – – 73,496 73,496
Lease liabilities 4.90% 16,852 69,543 503,821 590,216 269,128
        

Total 865,373 73,543 503,821 1,442,737 1,121,649
        

2023
Non-derivative financial 

liabilities
Trade payables – 55,253 – – 55,253 55,253
Deposits received, 

accruals and other 
payables – 142,786 – – 142,786 142,786

Guaranteed secured 
notes 14.51% 44,432 154,958 – 199,390 165,245

Other borrowings 8.84% 254,748 – – 254,748 254,748
Bank borrowings 4.61% 144,196 – – 144,196 144,196
Amounts due to 

associates 8.88% 11,169 – – 11,169 11,169
Amounts due to 

directors 3.63% 89,715 – – 89,715 89,715
Lease liabilities 4.90% 19,384 70,045 533,086 622,515 281,114
        

Total 761,683 225,003 533,086 1,519,772 1,144,226
        

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank borrowings, the unsecured other borrowing 
classified under “Other borrowings” and amounts 
due to associates with a repayable on demand 
c lause are  inc luded in  the “wi th in  1  year  or 
repayable on demand” time band in the above 
matur i ty analysis.  At 31 December 2024, the 
undiscounted cash flows of the bank borrowings, 
unsecured other borrowing and amounts due 
to  associates amounted to  HK$208,656,000 
(2023: HK$206,159,000), HK$213,670,000 (2023: 
HK$226,235 ,000 )  and  HK$7,560 ,000  (2023 : 
HK$9,385,000) respectively, which contained a 
repayable on demand clause. Taking into account 
the Group’s financial position, the directors do not 
believe that it is probable that the counterparties 
will exercise their discretionary rights to demand 
immediate repayment. The directors believe that 
such bank borrowings, unsecured other borrowings 
and amounts due to associates will be repaid after 
the end of the reporting period in accordance with 
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan 
agreements, details of which are set out in the 
table below:

Maturity Analysis – Borrowings and amounts due 
to associates with a repayable on demand clause 
based on scheduled repayments

Within
1 year

1 to 5
years

Over
5 years

Total
undiscounted

cash flows

Total
carrying
amount

1 1 5 5
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

2024
Non-derivative financial 

liabilities
Bank borrowings 14,407 57,629 136,620 208,656 137,825
Other borrowings 213,670 – – 213,670 203,418
Amounts due to associates 7,560 – – 7,560 7,426
       

235,637 57,629 136,620 429,886 348,669
       

2023
Non-derivative financial 

liabilities
Bank borrowings 13,177 52,706 140,276 206,159 144,196
Other borrowings 19,660 206,575 – 226,235 200,874
Amounts due to associates 9,385 – – 9,385 9,210
       

42,222 259,281 140,276 441,779 354,280
       

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Maturity Analysis – Borrowings and amounts due 
to associates with a repayable on demand clause 
based on scheduled repayments (Continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest 
rate instruments are subject to change if changes 
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of 
interest rates determined at the end of the reporting 
period.

Fair value measurements of financial 
instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and 
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis

(a) Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of 
the Group’s financial instruments measured at 
the end of the reporting period on a recurring 
basis, categorised into the three-level fair 
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13. The 
level into which a fair value measurement is 
determined with reference to the observability 
and significance of the inputs used in the 
valuation technique as follows:

• Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured 
using only Level 1 inputs, i.e. unadjusted 
quoted pr ices in  act ive markets for 
ident ica l  assets  or  l iab i l i t ies  at  the 
measurement date;

• Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured 
using Level 2 inputs, i .e. observable 
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not 
using significant unobservable inputs. 
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which 
market data are not available; and

• Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured 
using significant unobservable inputs.

The board of directors has appointed the 
Finance and Accounting Department, which 
i s  headed up  by  an  execut i ve  d i rec to r, 
to  de te rmine  the  appropr ia te  va lua t ion 
t e c h n i q u e s  a n d  i n p u t s  f o r  f a i r  v a l u e 
measurements.

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial 
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and 
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis (Continued)

(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a 
liability, the Group uses market observable 
data to the extent i t  is  avai lable.  Where 
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group 
engages independent third party qualif ied 
valuers to perform valuation. The Finance and 
Accounting Department works closely with the 
independent third party qualified valuers to 
establish the appropriate valuation techniques 
and inputs  to  the model .  The execut ive 
director who is responsible for the Group’s 
f inance and account ing funct ion reports 
the Finance and Accounting Department’s 
findings to the board of directors twice a year 
to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair 
value of the assets and liabilities.

Fair value measurements categorised into

 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
1 2 3

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVTPL

– key management 
personnel life insurance 
policy

 

– – 10,135 9,846 – – 10,135 9,846
– listed equity securities in 

Hong Kong
 

64,323 97,316 – – – – 64,323 97,316
Equity instruments at 

FVTOCI

– unlisted equity securities  – – – – – 8,645 – 8,645
          

64,323 97,316 10,135 9,846 – 8,645 74,458 115,807
          

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial 
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and 
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis (Continued)

(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Fair value at
31 December

2024

Fair value at
31 December

2023
Fair value
hierarchy

Valuation
techniques

and key inputs

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Financial assets at FVTPL

– key management personnel life 
insurance policy

 

10,135 9,846 Level 2
2

Account value quoted by 
the insurance company

– listed equity securities in 
Hong Kong

 

64,323 97,316 Level 1
1

Quoted closing prices in 
active markets

Equity instruments at FVTOCI
 

– unlisted equity securities
– 

– 8,645 Level 3
3

Significant unobservable 
inputs

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023, there were no transfers between Levels 
1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 
3.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers 
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at 
the end of the reporting period in which they 
occur.

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial 
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and 
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis (Continued)

(b) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Valuation
techniques

Significant
unobservable input

Relation of
significant unobservable
inputs to fair value

At 31 December 2024

Equity instruments at FVTOCI
 

– unlisted equity securities
 

Income approach Discount rate of 14.87%
14.87%

The discount rate is negatively 
correlated to the fair value 
measurement

Discount for lack of marketability 
of 15.61% 

15.61%

The discount for lack of 
marketability is negatively 
correlated to the fair value 
measurement 

At 31 December 2023

Equity instruments at FVTOCI
 

– unlisted equity securities
 

Income approach Discount rate of 17.97%
17.97%

The discount rate is negatively 
correlated to the fair value 
measurement

Discount for lack of marketability 
of 15.70% 

15.70%

The discount for lack of 
marketability is negatively 
correlated to the fair value 
measurement 

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial 
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and 
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis (Continued)

(b) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements 
(Continued)

The fair value of the unlisted equity securities 
a t  3 1  D e c e m b e r  2 0 2 4  a n d  2 0 2 3  w a s 
determined based on valuations prepared by 
Access Partner using a valuation technique 
with signif icant unobservable inputs and 
hence was classified under Level 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy.

The movements during the year in the balance 
of this Level 3 fair value measurement are as 
follows:

Financial assets
Equity instruments at FVTOCI 

HK$’000

   

At 1 January 2023 12,215

Loss arising on change in fair value of equity 
instruments at FVTOCI (3,570)

   

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024  
8,645

Loss arising on change in fair value of equity 
instruments at FVTOCI (8,645)

   

At 31 December 2024 –
   

54. 
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54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial 
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and 
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on 
a recurring basis (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial 
ins t ruments  car r ied  a t  amor t ised cost  were 
not materially different from their fair values at 
31 December 2024 and 2023, except for  the 
guaranteed secured notes, which had a carrying 
a m o u n t  a n d  f a i r  v a l u e  o f  H K $ 1 7 4 , 2 6 7 , 0 0 0 
(2023: HK$165,245,000) and HK$173,796,000 
(2023: HK$171,218,000) at 31 December 2024 
respectively.

The fair value measurement of the guaranteed 
secured notes was categorised under Level 3 
of the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of the 
guaranteed secured notes was determined in 
accordance with generally accepted pricing models 
based on a discounted cash flow analysis, with the 
most significant input being the discount rate that 
reflects the return required by the noteholders for 
investing in similar financial instruments.

55. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s 
liabilities arising from financing activities, including 
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising 
from financing activities are those for which cash 
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified 
in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash 
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

54. 

 

 

174,267,000
165,245,000 173,796,000

171,218,000

3

55.  
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55. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
(Continued)

Interest
payable

Bank
borrowings

Other
borrowings

Lease
liabilities

Guaranteed
secured

notes

Amounts
due to

associates

Amounts
due to

directors Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

            

At 1 January 2023 15,437 200,020 266,789 291,547 197,000 1,961 1,000 973,754

Non-cash changes
Interest expenses on bank 

borrowings 8,045 – – – – – – 8,045
Interest expenses on other 

borrowings 21,241 – – – – 493 – 21,734
Interest expenses on 

guaranteed secured notes 24,672 – – – 5,690 – – 30,362
Interest expenses on lease 

liabilities 13,892 – – – – – – 13,892
Interest on amounts due to 

directors – – – – – – 1,047 1,047
Interest on others 11 – – – – – – 11
Foreign exchange translation (72) – – (4,151) – – – (4,223)
Interest expense on lease 

liabilities charged to lessee 
of the Club 143 – – – – – – 143

Recognition of guaranteed 
secured notes – – – – 162,555 – – 162,555

Derecognition of guaranteed 
secured notes

 
– – – – (196,000) – – (196,000)

New lease entered – – – 607 – – – 607

Cash flows
Inflow from financing activities – 60,374 15,537 – – 12,404 143,176 231,491
Outflow from financing 

activities (75,933) (116,198) (27,578) (6,889) (4,000) (3,689) (55,508) (289,795)
          

At 31 December 2023
7,436 144,196 254,748 281,114 165,245 11,169 89,715 953,623

          

55. 
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55. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
(Continued)

Interest
payable

Bank
borrowings

Other
borrowings

Lease
liabilities

Guaranteed
secured

notes

Amounts
due to

associates

Amounts
due to

directors Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

            

At 1 January 2024 7,436 144,196 254,748 281,114 165,245 11,169 89,715 953,623

Non-cash changes
Interest expenses on bank 

borrowings 7,435 – – – – – – 7,435
Interest expenses on other 

borrowings 24,099 – – – – – – 24,099
Interest expenses on 

guaranteed secured notes 7,155 – – – 21,688 – – 28,843
Interest expenses on lease 

liabilities 13,795 – – – – – – 13,795
Interest on amount due to an 

associate 676 – – – – – – 676
Interest on amounts due to 

directors 5,567 – – – – – – 5,567
Interest on others 11 – – – – – – 11
Foreign exchange translation (127) – – (5,918) – – – (6,045)
Recognition of guaranteed 

secured notes – – – – 179,584 – – 179,584
Derecognition of guaranteed 

secured notes
 

– – – – (168,694) – – (168,694)
Loss on modification of terms 

of guaranteed secured 
notes – – – – 11,995 – – 11,995

Cash flows
Inflow from financing activities – – 8,025 – – 4,390 22,770 35,185
Outflow from financing 

activities (49,268) (6,371) (10,237) (6,068) (35,551) (6,174) (38,989) (152,658)
          

At 31 December 2024
16,779 137,825 252,536 269,128 174,267 9,385 73,496 933,416

          

55. 
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56. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in notes 19 and 42, the Group 
entered the following major non-cash transactions 
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023:

(a) On 18 September 2023, the Group entered 
into a new lease agreement for the office 
premises. The new lease agreement is entered 
into for a fixed term of 2 years. On the lease 
commencement,  the Group recognised a 
right-of-use asset of HK$607,000 and a lease 
liability of HK$607,000.

(b) During the year, 38,000,000 share awards 
were granted, and vest in tranches from the 
vest ing commence date over the vest ing 
period, on condition that participant remain in 
service, as detailed in Note 49.

57. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) On 6 May 2021, a Beijing law firm as plaintiff 
fi led a civil claim to the People’s Court in 
Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC against 
four defendants, one of the four defendants 
i s  Bayhood No .  9  Co .  fo r  an  unse t t l ed 
legal fee of RMB31,000,000 (equivalent to 
HK$33,477,000) (excluding overdue interest) 
regarding an engagement of such law firm by 
the four defendants to resolve a civil dispute 
brought against them by an independent third 
party in relation to a property transaction in 
2010. Details of the civil claim are disclosed in 
the Company’s announcement dated 6 August 
2021. The Group has been advised by a PRC 
legal adviser that the possibility of Bayhood 
No. 9 Co. being required to pay the unsettled 
legal fee is remote. Accordingly, no provision 
for any liability has been made in respect of 
the civil claim.

56. 

19 42

(a) 

2

607,000
607,000

(b) 38,000,000

49

57. 

(a) 

31,000,000
33,477,000
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57. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) On 13 January 2023, certain bank accounts of 
Bayhood No. 9 Co. have been frozen by a civil 
ruling (the “Civil Ruling”) ( ) dated 
13 January 2023 issued by 

 (Haidian District People’s Court of Beijing 
Municipality) (the “Court”) against Bayhood 
No. 9 Co. in relation to an alleged unsettled 
liability before the acquisition of the entire 
issued share capital of Smart Title Limited 
on 6 October 2015 (the “Acquisition”), the 
principal and the interest of which amounted 
to approximately RMB44,000,000 (equivalent 
to HK$49,258,000) as at 1 January 2023 (the 
“Alleged Liability”).

Based on the findings, the directors noted 
that the Civil Ruling is related to a civil filing 
(the “Civil Filing”) f i led by a plaintiff (the 
“Plaintiff”) to the Court on 9 January 2023. 
Pursuant to the Civil Filing, Bayhood No. 9 
Co., together with the other three defendants 
to the Civil Filing, were alleged that (i) they 
had entered into an agreement in 2019 (the 
“Settlement Agreement”) with the Plaintiff 
in relation to the settlement of the property 
pre-sale agreements (the “Pre-Acquisition 
Agreements”) which were entered into before 
the Acquisition; and (ii) they did not repay the 
Alleged Liability in relation to the Settlement 
Agreement.

None of the directors of the Company and 
the directors of Bayhood No. 9 Co. has any 
knowledge or was aware of any information 
in relation to the Pre-Acquisition Agreements 
and the Settlement Agreement before the 
Civil Filing came to their attention, nor had 
they author ised the enter ing into of  the 
Set t lement  Agreement .  There  has  been 
no  re levan t  i n fo rmat ion  rega rd ing  P re- 
Acquisition Agreements and the Settlement 
Agreement shown in the books and records 
of Bayhood No. 9 Co. since the consolidation 
of its accounts into that of the Group upon 
completion of the Acquisit ion. In view of 
the above matters, on 4 February 2023, the 
Company reported to  
(Chaoyang Branch Bureau of Beijing Municipal 
Public Security Bureau) regarding the forgery 
of the relevant documents and the company 
seal of Bayhood No. 9 Co..

57. 

(b) 

Smart Title Limited

44,000,000
49,258,000

(i)

(ii)



327

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

For the year ended 31 December 2024  

57. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

On 28 March 2023, one of the defendants 
(the “Responsible Defendant”) entered into 
an undertaking agreement with the other 
defendants, including Bayhood No. 9 Co., 
pursuant to which the Responsible Defendant 
has agreed to undertake the repayment 
obligation to the Plaintiff and in the case 
that the other defendants incur losses due 
to the claim, the Responsible Defendant will 
indemnify them in full.

On 24 Apri l  2024, the Plaint i ff ,  Bayhood 
No. 9 Co.,  together with the other three 
defendants to the Civil Ruling reached an 
agreement during the mediation process (the 
“Mediation”) led by the Court to resolve the 
relevant litigation. Pursuant to the Mediation, 
one of the other three defendants has agreed 
to settle the litigation at an agreed amount. 
Bayhood No. 9 Co. shall bear no responsibility 
in the case and has not suffered any damage 
or loss as a result of the Mediation. Moreover, 
the certain bank accounts have been unfrozen 
on 13 May 2024. In general, as a result of the 
Mediation, the litigation has come to an end 
and the settled litigation did not have any 
impact on the financial position and business 
performance of the Group. The details were 
disclosed in the Company’s announcement 
dated 13 May 2024.

58. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The  Group  i ssued  an  unsecured  bond  w i th 
condit ional  convert ible r ight in an aggregate 
principal amount of HK$4,000,000 at 23 December 
2024. The Group has obtained the conditional 
listing approval for the issuance of Conversion 
Shares at 6 January 2025.

59. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The conso l idated f inanc ia l  s ta tements  were 
approved and authorised for issue by the board of 
directors on 31 March 2025.

57. 

(b) 

58. 

4,000,000

59.  
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For the year ended 31 December 

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Results
Revenue 223,973 196,694 156,103 272,165 221,757
       

Loss from 
operations (336,174) (189,433) (240,543) (186,665) (122,294)

Finance costs (71,863) (66,603) (61,072) (57,760) (54,278)
       

Loss before taxation (408,037) (256,036) (301,615) (244,425) (176,572)
Income tax 

(expense)/credit (7,662) (19,116) 28,839 43,946 35,547
       

Loss for the year (415,699) (275,152) (272,776) (200,479) (141,025)
       

Dividends – – – – –
       

As at 31 December

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Assets and 
liabilities

Total assets 2,599,323 3,074,573 3,457,470 3,801,686 3,840,915
Total liabilities (1,546,677) (1,573,002) (1,664,054) (1,614,529) (1,478,258)
       

Net assets 1,052,646 1,501,571 1,793,416 2,187,157 2,362,657
       

Capital and 
reserves

Equity attributable 
to owners of the 
Company 1,058,200 1,507,246 1,799,173 2,193,442 2,368,661

Non-controlling 
interest (5,554) (5,675) (5,757) (6,285) (6,004)

       

1,052,646 1,501,571 1,793,416 2,187,157 2,362,657
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